

Life Beyond Death

Lectures of Swami Abhedananda

A Great Yogi and Direct Disciple of Sri Ramakrishna

An e-book presentation by



For more FREE books visit the website: www.spiritualbee.com

Dear Reader,

This book has been reproduced here from the <u>Complete Works of Swami Abhedananda</u>, Volume 4. The book is now in the public domain in India and the United States, because its original copyright has expired.

"Life beyond Death" is a collection of lectures delivered by Swami Abhedananda in the United States. Unlike most books on the subject which mainly record encounters with ghosts and other kinds of paranormal activities, this book looks at the mystery from a soundly rational and scientific perspective.

The lectures initially focus on providing rational arguments against the material theory of consciousness, which states that consciousness originates as a result of brain activity and therefore once death happens, consciousness also ends and so there is no such thing as a life beyond death. Later in the book, Swami Abhedananda also rallies against many dogmatic ideas present in Christian theology regarding the fate of the soul after death: such as the philosophies of eternal damnation to hell, resurrection of the physical body after death and the belief that the soul has a birth, but no death.

In doing so Swami Abhedananda who cherished the deepest love and respect for Christ, as is evident in many of his other writings such as, "Was Christ a Yogi" (from the book <u>How to be a Yogi</u>?), was striving to place before his American audience, higher and more rational Vedantic concepts surrounding life beyond the grave, which have been thoroughly researched by the yogi's of India over thousands of years. As Swami Abhedananda himself expresses in this book: "There is no other nation in the world, which has so perfect a knowledge in these lines as we have in India."

Since this book is a compendium of different lectures given by Swami Abhedananda, readers will find many concepts repeated across various chapters. The footnotes found in this book (except those on pages 47 and 58) have been painstakingly detailed by Swami

Prajnanananda in the Complete Works, Volume 4. I have reproduced them here, though at times in an abridged form. So for the complete set of notes and appendices, please refer to the Complete Works, Volume 4. Wherever possible I have also provided links to the numerous books detailed by Swami Prajnanananda, all of which can be downloaded for free.

Kind regards,

Pulkit Mathur | Founder, The Spiritual Bee

• • •

About Swami Abhedananda

Swami Abhedananda was one of the 16 direct monastic disciples of Sri Ramakrishna and a spiritual brother of the famous Swami Vivekananda. He was an intellectual giant and a person of extraordinary spiritual realizations. This is evident not only from the depth of his incredible writings, but also from his own initiation experience under Sri Ramakrishna, which he documents in his autobiography:

"One Sunday morning, I reached the temple garden at Dakshineshwar where I met the great yogi, Ramakrishna Paramhamsa. After reading my past life he said: 'You were a great yogi in your past incarnation.' Then he initiated me and gave me instructions in concentration and meditation. He touched my chest and aroused my *Kundalini*, the 'Serpent Power' at the base of my spinal column, and I went into *Samadhi*, the state of superconsciousness."

During his discipleship years under Sri Ramakrishna, Swami Abhedananda became a trusted spiritual brother of Swami Vivekananda and the two often engaged in many intellectual discussions on Vedanta philosophy and metaphysics. In 1897 Swami Vivekananda, invited Swami Abhedananda to the United States and entrusted the reins of the Vedanta Society of New York, in his capable hands.

After Swami Abhedananda delivered his first public lecture in the West, Swami Vivekananda was overjoyed and remarked: "Even if I perish out of this plane, my message will be sounded through these dear lips and the world will hear it."

The truth of these words will be obvious to anyone who reads <u>Swami Abhedananda's</u> voluminous writings on Vedanta Philosophy.

Kind regards,

Pulkit Mathur | Founder, The Spiritual Bee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Chapter	Page
1.	Modern Science and Higher Spiritualism	4
2.	Does the Soul Exist after Death	8
3.	The Scientific View of Death	21
4.	The Soul after Death	32
5.	Rebirth of the Soul	39
6.	The Soul and Its Destiny	50
7.	Pre-existence and Reincarnation	56
8.	Pre-existence and Immortality	67
9.	Science and Immortality	74
10.	The Spiritualism	85
11.	Spiritualism and Vedanta	96
12.	Spiritualism and Ancestor-worship	108
13.	The Spiritualistic Mediumship	114
14.	The Automatic Slate-writing	122
15.	What is There Beyond the Grave	126
16.	Questions and Answers – Set 1	141
17.	Questions and Answers – Set 2	145
	Appendix: Experiences with Spirits	149

CHAPTER I

MODERN SCIENCE AND HIGHER SPIRITUALISM

During the last sixty years spiritualism has made considerable progress, convincing many scientific minds who have been earnestly seeking for the truth of man's survival after death. The experimental spiritualism began in America in 1870. In the following year, Sir William Crookes, a scientist of great reputation and a man of extraordinary genius, began his investigations with the aid of the medium Mrs. Florence Cook.

It will be needless to go into the details of Sir Crookes' experiments which lasted for three years with that celebrated medium. During this period, he took all precautions against the possible fraud or trickery imaginable and he employed the scientific methods of observation and experiments with delicate instruments. The seances were held in his own house with honest friends who were equally eager to discover whether there was any truth in the spirit phenomena.

Many Americans became familiar with the name of Katie King, the spirit-control of Mrs. Florence Cook. She materialized herself, her pulsations were recorded, her heart-beating was heard and was photographed, and she distributed the locks of her materialized hair to those who were present there. We remember that all these happened under strictly test conditions in his own rooms, where electric wires with bells were fixed on the walls so that the least little intrusion from outside could be instantly detected. Sir William Crookes was at first ridiculed by the scientific-world, but he had the courage of his convictions which led him to publish the reports of his experiments, and he kept on experimenting ever since.

Sir W. Crookes was also aided by another celebrated medium, Mr. D.D. Home who was more powerful than Mrs. Florence Cook in withstanding antagonistic influences, and most of his seances were not in darkness, but in the bright light. For the scientific study of the phenomena of spiritualism, the Society for the Psychical Research was established in London in 1885, under the auspices of the eminent men of science in England. It is commonly known as S.P.R. The records of this Society have shown how marvellous were the scientific patience and conscientiousness of men like Edmund Gurney, Dr. F.W.H. Myers, Frank Podmore and their successors. Those who have read Myers' great work entitled *Human Personality and Its Survival after Bodily Death*¹, will realize the truth of this statement.

Human Personality and Its Survival after Bodily Death, by Dr. F.W.H. Myers - <u>Volume 1</u> & <u>Volume 2</u>. (Free Download)

Other scientific thinkers like Alfred Russell Wallace, Robert Dale Owen, Prof. Aksakof, Richard Hodgeson, William James of Harvard, and Sir Oliver Lodge, the Principal of the University of Birmingham, England, have spared no pains to make the correct investigations under test conditions regarding the truth of the spirit manifestations. Well has it been said by Maurice Maeterlinck, referring to their labourious task:

Not an incident is admitted that is not supported by unimpeachable testimony, by definite written records, and convincing corroboration; in a word, it is hardly possible to contest the essential veracity of the majority of them, unless we begin by making up our minds to deny any positive value to human evidence.¹

We are all familiar with the fact that Prof. Myers, who was the President of S.P.R. for many years, promised his friends that he would come back after his bodily death in a decisive manner. He kept his promise and a month after his death, he communicated with Sir Oliver Lodge through the noted medium Mrs. Thompson while she was entranced. Myers' identity was recognized by the first few words he spoke, and it was really he and no one else. He said that it was very difficult for him to convey his ideas through the mediums. He said: "They were translating as a school boy does his first line of Virgil ²". Referring to his present condition, Myers said that he groped his way as if through passages before he knew he was dead. He thought that he had lost his way in a strange town, and even when he saw the people who, he knew, were dead, he thought they were only visions.³

Dr. Hodgeson, who was the Secretary of the American branch of the S.P.R., of which William James was the Vice President, promised to come back after his death, and a week after his departure, he came back and communicated by the automatic writing through Mrs. Piper, and William James was present at these sittings.

William James of Harvard, also in his turn, promised to come back after his death. He kept his promise by communicating with Mr. C.N. Jones, the President of the American Institute of Scientific Research, and formerly Professor of Applied Mathematics in the University of Michigan. Mr. C.N. Jones gave the details of the communications in his article which was published in New York Papers.⁴

The first communication was received on the evening of October 22nd, 1910. Five more communications followed one another and the last was on March 11th, 1911. In these, Prof. James tried his best to establish his personal identity, and Mr. Jones and others, who were present there, were all satisfied. Among other things which are interesting Prof. James said:

^{1.} Our Eternity by Maurice Maeterlinck, pp. 82-83. (Free Download)

^{2.} Virgil: An ancient Roman poet. (Source: Wikipedia)

^{3.} Our Eternity by Maurice Maeterlinck, p. 103.

^{4.} Times, Dec 10th, 1911.

"I am thankful that there are some who are perfectly willing that I should come to them. I mean this kind man here, who is standing by my side, and who lets me use him —his body. He steps out and lets me use his body and I am thankful. I don't want to injure it or make it unfit for him in any way."

It is said that Prof. James shook hands with his friends. Sir Oliver Lodge, after making many scientific experiments with the help of Mrs. Piper and other mediums, is now convinced that there is survival of life after death. He said in his Presidential Address before the British Association, held in September, 1913:

"In justice to myself and to my co-workers, I must risk annoying my present hearers not only by leaving on record our conviction that occurrence now regarded as occult can be examined and reduced to order by the methods of science carefully and persistently applied, but also by going further and saying with the utmost brevity that already the facts so examined have convinced me that memory and affection are not limited to that association with matter by which alone they can manifest themselves here and now, and that personality persists beyond bodily death. The evidence, to my mind, goes to prove that the discarnate intelligence, under certain conditions, may interact with us on the material side, thus indirectly coming within our scientific ken."

The great English scientist Alfred R. Wallace also said:

"No more evidence is needed to prove the spiritualism, for no accepted fact in science has a greater or stronger array of proof in its behalf."

Dr. Thomas Jay Hudson, author of the Law of Psychic Phenomena, said:

"The man who denies spiritualism today is not entitled to be called a skeptic, he is simply ignorant."

Camille Flamarion, W. T. Stead, Prof. Hyslop and others have been equally convinced that the discarnate spirits can communicate with us. Thus we see that such great men of science, as I have mentioned, have already accepted the truth upon which the modern spiritualism is founded.

Although many of the professional mediums have been pitifully exposed as frauds, still there are genuine mediums and authentic spirit manifestations which cannot be explained by telepathy or any other theory than that of the communication of the discarnate spirits. On many occasions, the audience is deceived by the earth-bound spirits. The manifestations on

the material plane, such as table-turning, rapping knocks of the spirit, etc. are ordinarily understood by spiritualism. But all such phenomena belong to the lower class of the spiritualism, or spiritism, as it is called by many. Spiritism can only satisfy our curiosity and does not explain any of our vital questions.

But true spiritualism should be distinguished from that phase which is called spiritism. The higher spiritualism therefore, is the name for that which starting from the belief in a life after death, reveals the nature of the soul and its relation to God.

This higher spiritualism is at the root of all great religions of the world. The communications with so-called angels or messengers of God, or bright spirits as they are called in India, have been the source of knowledge and inspiration of the Prophets and Seers of the Old and the New Testaments. From the time of Abraham, Jacob and Moses down to the time of Christ and his disciples, all Prophets and Seers saw the spirits, heard them speak, and followed their teachings. As is in the Christianity and the Judaism, so it is in other religions of the world. As the revelations came to the sincere and earnest souls of the past, so they have come even in this age.

Those who have read the spirit-teachings ¹ which came through the mediumship of Stainton Moses will remember, how the higher spirits under the names of Doctor, Rector, Imperator, revealed their messages to help the mankind to bring them out of the dogmas, creeds and superstition of the existing churches.

Here we should remember that Stainton Moses was an orthodox Anglican clergyman of England. He was dogmatic and creed-bound, but still through him came the messages which were not only astounding to him, but to the Christian world at large.

 Stainton Moses was an English cleric and reputed medium who wrote the book <u>Spirit Teachings</u>. (Free Download)

CHAPTER II

DOES THE SOUL EXIST AFTER DEATH

One of the most poetical pieces of the *Upanishads*, I mean the *Katha*, which has been translated by Sir Edwin Arnold under the title of *The Secret of Death*¹, begins with this inquiry:

"There is this doubt; when a man dies some say that he is gone for ever, that he does not exist, while others hold that he still lives; which of these is true?"²

Various answers have been given to this question, and metaphysics, philosophy, science, and religion have also tried to solve this problem. At the same time, attempts have been made to suppress this question and to prevent the inquiry as to whether or not man exists after death. Hundreds of thinkers have brought forward all sorts of arguments to do away with the questions bearing upon this momentous subject.

From ancient times, there have been the atheistic and agnostic thinkers in India who denied the existence of the soul after the death of the body. They are known as the Charvakas. They believe that the body is the soul, and the soul does not exist outside of the body, and when the body dies, the soul is also dead and gone. They believe in nothing that cannot be perceived by the senses. Their motto is:

"As long as you live, do not fail to enjoy. Live comfortably and enjoy the pleasures of life. Do not think of the future. Get all that you need and wish; if you have not got money, then beg or borrow it, for when the body is burnt into ashes no one will have to be accountable for your deeds."³

Such Charvakas we find in almost every country. For instance, in the Old Testament we read, Solomon says:

"Go thy way, eat thy bread with joy, and drink thy wine with a merry heart. Live joyfully with the wife—whatsoever thy hand findeth to do, do it with thy might; for there is no work, nor device, nor knowledge, nor wisdom in the grave, whither thou goest." (Ecclix. 7, 9, 10)

8

^{1.} The Secret of Death (Free Book) – A translation of the Katha Upanishad by Sir Edwin Arnold.

Katha Upanishad (also known as Kathopanishad) – Verse 1.1.20 (Chapter 1, Section 1, Verse No. 20). To read the original Sanskrit verses along with their detailed English translation please refer to the Kathopanishad by Swami Chinmayananda.

^{3.} The Sarva-darsana-sangraha by Madhav Acharya, a 14th century scholar, is a book which details the key tenets of all known (16) schools of ancient Indian philosophy. The first chapter of the book outlines the ideas of the materialistic and atheistic school of philosophy known as the Charvakas or Lokayatas. The Sarva-darsana-sangraha is available in an English translation as well as the original Sanskrit. (Both versions are available for a free download.)

The followers of such thinkers are spreading very rapidly, and their number is increasing every day. They are now known as the atheists, agnostics, materialists, etc. According to this class of thinkers, those who believe in the existence of the soul as separate from the body, or in a life after death, are ignorant and superstitious fools, while those who follow their ideas are the clever and intelligent beings. Most of them hold that there is no such thing as soul. No argument can convince them or change their views, because they will not admit the existence of anything which lies beyond the reach of their senses, or which cannot be perceived by the limited powers of the senses.¹

They have written volumes after volumes against the existence of the soul, and have tried to stop such useless questions of the mind, but, in spite of their efforts, have they succeeded in stopping that innate question: 'what remains after death' that rises spontaneously in almost every human heart? No, they have not succeeded. The same question rises today as it arose thousands of years ago, but no one can stop it, because it is inseparably connected with our nature.

The same question was asked by the saints and the sinners, by the Prophets and the priests, by the kings and the beggars, amongst all nations in all climes. We are discussing the same question today, and it will be discussed in the future. We may forget it for the time being in the turmoil and struggles of our lives; we may not ask it when we are deeply absorbed in comforts, luxuries and sense enjoyments, we may delude ourselves by various false argumentations. But the moment we encounter the sudden appearance of death, the moment we see that some one of our nearest and dearest ones is breathing his last, we stop for a while and ask within ourselves: What is this? Where is he gone? Does he still exist? What has become of him?

Those dormant questions reappear in new forms and disturb our peace of mind. Then we begin to inquire about them again; but at the very threshold of our inquiry, we find an adamantine wall which is almost impossible to break through. The weak intellects stop there and their feeble attempts to cross that wall produce no result. That wall is nothing but the belief that the body is the producer of the soul, and that the soul is the result of the physical form which we call the body.

Those who can overcome this strong barrier, can understand whether or not the soul exists after death. The old crude way of inferring the existence of the soul after death and a future life for all men, women and children from the tradition of a single miraculous resurrection of a certain person, no longer appeals to our reason. The days of believing blindly in the authority of any one's saying are gone by. We are no longer children, we want maturer reason, and

we want to discuss that question more deeply. Those who believe in that miraculous resurrection will perhaps say that those who do not believe in it have no hope. But we no longer accept their statements. The time has come when we want to discuss the questions scientifically, psychologically, philosophically, metaphysically, and in all other possible ways.

Now let us see whether the explanation that body is the cause of the soul, is satisfactory or not. Taking it for granted that the soul, or the mass of intelligence ¹, or whatever you may call it, is the outcome of the combinations of matter which make up the body, we ask: What is the cause of that body? What force combines the matter in the form of the body? What force is there which forms your body in one way and my body in another? What is the cause of those distinctions? The materialistic Charvakas will answer that this body was caused by another body of the parents. As the parents produce this body, so the body of the parents is the cause of this body. But that is not the true answer, for instead of explaining the cause of this body and this combination of matter, they show us another combination of matter, and the question remains the same. What is the cause of the combination of answering the question and explaining the cause of the combination of matter. So, instead of answering the question and explaining the cause of the combination of matter, they say that this combination is the result of another combination, which ultimately leads to the fallacy of *regress ad infinitum*. The method of explaining the cause by the body is like the process of explaining the cause by the effect, which is putting the cart before the horse.

The modern physiologists, anatomists, pathologists, and a host of other materialistic and agnostic thinkers, however, hold that the body, or the combination of matter, produces thought, intelligence, consciousness, mind or soul. They teach that thought, intelligence, or consciousness is nothing but a function of the brain. Moreover, they learn that every special form of thought is a result of the activity of a special portion of the brain. When we see things, or think of the seen objects, the optical convolutions of our brain are active. A certain portion of the tympanal lobes are active when we hear, and so on.

Those of the modern scientists, who advocate the production of the thought by the brain, say that the mind is conterminous with the brain functions. If the brain functions stop, the mind, intelligence, consciousness and all the mental phenomena will instantly stop. The phenomena of the consciousness correspond to the element for the element, and to the operations of the special parts of the brain. They say that there is no such thing as soul; consequently, there can be no question regarding its existence after death. They deny the existence of the soul altogether. The sensations decay, when the organic conditions change and stop when the machinery stops. The brain brings into existence the material of consciousness of which our minds consist. Some explain the process by which thought is

1. Brihadaranyaka Upanishad 4.5.13 (Chapter 4, Section 5, Verse No. 13).

produced by the brain, by saying that the peculiar structure of the brain is destined to produce thought and consciousness, just as the stomach is destined to perform the function of digestion and the liver to secrete bile. As the materials of food, after falling into the stomach, change and assume new qualities, so the impressions of the brain are metamorphosed into ideas, thought, emotion, will, expressions of the face, speech, disposition, etc. through nerves. Thus thought or soul is the secretion of the brain and when the brain is gone, the soul cannot exist. Here impressions are compared to food, as if the impressions were the gross forms of matter, or as if they could exist apart from a perceiving mind. Buchner, one of the most famous materialists, says:

"Thinking must be regarded as a special mode of general natural motion."

J. Luys says:

"As one sees a metallic rod placed in a glowing furnace, gradually heats itself and passes successively from the shades of bright red to dark red to white and develops as its temperature rises, heat and light; so the living sensitive cells, in presence of the incitations that solicit them, exalt themselves progressively as to their most interior sensibility."

Percival Lowell says:

"When we have, as we say, an idea, what happens inside of us is probably like this: the neural current of molecular change passes up the nerves, and through the ganglia reaches at last the cortical cells. When it reaches the cortical cells, it finds a set of molecules which are not so accustomed to this special change. The current encounters resistance, and in overcoming this resistance, it causes the cells to glow. This white-heating of the cells we call consciousness. Consciousness, in short, is probably nerve-glow."

Thus the Western materialists, who believe that the physical forces are metamorphosed into ideas, thoughts and sensations, describe the process by which this change takes place. Herbert Spencer being an agnostic advocates the metamorphosis of the physical forces into the states of consciousness, but he does not describe the process. He leaves it as a mystery which is impossible to fathom. That is, he does not know how this metamorphosis takes place, but he is sure it does take place. Spencer, however, identifies the soul with the brain, and compares it to the piano. He says:

"Ideas are like the successive chords and cadences brought out, which successively die as the other ones are sounded, and it would be as proper to say that these passing chords and cadences thereafter exist in the piano, as it is proper to say that passing ideas thereafter exist in the brain (soul).

But here Mr. Spencer forgets that the piano needs a performer to produce musical sounds. Music is never brought out by the piano itself, if it does not exist in the mind of the performer. So, his analogy is imperfect and incomplete. It would have been complete if he supposed that the individual soul or mind is detached from the brain, and plays upon its nervous centres and brain cells, as a performer plays upon the keys of a piano.

Another materialistic, thinker, Professor W.K. Clifford, who believes in the combination theory, says:

"Consciousness is a complex thing made up of elements, a stream of feelings. The action of the brain is also a complex thing made up of elements, a stream of nerve message. For every feeling in consciousness, there is at the same time a nerve message of the brain. Consciousness is not a simple thing, but complex; it is the combination of feelings into a stream. Inexorable facts connect our consciousness with this body that we know; and that not merely as a whole, but the parts of it are connected severally with parts of our brain action. If there is any similar connection with a spiritual body, it only follows that the spiritual body must die at the same time with the natural one."

Thus the materialistic thinkers, who do not believe in a soul as separate from the brain or independent of the physical body, try to deduce mind and intelligence from matter, or from the combinations of matter, either by applying the theory of production or the theory of combination.

In India, similar theories were advanced by the Charvakas who did not believe in the existence of a soul as separate from the gross body ¹. The Buddhists maintained that the body is the cause of the mind and intelligence, that consciousness is the result of the combination of insentient matter and unintelligent forces of physical nature. They used the illustration of the inebriating power of liquor arising from a chemical combination of certain ingredients.

According to the Lokayatas (Charvakas) the existence of the soul or consciousness ceases to function with the death of the physical body,—"*paralokinobhavat paralokabhava iti.*" Therefore, there is no such thing like the world after death. The soul means, according to them, the physical body which dies. – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

^{1.} The Lokayata (Charvaka) school believes consciousness or soul to be the product of physical elements. It says that the soul is nothing but a by-product of the four physical elements, earth, water, fire and air,—"*prithivya apaha tejo vayuh iti chattari tattvani tebhya chaitanyam iti.*"

But the Vedanta philosophers refuted both these materialistic theories by pointing out the fallacy of their principal arguments. Vedanta says that one half of the universe is matter or object, and the other half is mind or soul¹. It is impossible to deduce the one from the other.

In the first place, if we analyse our knowledge of matter and force, we find that we cannot know matter by itself, and also cannot know force by itself; that what we know is nothing but a mental change. Knowledge of matter is nothing but the knowledge of that change of the mind of which we are conscious. When we say that matter exists, we are conscious of a peculiar mental change, beyond which we cannot know. The mind cannot go beyond itself. Even our knowledge that the soul, or the mind, is a function of the brain presupposes the existence of another mind or knower. Whenever we say that consciousness or soul is the result of the combination of matter, that statement also requires another mind to be conscious of that idea. John Stuart Mill was right in saying that after dissecting a human brain when one does not find there any trace of the brain, he forgets that such knowledge necessarily implies the existence of his mind or soul. As the knowledge of matter, or brain, or any other kind of knowledge, depends upon the self-consciousness, it will be absurd to deny the priority of that which is the basis of consciousness, of intelligence, and of all knowledge, and with the help of which one can know the existence of matter or its combinations.

G.J. Romanes says:

"We cannot think any of the facts of external nature without pre-supposing the existence of a mind which thinks them, and therefore, so far at least as we are concerned, mind is necessarily prior to everything else. It is for us the only mode of existence which is real in its own right and to it, as to a standard, all other modes of existence which may be inferred, must be referred. Therefore, if we say that mind is a function of motion, we are only saying in somewhat confused terminology that mind is a function of itself. Such then, I take to be a general refutation of materialism."²

If it be a scientific truth that motion produces nothing but motion, as it has been established by modern science, how can we maintain that the molecular motion of the brain-cells produces consciousness or intelligence, which is not the same as motion, but is a knower of motion? Therefore Vedanta philosophy teaches that the source of consciousness cannot be found in matter, but stands independent of it. What we call matter is only the medium through which consciousness manifests itself.

Dr. Schiller, an eminent thinker of the West, holding similar opinion, says:

2. G.J. Romanes: Mind and Motion and Monism, pg. 21

^{1.} For a deeper discussion on this subject please refer to Swami Abhedananda's book, <u>Self-Knowledge</u>, Chapter 1 - Spirit and Matter.

"Matter is not that which produces consciousness, but that which limits it and confines its intensity within certain limits; material organization does not construct consciousness out of arrangements of atoms, but contracts its manifestation within the sphere which it permits."¹

There are other agnostic thinkers who say:

"The conception of a soul as a substantive thing is a mere figment of imagination."

Kant says:

"There is no means whatever by which we can learn anything respecting the constitution of the soul so far as regards the possibility of its separate existence."

David Hume, like some of the Buddhist philosophers, believes that the human soul is nothing but a bundle of impressions and ideas. Hume says:

"When I enter most intimately into what I call myself, I always stumble on some particular perception or other of heat or cold, light or shade, love or hatred, pain or pleasure. When my perceptions are removed for any time, as by sound sleep, so long I am insensible of myself and may be truly said not to exist. And were all my perceptions removed by death and I could neither think, nor feel, nor see, nor love, nor hate, after the dissolution of my body. I should be entirely annihilated; nor do I conceive what is further requisite to make me a perfect non-entity."

So, according to Hume, our souls die every night when we sleep soundly. I think that very few of us will be ready to accept such an explanation of the nature of the human soul.

Those, who depend on sense perceptions only, try to see the soul by dissecting the brain, but when the senses do not reveal it, they deny its existence. They may just as well try to find the soul in the heart or stomach, as the ancient seekers of the soul did. If we examine properly, we shall be able to see logical fallacies and inconsistencies in all the materialistic and agnostic arguments which support the theory that soul is the result of the body, or of the combination of matter, or else that the soul does not exist at all.

From ancient times, such materialistic conclusions have been repeatedly arrived at by thinkers of different countries. But do our minds remain satisfied with such ideas, and do we stop from asking again and again: is there any life after death? If we hear millions of times 'there is no soul', still we cannot be entirely convinced that we shall cease to exist after death; we cannot believe that our individuality will be lost for ever. Such solutions do not

F.C.S. Schiller, an Oxford philosopher, in his book: <u>Riddles of the Sphinx</u>, pg. 295. Dr. Schiller kept his authorship anonymous and so the book's cover indicates that it was written by a "Troglodyte" (a hermit).

appeal to our reason. They do not satisfy our minds, nor do they bring any consolation to our souls. These statements are but that which exists eternally. If existence be a truth today, it must be true eternally.

If we deny the existence of a soul as independent of the body, we cannot explain many facts which often occur during our lifetime, nor the genuine phenomena described in the reports of the Psychical Research Society of Europe and America. We cannot ignore the facts of the agnostics who have seen their 'doubles' outside of themselves when alone in their rooms reposing on a couch or an easy chair. There are instances of such doubles talking, walking, or doing various other things. How are these facts to be explained? There are many descriptions of the manifestation of the doubles of the Yogis in India. Various attempts have been made to explain such events by asserting that they are either optical delusions, or hallucinations of the brain. But we cannot say that they are optical delusions, or hallucinations, if they can stand the test of verification.

There are many properly verified instances of the appearance of the double. Suppose at night before retiring, one is sitting alone in his room, after locking the door from inside, and suppose his mind is greatly disturbed with some important business questions or some mathematical problems. He suddenly sees another exactly like himself, sitting at his desk with a pen in his hand, writing something on a piece of paper, and, after examination he finds that it is an answer to his question or the correct solution of the problem which has puzzled him for many days.

What explanation will you offer? What kind of hallucination is this? What verification stronger and more satisfactory than this do you want to have? Such an occurrence cannot be explained by clairvoyance or telepathy. Some may say it is a false story, but mere assertion does not disprove the facts. The denial of a fact does not change the nature of the fact. Facts are facts whether we admit or deny them, whether our current theory can explain them or not. Clairvoyance, telepathy and thought transference have failed to explain these cases. Such facts can only be explained by the theory of existence of the soul, as separable from the body.

According to science, that theory is true, which can explain most facts, and we should accept it until a better theory or a better explanation comes. Those who believe in the theory of production, or that of combination, will shut their eyes to such facts. But those who believe in the transmission theory or, in other words, those who hold that the brain of the human body is the instrument through which the soul manifests its powers, will find no difficulty in explaining all the genuine phenomena connected with the 'double'. The transmission theory also puts itself in touch with a whole class of experiences that are with difficulty explained by the production theory.

Again there are authentic instances of persons appearing to their friends immediately after death ¹. There are many such instances in India, in Europe, and in every country. Such instances may occur where the persons appearing to friends, ask to have their children taken care of, or bring some message. One need not go to the spiritualistic seances to experience these things. Many such experiences have come to persons in private life and in their own homes, and they have been well verified.

In spiritualistic seances ninety-nine cases out of one hundred, of spirit manifestations are mixed with fraud, and many professional mediums have been most pitifully exposed both here and abroad. The motive power in the professional mediums is to make money, or to earn a living.

In India, the Hindus do not trust in the professional mediums. On the contrary, they say it is wicked to hold public seances for money. It is more wicked to earn a living at the expense of the poor spirits. Why do you try to earn your living by making the poor spirits appear to you? Those persons who do this are considered as the ordinary *fakirs*.

Although many mediums have been exposed and many spirit manifestations have been proved to be like magic or jugglery, still those fraudulent cases cannot be the reason for denying the existence of the soul as apart from the body, or in a life after death. Now the question may arise: If the soul exists after death, does it retain its individuality? The Vedanta philosophy says, yes, it does. The souls of the earth-bound spirits retain their personality too.

Some of the Western writers who have known very little of Hindu philosophy, say that the highest ideal of the Hindu religion is the annihilation of the soul. These childish statements prove their ignorance and prejudice. We hear such things from the writers who consider themselves as great scholars after reading the description of the Hindu religion given by the Christian missionaries, who do not see good in any other religion except their own, and who write simply to serve their own purposes. In the voluminous writings of the Hindus, however, you will never find a single sentence which teaches that the soul will be destroyed after death. On the contrary, you will read that the soul is eternal, immortal, deathless, and birthless.

In the Bhagavad Gita, it is said:

 As Carrington & Meader explain in their book, <u>Death, Its Causes and Phenomena</u>, pg. 382 - "It might be possible for this departing soul to manifest itself to its friends, either in the immediate vicinity, or even at a distance...manifestations of the departing spirit, at the moment of death, are by no means uncommon, but are, on the contrary, very numerous." Some such manifestations have been recorded by the French astronomer Camille Flammarion, in his book <u>The Unknown</u>, pgs. 100, 108, 169-172. "The soul of man is indestructible; it cannot be pierced by sword; fire cannot burn it; air cannot dry it; water cannot moisten it."¹

"If the Slayer thinks that he has slain, or if the slain thinks that he is slain, both of them know not that the soul can neither slay nor be slain."²

Ralph Waldo Emerson, after reading the *Bhagavad Gita*, rendered this passage in verse in his poem entitled *Brahm*:

If the red slayer think he slays, Or if the slain think he is slain, They know not well the subtle ways I keep, and pass, and turn again.³

As regards the retaining of the individuality, Vedanta says that each soul after death takes with it all the experiences, impressions and ideas which it gained on earth. It takes its mind, intelligence, intellect, and powers of the senses and enjoys or reaps the fruits of its own thoughts and deeds.

If you read the funeral service of the Hindus, you will find that after the death of a person the relatives do good in the name of the departed, believing that good thoughts, prayers and good works, done in their names, will help the departed spirits. The Hindus also believe that, if we think of them constantly and invoke them asking to remain with us for our own gratification without thinking of their good, we force them to remain confined to that particular personality which was connected with their earthly bodies they left behind them. Personality is always connected with the material body. At every birth of the body, we have a certain personality according to the environments, and if we keep one soul confined in one personality or one set of environments, there will be no progress of the soul on the higher planes. Therefore it is better not to drag our departed friends to our plane of existence, but to keep helping them by sending good thoughts to them.

The most ancient writers of the Vedic ages show that they believed in the spirit world of the *Pitars* or fathers, where the departed souls go after death ⁴. The king or ruler of this place is called Yama. He was the first of the mortals to enter that world of death, and he became the ruler of those who came later.

^{1.} Bhagavad Gita, Chapter 2, Verses 23 and 24.

^{2.} Bhagavad Gita, Chapter 2, Verse 19.

^{3.} Swami Abhedananda has explained in *Leaves from My Diary*, - "When Ralph Waldo Emerson went to meet Carlyle in London, Carlyle presented to Emerson a copy of the English translation of the Bhagavad Gita by Charles Wilkins and said, 'I have been inspired by the teachings of Bhagavad Gita and I hope that you will be similarly inspired by them.' Emerson after reading the Gita wrote that beautiful poem on Brahm.

^{4.} Rig Veda, 10th Mandala (Chapter), Sutra (Section) 14, Verses 7 and 8.

The Hindus believe in a heaven, but not in any hell. Again the Hindu heaven is different from that of the Christian or of the Mohammedan. The Hindus believe that heaven is a realm where the departed souls go to reap the pleasant effects of their good and virtuous actions, that they remain there for some time until the results of their good works are completely reaped, then after that period, they will return to this phenomenal world again.¹

The Christians, Mohammedans, and Zoroastrians believe in a heaven of all kinds of sense enjoyments where pleasures will come incessantly without troubles or any sort of pain. This, according to the Hindus, is not a desirable state. The Hindus say that all these celestial enjoyments are phenomenal and transitory. Supposing a spirit remains in heaven and enjoys for a million years or for one cycle, still, compared to an eternity, this is a very short time. So they say that after enjoying the results of the good works in those realms, one is bound to be born again, either here, or in some other planet according to one's tendencies and capacities.

Therefore in the Bhagavad Gita it is said:

"All the different worlds of spirits beginning with the highest heavens are states from where one must return. Because they are within the realm of phenomena and are changeable. But he who attains to the realization of the absolute Truth, transcends all phenomena and laws which govern them.²

The ancient Persians believed that the soul would rise three days after death and would go either to the heaven, or to the hell according to its thought, speech and work. This Persian idea of heaven was afterwards adopted by the Jews and the Christians. The ancient Hebrews did not trouble themselves about the life after death. They believed that God breathed life into man's nostrils, and that the breath which came from Jehovah, would go back to Him, and that the life-breath of all creatures would return to the source whence it came. That which happens to man also happens to lower animals. This life-breath was sometimes called the *Nephesh*, the *Ruach*, or the *Neshama*.

The ancient Egyptians believed in a 'double' which was like a shadow of the body and which remained as long as the body remained. This gave rise to the idea of mummifying the bodies of the dead. If the body was injured in any part, the double or the soul was likewise injured. So to keep the soul intact, they preserved the bodies.

The ancient Chaldeans ³ also believed in a 'double' which would be annihilated if the body were destroyed. They expected a resurrection of the corpse. Many of the Christians have a similar idea or belief. This idea gave rise to the custom of embalming and burying the dead.

^{1.} Bhagavad Gita, Chapter 9, Verse 21.

^{2.} Bhagavad Gita, Chapter 8, Verse 16.

^{3.} Chaldeans were Semitic people who lived between the late 10th and mid-6th century BC. (Wikipedia)

Some of the Christians still believe that the body will rise after death. Others do not believe in the resurrection of the body. They believe that the soul will remain and exist through eternity although it had a beginning.

The Christian idea regarding the beginning of the soul is that, at the time of birth, each soul is newly created by the almighty God. But the Hindus say that which has a beginning cannot live through all eternity, and it must have an end. The Hindus do not believe that the soul is created by God, or by any other supernatural being. It is eternal by its nature. It is birthless, and it cannot die. The Hindus do not mean destruction or annihilation by death ¹. They mean by it a change of the body, or the form. This kind of death is a constant attendant of life. The phenomenal life is impossible without death, or change of forms. In fact, we are dying every day. Every seventh year the entire body changes and along with it every particle and atom is renewed.

Prof. Huxley says:

"Physiology writes over the portals of life, *Debmur morti nos nostraque*, with a profounder meaning than the Roman poet ascribed to the melancholy line. And in whatever guise it takes refuge, whether fungus or oak, worm or man, the living protoplasm not only ultimately dies and is resolved into its mineral and lifeless constituents, but is always dying and, strange as the paradox may sound, could not live unless it died."

Although every particle of the body changes, we still continue to exist. Our continuity is not broken from babyhood to old age - we retain the same sense of "I" and personal identity. This continuity of the conscious agent or "I" cannot be explained by any physical or chemical law.

According to the Vedanta philosophy, thought or feeling or intelligence can never be produced by any mechanical or molecular motion. 'Motion produces motion and nothing else' says modern science. As such, how can the motion of the atoms of the body produce consciousness? That must be due to some lighter power or force. This force is ordinarily called the soul. The soul is not subject to the atomic or molecular changes in the body. It is rather the cause of them. It is beyond all changes and consequently, is beyond death. It is the basis of continuity of the conscious state and also of the sense of identity in the individual. As we survive and retain our individuality after each seven years of change and renewal, so we will live as individual souls after the final dissolution of the forms of our bodies.

^{1.} Bhagavad Gita Chapter 2, Verse 20 and also the Katha Upanishad 1.2.18 (Chapter 1, Section 2, Verse 18).

In the Bhagavad Gita it is said:

"As during our lifetime we survive the death of the baby body, the young body, and the mature body successively and retain our individuality, so after the death of the old body we shall survive, live, retain our individuality and continue to exist through eternity." ¹

CHAPTER III

THE SCIENTIFIC VIEW OF DEATH

In this age of commercialism and materialism, very few people think about death. They are rather afraid of it. They do not care to think what will happen after death. They would rather live in this world, enjoy all the pleasures of life, make the best use of everything, make a will, and insure their life, or save a little money to pay the funeral expenses and go on living.

Out of the two thousand millions of people who inhabit this little planet earth, forty millions of the human bodies are disposed of every year, and a million tons of the human flesh, bones, and blood are allowed to return to their elementary states. During the last war in Europe ¹, many millions of people were killed and were destroyed. Some of them were blown into atoms.

But we do not think of that horrible scene. We have almost forgotten it. So we do not think for a moment that we shall die. We are not living and doing the same things as we did before. Our interest is not in solving the problem of death, although it is the greatest mystery in the world. It is as mysterious as the coming of life on this plane. But still we do not think much about it. Even the Christian churches do not take such a lively interest in this problem of death today, as they did in the last century. They would rather busy themselves with questions of social, educational and especially political problems of the day. The medicinemen of this age do not solve the problem of death, although hundreds are dying in their hands every year. They gather all the things that they can and their ideal is to enjoy the pleasures of life, and also to make the best of their opportunity.

In the *Mahabharata*, the most ancient epic of the Hindus, we read a prize question that was asked to different great men of ancient times. 'What is the most wonderful thing in the world?' Various answers were given, but they were not satisfactory.

The answer which Yudhishthira gave was accepted and his answer was this: 'Every day, and day after day, animals and human beings are passing out of life, but we do not think of death; we think that we shall never die. What can be more wonderful than this? This answer was given nearly thirty-five centuries ago, and the same truth prevails today. We do not think of death, although we see every day the dead bodies carried to the grave right under our eyes.

The mystery of death is not solved by mythological beliefs of the ancient peoples, which have been handed down to us through generations. The scriptures of the Jews, the Christians, the Parsees and the Mohammedans do not explain what death is. But in some of these scriptures, we find that God commanded the first man to do certain things and not to eat the fruit of the tree of knowledge, but when the first man did eat the fruit of the tree of knowledge of good and evil, the Lord cursed him, and His curse brought death in this world. We read in the Genesis, the Lord commanded:

"Of every tree of the garden thou mayest freely eat: But of the tree of the knowledge of good and evil, thou shall not eat of it: for in the day that thou eatest thereof thou shalt surely die." ¹

Of course, Adam did not die in the day he was tempted and he ate the fruit thereof; but he reaped the consequences afterwards and died later. This passage shows that at first God did not intend that man should die, but the death came to the world through the evil influence of Satan, the devil. It was Satan who brought death into this world. In fact, the curse was the cause, but the curse was brought about by the evil influence of the devil. Those who believe in this, that death was caused or brought about by Satan, do not care to think further about it. They leave this question as settled, and naturally they do other things and do not try to solve the problem. They think that if it be the curse of God, it is an inevitable end of life and let us be satisfied with it.

Scientific researches towards tracing the causes of death have brought out many truths and laws which were unknown to the writers of the Genesis and other scriptures of different nations.

Orthodox science or materialistic science, as it is known to us, which denies the existence of the soul as an entity and also denies the existence of mind or life or intelligence as distinct from the results of matter, governed by physical forces and chemical actions, says that death is nothing but the cessation of life and it is an inevitable end which all beings come to. The scientists do not explain it elaborately because they do not know much about it. Still they try to explain that when the vital parts of the body wear out in this machine, then naturally the whole of the machine must stop. The vital parts are regarded as the heart, the lungs and the brain. When any of these vital centres is worn out or injured by disease or accident, then naturally the whole machinery of the body stops.

But here a question may arise: 'Does the death of the conscious life imply the death of the life of the organs?' Or in other words, when a person is dead, does it mean that the organs

are dead also? That is a very difficult question to answer. On the contrary, science tells us that the organs do not die immediately after the death of the body or the conscious life. For instance, if a chicken's head be cut off and its heart taken out and watched, it will continue to live for a long time after the death of the chicken. In the Rockfeller Institute, there is a heart of a chicken that has been kept for eight years, and it is still going on and doing normal action. That shows that the organs have their independent life which may continue to live even after the conscious life of the individual is dead.

In the same manner, it can be shown that the cells and the tissues have their own life. They do not die, but they live for a long time after the death of the conscious life. Modem science tells us that there are two kinds of death: one is the death of the conscious life and the other is the death of the organic and cellular life which is called the 'somatic life'. But one does not depend upon the other. In fact, the life continues to exist, depending upon the natural process of the vital force which is known as the life-force. But this materialistic science does not explain how it is that the organs, the cells, and the tissues continue to live, because it denies the existence of a vital energy, or a vital force, as distinct from all other known forces of nature. On the other hand, it considers that this vital force is a result of the chemical actions of the atoms and molecules of the organism and therefore, it cannot explain any further.

Professor Charles Minot of the Harvard Medical School writes in his book, Old Age, Growth and Death:

"Differentiation leads, as its inevitable conclusion, to death. Death is the price we are compelled to pay for our organization, and also for the differentiation which exists in us. Death of the whole comes, as we now know, whenever some essential part of the body gives way. Sometimes one, sometimes another, perhaps the brain, perhaps the heart, perhaps one of the other internal organs may be the first, in which the change of cytomorphosis goes so far that it can no longer perform its share of work, and failing, brings about the failure of the whole."

This is the scientific view of death. It leaves death with its mystery and all its sacredness. We are not in the least able at the present time to say what life is, and still less, perhaps, what death is.

Thus by studying materialistic science, we do not gain a very clear idea of what death really means. But science goes on trying to trace the causes of death, and describes the signs of death. Science tells us that the actual signs of death are very difficult to find. The so-called

popular signs of death like the stoppage of the heart-beat and pulse or respiration are not the actual signs of death, because there have been hundreds of cases where the heart-beat is stopped and the respiration is stopped and yet after sometime they are revived. The heartbeat might stop for many hours, even for days, and then it can be revived. The respiration might stop for a long time, but it can be restored. Science has recorded many cases of suspended animation where the respiration or the heart-beat is stopped for fortyeight hours in the least. But there have been other cases where men have been buried alive in a hermetically sealed box for forty days and afterwards they were taken out and revived. They lived, married, and enjoyed all the blessings of life afterwards. It is very difficult to say which would be the proper or final sign of death. Science tells us that the decomposition and putrefaction are the only final signs of death and nothing else and that shows that people might be buried prematurely.

There have been many cases of premature burial recorded in the medical journals of the world every year. And for that reason, some of the countries in Europe have passed a law that no one should be buried immediately after death until decomposition sets in. Because it is a very serious thing to bury the living beings. There have been cases of many prematurely killed by being put into the coffin and getting buried under the ground before their actual death.

As premature burial is objectionable, so premature embalming too is objectionable. The embalmers have killed many before they really died. They might have been revived and might have lived for a long time. Because it is a proved fact today that when the person is considered as dead, he might be in a trance, or in a state of catalepsy, or in a state of ecstasy.

Trance, catalepsy and ecstasy ¹ are the conditions which resemble death. The outward signs are similar. But what happens to the soul after trance or ecstasy? Science does not know, because it denies the existence of a soul other than the mind. A person might go into a state of trance and remain in that state for hours. There are persons who can stop the heartbeat by their will. I know a Hindu Yogi who came to America a few years ago and who, in New York, went through all the medical tests to prove that he could stop his heart-beat at his will. The medical practitioners were all dumbfounded and questioned how he could do it. It is possible, because it obeys the will of the individual, and the individual will commands and directs the organic functions. But materialistic science cannot explain how it is possible through the known laws that are accepted by these scientific thinkers.

1. Ecstasy is a trance-like condition in which a person transcends normal consciousness and goes into a state of expanded spiritual awareness. (Source: Wikipedia)

The old Babylonian method of embalming the body ¹ and burying the dead, which has been handed down to us from pre Christian era and which is practised today in all the civilized countries, is based upon the superstitious belief that the body will eventually rise and go to heaven. But after the decomposition sets in and the body is gone, what will rise? Science shows that it is an absolute impossibility for the body to rise, or to go to heaven. Still some people cling to that old belief and think that their friends and relatives will eventually rise from the graves and go to heavens with their physical bodies.

But the best method of disposing of the dead body is the method of cremation, because it is sanitary. It is the best method from the standpoint of health as well as from the standpoint of safety for the living beings. Why should we have so many dead bodies going through the process of decomposition around us? It is better to get rid of them and let them go to their elementary conditions.

This cremation has been practised in India from very ancient times. In the Vedas, we find that cremation was regarded as the best method ². But among other nations, burial or mummification was regarded as the best method. As I have already said, their idea was to keep the body intact for a long time, because, the soul will eventually come back to the body. The Egyptians also had that kind of belief. They believed that if the physical body were kept intact and not mutilated, then the soul would eventually come back to dwell in that body, whereas if any part of the physical body was mutilated, that part of the 'double' (soul) would also be mutilated. They believed in a 'double',—a double exactly of the same shape and same form as the physical body.

In India, we find that the Hindus have a belief in the existence of a double, but it was not dependent upon the gross physical body. They have a philosophy altogether different from that of the Egyptians and other nations of ancient times. They believe that this double might have the body and continue to live even when this gross physical body is destroyed through the process of cremation which they even now regard as the most sanitary method of disposing of the dead body.

There is another class of scientific thinkers who are a little more advanced than the orthodox scientists. They hold that the mind is a factor in cases of disease and death. They do not deny the existence of the mind, or the intelligence, or the consciousness, nor do they believe that the mind, intelligence and consciousness are the results of the chemical actions of the atoms and the molecules of the organism.

Embalming is the process of preserving human remains so as to forestall decomposition. Amongst the ancients, the Egyptians developed embalming and mummification to the greatest extent. (Source: Wikipedia)

The 10th Mandala of the Rig Veda, mentions both the customs of burial (*anagnidagdha*) and cremation (*agnidagdha*) as practiced by the Vedic people. In its 18th Sukta, from the 10th to 14th mantras are found the customs of complete burial. – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

On the contrary, they hold the belief that the source of consciousness and mind are indestructible. So is life. Life is also indestructible. They regard that the life-force (*prana*) is not the result of the chemical actions. It is not the same as electricity or any other force that is known to orthodox science, but it is distinct and separate. They give the cases where mind can bring death through extreme emotions. Some of the functions of the mind which we call passions will create disease and death.

Dr. John Hunter, a noted psychologist, was a genius of extraordinary nature. He was a scientist, but he believed in the power of the mind and yet he had very little control over his passions. He could not control anger. Once he had extreme anger as the result of a slight provocation, and through the extreme anger, he instantly fell dead. There is a historical record that anger kills the person instantly. The French physician, Tourtelle, witnessed two women who died of extreme anger. Extreme anger will produce stoppage of the heart-action, and poison the whole system. As extreme anger will kill persons, a slight expression of anger, or anger of a milder form, will also bring disease of the worst kind. In fact, when a mother nurses the baby while she is in that state of anger, she feeds the baby with poison, and that poison works and creates all kinds of trouble in the baby's system. It is a scientific fact today.

As anger is dangerous and is a destructive force that creates havoc in the system, so is fear. Now, the ordinary expression that we are frightened to death has some meaning. Extreme fear will bring death, will stop the heart-action and will stop the lungs and simultaneously other organs too. Then there are passions, hatred and grief. Grief will produce havoc in the system. These are all the recorded facts. When there have been cases of disease and death through extreme hatred and grief, how can we deny the power of the mind? If the mind and the mental states can produce such effects upon the physical body and bring premature death, how can we deny the existence of mind as the most powerful thing that we possess? Therefore, the scientists who are advanced thinkers and not bigoted like the orthodox materialists, regard mind as the most wonderful force that is working through this physical body.

There are cases of counterfeits of death, even in the lower animals. There are some of the insects which would feign death. The fox, when he is pursued by an enemy and does not know how to escape, lies flat on the ground, feigns death and remains in that state for some time. There are other animals which would even become stiff and the *rigor mortis* of death will be perceptible in the physical body of the animal. It can be produced by the mind. This counterfeit of death may be caused by different things, such as intoxication, apoplexy, heart-trouble and so on. Thus it shows that mind can produce these things under those conditions

like the sign of death, and therefore, those advanced thinkers and scientists consider that death can be brought about by the power of the mind. They regard that this ordinary state which we call death, is caused by that self-conscious living force which is working through the organs, and when that self-conscious living force is detached, it produces death. In fact, the self-conscious living soul has vital energy or life-force (*prana*) or mind with it. The mind is inseparable from the life-force or vital energy. But mind cannot work unless it has an instrument. Therefore it manufactures the instrument of the physical body. It draws from the surrounding environments like atoms, molecules or particles of matter, and charges them with the life-force, or the vibrations of the *prana*, and when the vibrations of life-force are weak and are not up to the standard of the conditions of life, then the living soul or the self-conscious mind tries to raise those vibrations of the cellular life up to the standard by making all efforts, and if it fails to raise the standard of the vibration of the cells and the tissues, then there is the death of the whole. Then the whole machinery dies.

Thus we see that there are two principal factors in the body: the one is the mind and the other is the vibration of the *prana*, or the vibratory state of the cells and tissues of the body. But the vibratory state of the cells and the tissues is governed by the mind. In fact, the mind is the creator, the manipulator and the organizer. It is the director of all the organic functions.

The organs might go on vibrating in their own way, but that would not be the standard of life. There must be co-ordination. The heart-action must correspond in a certain way with the action of the lungs, and all the intricate mechanism must be adjusted in such a way that one helps the other. Otherwise, there would be no life. If one screw is loose anywhere, the screw must be tightened, otherwise the machine would not work. Now, who tightens this screw? It is the individual self-conscious life-force which is called, in ordinary terms, the living soul. The living soul means the self-conscious individualized life-force with the sense of "I", and that sense of "I" holds them together. This sense of "I" holds all together, unifies them, and makes the separate parts vibrate and produce a perfect harmony. That harmony is life. As in an orchestra, there might be a hundred instruments, and if each instrument goes on playing in its own way without following the direction of its conductor, it will produce no harmony; similarly, if the organs of the body go on beating in their own way, without producing any harmony, without having any co-ordination, without being directed by their conductor, then it is useless. Who is the conductor of the organs? Who is the director? The orthodox science does not see that director, but advanced science tells us that there is a director and this director has the absolute control over the whole organism. He is the living soul. At the time of death, he disconnects himself from the organs and leaves the body.

In case of trance, catalepsy and ecstasy, this living soul leaves the body, but the connection is not entirely cut off. There still remains some kind of connection. It is like the umbilical cord of a newborn babe which holds its entity as connected with the physical body. Therefore the physical, body can be revived. But when the connection is entirely cut off, the body cannot be revived. Then it is called death. That is the difference. This difference very few people understand.

But this living soul which goes out of the body at the time of death can be photographed. The most delicate and sensitive instruments have been used to weigh the body just before death and immediately after death, and making all allowances for the gases that escape, it has been found, that the substance which passes out of the body at the time of death, has a definite weight of about half an ounce or three-quarters of an ounce.

This fine substance that emanates from the body at the time of death has a luminosity. This luminous substance can be photographed and seen by the psychic as passing out of the body. The whole body becomes enshrouded with a kind of luminous mist. I remember the case of a girl, whose brother died in Los Angeles some years ago. I heard it from her mother. At the death-bed of her brother, the young girl said: "Mamma, mamma, see, there is a mist around his body; what is it?" But the mother could not see it. She said that it came out of the body. The scientists have taken up that subject in Europe and are experimenting on this emanation. They call it the *ectoplasm*. It is a vapour-like substance and it has no particular form. It is like a cloud and it can take a shape or a form and can be photographed. What substance it is, they do not know, but they cannot deny its existence.

Our human bodies are emanating that substance all the time. It can be seen especially at the time when there is a medium in a trancelike condition. The materializing mediums emanate that very strongly. I have seen it in private seances, when there was no professional medium at all. I have handled it and touched it. There is no particular feeling when we feel ectoplasm. It cannot be described. But when it takes a definite shape, it becomes almost like solid and like our own body. It can take any form.

At the time of death, all these vital forces that are governing the different organs, become concentrated and centralized into one point before it leaves the body, and we find the dying person's sight becomes dim, the sensations of the body become faint and gradually the whole body goes through a transformation. And, in this transformation, there are cases, where the psychic power of the individual manifests.

Some of the dying persons develop clairvoyance and clairaudience. They can appear at the time of death, either just before or immediately after, to distant friends in the form of an apparition, and they can give their messages. Such cases have been recorded by the scientists.

The French Astronomer, Camille Flammarion had written a book, <u>The Unknown</u>, on that subject by gathering all the authentic reports made under the test conditions in different families, which describe the experience of different people at the time of death, or immediately after death. Fifteen hundred such records were gathered, and afterwards Flammarion selected quite a few out of them, which were absolutely authentic and published them in his book. Now these records show that there is something which is not the result of the physical body. This *ectoplasm* is a substance which contains finer matter in vibration, and this finer matter forms the under-garment of the soul, the gross physical body and the finer or etherial body existing in each one of us. We may not feel it at present, because our sight and senses are looking for the gross, material and tangible objects.

But it does not become tangible until it is brought down to the planes of our senses. The plane of our senses depends upon a certain degree of vibration. We can see light when the vibration of light is within the range of our vision. From red to violet our eyes can see, but if there be less vibrations than the red, we do not see it. In order to become visible, it must vibrate in a certain way so that our organs might catch it, just as sound. Thus there are sounds which we do not hear at all because our organ of hearing is imperfect. Similarly the etherial body cannot be seen, until it is brought within the range of our vision, by a process known as materialization. It is a process which brings the finer matter that is vibrating at a high rate into a lower rate of vibration so that we can catch it or get a glimpse of it.

The Vedanta philosophy is in perfect harmony with the conclusions of this latter kind of advanced scientists who hold that mind and the living soul are distinct factors in creating disease, also in bringing on death and in manufacturing the physical body. These ideas we find in the Vedanta philosophy which is the oldest system of philosophy in the world. The truth never grows old. The truth that was discovered five thousand years ago is the same truth today, even if it be rediscovered by the modern scientists. So we must remember that the Vedantic truth is unique and one. There is only one condition which can be absolutely true. The others are imitations of truth. That absolute truth might have been discovered ages before, but because of the lapse of time, the truth does not change. It is the eternal truth.

Therefore, we find that this finer body which I have just described, is called in Vedanta the subtle body (*sukshma-sharira*) which is the under-garment of the soul, and the gross

physical is the outer garment. When the soul has performed certain functions and enjoyed certain pleasures and fulfilled certain desires, it finds that this gross physical body is no longer of any use and it does not work right. Then the living soul leaves the gross body and manufactures another. Just as you have run a motor-machine for two years and after two years, you find that the parts are worn-out and that it has done its service, then you leave it and get another. That is exactly what the living soul does. You cannot blame the soul for doing that. Because the body is the instrument, through which the soul must manifest its powers, gain experiences, learn lessons, and gather knowledge. In this way, the living soul is progressing in the process of evolution, rising from a lower to a higher state and fulfilling its mission at every step of manifestation.

This idea of life will explain the mystery of death. Death is no longer mysterious when we know that there is an entity which has manufactured this instrument, which is dwelling in it and which leaves it when the time comes. So death does not mean the annihilation of anything, or destruction, or reduction into nothingness of anything, but it means disintegration.

It means that the instrument which has served its purpose must be thrown away and another instrument must be rebuilt out of the same material. Who can tell that the atoms and molecules which made up the body of Cleopatra thousands of years ago, are not used in the bodies of the living beings today? The same atoms and molecules that are buried with the dead bodies, have been dissolved and taken up by the vegetable life and have reappeared in the forms of plants cereals and we might be eating them and taking them in again. And they are forming parts of our own body. So it is a revolution. Nothing in this universe is destroyed. The atoms and the molecules go into one body, get out and enter into another body.

In this continuous process of life, its manifestations of evolution and involution are going on and the living soul is the master of it. That living soul has no death. Science tells us that which has existed once will continue to exist for ever. But the physical form of the body will be destroyed. It has no permanent existence and it is constantly changing. The form that you had when you were a little baby is gone. The form that you had yesterday, you have not got today. The form that you have this minute, you will not have it next minute. It is a continuous influx and reflux of matter. It is just like a whirlpool. The particles of matter are revolving and keeping up the shape according to the type that you have manufactured so that there would be an identity. Now, in this vortex of the particles of matter, which are constantly in motion, there is something that is constant and unchangeable within us. That is our consciousness. If you ever see your own hand or any part of the body through the X-ray, you will find like a revelation that your body consists of the finer particles of the mist-like matter which are hanging over the outline of the bones. The gross physical body which appears as solid, is not at all solid. It is just like a cloud, and we think it is solid only under certain conditions.

At the time of death, the soul leaves this material plane and enters into another plane of consciousness which may be called another dimension. We are now living in three dimensions. There is another dimension where the sense-objects do not exist at all. It is beyond the limitations of our physical body. Even the motion of the earth and the planetary system do not exist there. We cannot imagine such a state, unless we get a glimpse of that other dimension. It is called the fourth dimension ¹. Where does the human soul go? It does not go anywhere after death, but it remains in the fourth dimension and cuts off all connections with the physical world of three dimensions. The third and the fourth dimensions are related to each other just like a wheel within a wheel. We know through the study of science that the cells of the body are constantly moving. But do we feel that motion? When we sit still, we are enjoying the quiet. But there is a constant motion going on within our system which we are not conscious of. So the departed soul is not conscious of the changes and the conditions of the gross physical body.

Our bodies are nothing but the instruments, or the garments of the soul. Vedanta tells us that when a person dies, he is not really dead, but he changes his old garment of the physical body and takes a new one. Vedanta says that death means a change i.e. a change from one state of consciousness to another state of consciousness, and the soul throws away the physical body at the time of death just as we throw away our old worn-out garments. This idea is beautifully expressed in the *Bhagavad Gita*:

"As we throw away our old worn-out garments and put on new ones, so the living soul, after using the body which is the gross physical garment, throws it away when it is worn-out, and manufactures a new one." ²

Some imagine five to seven dimensions. Dimensions are known as the layers of thought or mind, and each dimension has a special experience of its own. – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

^{2.} Bhagavad Gita, Chapter 2, Verse 22.

CHAPTER IV

THE SOUL AFTER DEATH

The question what becomes of the human soul after death is as old as the first appearance of man on earth. Almost all nations and tribes of all climes and ages have asked this question amongst themselves and tried to solve the problem, each according to its power, capacity, understanding, and knowledge.

Some tried to explain it through peculiar theories and beliefs; some through mythology, or poetry, and others through proper reasoning and scientific and logical demonstration. These various attempts of different thinkers to solve that ancient problem have ended in different conclusions which satisfy more or less the minds of various peoples in different countries. All the religions of the world are built upon the solution of this great puzzle. All the philosophies, ancient or modern, and even science of today, have spared no pains to unriddle that enigma of existence.

Many have failed, and many have stopped after deep investigations and researches without finding any satisfactory explanation, and have at last cried out in despair: it is beyond our knowledge and it is beyond the reach of human understanding. Some have become agnostics and others have denied the existence of any such thing as soul. Some said that the soul of man exists as long as the body and the combination of matter which produces the soul, exists. When the body dies, the soul is also dead and gone. Some have arrived at the conclusion that there is no such thing as an individuality. It is like the flame of a lamp. When there is no lamp, there is no light; similarly when there is no body, there is no soul left. Everything ends with the death of the body. No sign of individuality is left after the dissolution of the physical form or the gross body.

But after hearing all these various conclusions, does our mind stop asking the same question within ourselves again and again? No, because each individual needs an explanation which will satisfy the innate longing for the immortal or deathless life, with which each one of us is born. If we hear millions of times that there is no soul, still we cannot be convinced entirely that we shall cease to exist after death. We cannot think of such a state, and we cannot believe that our individuality will be lost after death. Such solutions do not appeal to our reason, and do not satisfy our mind, nor do they bring to us consolation of any kind.

In the Katha Upanishad, we find that Yama, the Ruler of Death says:

"Fools dwelling in the darkness of ignorance, self-conceited with vain knowledge and puffed up with the idea that they are truly wise, go round and round like the blind led by the blind." ¹ "Hereafter never rises before the mind of an ignorant child, deluded by the desire or wealth and worldly prosperity. Such people who say: 'This is the world, there is no other,' come again and again under my sway."²

These words were uttered perhaps more than a thousand years before the birth of Jesus. One of the principal features of the writings of the ancient Seers of Truth in India was the knowledge of pre-existence, continuity and immortality of the human soul. If we see the most ancient writings, I mean the Rig Veda; there we read such prayers which show that they believed in the existence of the soul after death and immortal life.

In the Isha-Upanishad of the Sukla-Yajur-Veda, we find also,

"Oh God! Take me there where lies the source of everlasting light of the universe, which is indestructible, where immortality reigns supreme and make me immortal." ³

In a funeral hymn we read:

"Go forth, go forth on these ancient paths on which our forefathers departed, having left all sins, go home again and radiant in thy body, come together with them." ⁴

There are hundreds of such passages in the Vedas, which show clearly that the ancient Aryas believed in the existence of the soul after death. They believed in the spirit-world of the fathers or *Pitris* where the departed soul goes after death, and the king of that world of the fathers is Yama, the first of the mortals who became immortal.

The ancient Hindus believed in a heaven which they called the *brahmaloka* or the kingdom of Brahma, the Creator and the Father of the universe. Then gradually when the ethical ideas of right and wrong became very strong in the minds of the Hindus and when they understood the law of action and reaction, they believed that those who perform good and virtuous deeds in this life with the hope of getting reward, go to the realm of the fathers (*pitriloka*) and stay there as long as the results of good works will not be finished. When a departed individual has reaped the fruits of all of his good and virtuous works which brought him to that realm, he is bound to come down to the earth and to be born again, according to his desires and actions of his past birth.

^{1.} Katha Upanishad, 1.2.5 (Chapter 1, Section 2, Verse No. 5).

^{2.} Katha Upanishad, 1.2.6 (Chapter 1, Section 2, Verse No. 6).

^{3.} Isha Upanishad, 1.18 (Chapter 1, Verse No. 18)

^{4.} Rig Veda, 10th Mandala (Chapter), Sukta (Section) 14, Verse No. 7.

The spirit-world of the fathers was supposed to be in the moon. From the very ancient times the Hindus had a belief that the moon was the land of the dead, and it was the repository of all the departed souls, and all the germs of life came to this earth from the moon. It rained from the moon on this earth. The path, by which the departed souls go to the lunar region and enjoy there all the pleasures and happiness as a result of their own works and then return to the earth and are born again, was called the *pitriyana*, or the path of the forefathers.¹ All mortals are bound to go by this path and return to this earth.

But those who do good works not for getting reward, nor seeking anything on return and who live the life of purity and righteousness, will go to the *brahmaloka*, the realm of Brahma. There they will stay in all glory until the end of a cycle of evolution. In the meantime, if any one of them can attain the knowledge of the highest wisdom of oneness which is the absolute Reality, he will be free and will remain as one with the Supreme Being all through eternity.

Brahma, the Creator, who is the king of this realm of the gods, will in the end of one cycle be free. Then in the beginning of another cycle, another Brahma will arise from the infinite source of the absolute existence, intelligence and bliss. He will be the Creator or Projector of that cycle. This process will continue all the time.

This Brahma the Creator is like the Governor of a state. One fills the post for some time, does his duty, then retires. Another in the meantime becomes a candidate to be the Brahma, and so he becomes. In this way, hundreds of Brahmas have come and gone. But those who after attaining this realm of the gods do not gain the highest wisdom of oneness, come back at the beginning of the new cycle to this earth and according to their desires and works they will be born again as the human beings of the highest order. Most righteous and virtuous will strive for the highest knowledge, or the realization of oneness. This is what they called *devayana*, the path of the *devas* or the bright ones.

These two paths are described fully in the Upanishads in a metaphorical language, which is generally difficult to understand. They describe how the departed souls go from this earth to those regions, what stages they pass through, what experiences they gather, how they return, and how they are born, and so forth. Those who go by *pitriyana*, or the path of the departed fathers are such people who are charitable, do good to others, and perform virtuous deeds. When such people die, they go through smoke, then to night, then to dark fifteen days, from there to the six months when the sun moves south, from there to the world of the fathers to moon.²

^{1.} Prasna Upanishad (also known as Prasnopanishad), 1.9 (Chapter 1, Verse No. 9).

Brihadaranyaka Upanishad 6.2.16 (Chapter 6, Section 2, Verse 16) and also Kaushitaki Upanishad
Chapter 1, Verse No. 2)

These are the principal stages like smoke, night, and dark fifteen days, and each of these has a spirit as its ruler. These spirits take care of the departed souls and help them as guides do in a strange country. Each of these spirits introduces them to the other spirits, and thus they go very quickly to their proper destinations. There they will meet their departed relatives and friends. There they will become favourite of the gods and live there as long as their works will permit. Then when they return, "they first take etherial invisible bodies (like minute germs of life), then they pass through ether into air, from air into the clouds, and then they fall with rain drops on the earth, then they enter into human bodies through some kinds of food; then they are born again." ¹

In this process, you must remember that the law of what the modern evolutionists call the natural selection, acts, and by that law they will come through food into such bodies where they will find suitable environments and conditions to fulfil their desires and to reap the results of their own works. During this process of return, their whole mental feelings and intelligence become contracted, and they do not feel anything, nor can they remember anything. Then they become good or bad according to their latent tendencies which they possess and which they want to manifest.

But those who worship God with pure heart and sincere devotion, and those who are righteous and work for others without any hope of getting reward and are unselfish and believe in an extra-cosmic personal God with a certain name and form and are dualistic or monotheistic in their ideas after their death, will go to heaven by the *devayana*, or the path which leads to God. It has been said in the *Upanishad*:

"They go first to light, from light to day, to the waxing half of the moon, to six months when the sun goes north, then to the place of bright spirits or *devas*, then to the sun, then to the region of lightening; there a spirit of a high order comes and takes them to the world of Brahma, where they dwell until the end of the cycle." ²

Then they may return in the next cycle, if they do not realize the highest truth of oneness. In this case, you will have to understand that all these light, day, etc. must be taken as the stages under the guidance of the spirits that are at their head or their rulers.

These mythological descriptions and poetic imaginations of the ancient simple-minded thinkers of India are considered by many as childish talk, and by some as nonsense. Whatever that might be, one thing which we learn from all these descriptions is that those ancient thinkers understood that the soul cannot be destroyed after death, and that it has some purpose to fulfil, and that it must continue to manifest either on this earth or in some

^{1.} Chandogya Upanishad, Chapter 5, Section 10, Verses 4, 5 and 6; and also Brihadaranyaka Upanishad 6.2.16 (Chapter 6, Section 2, Verse 16)

Brihadaranyaka Upanishad 6.2.15 (Chapter 6, Section 2, Verse 15); Chandogya Upanishad, Chapter 5, Section 10, Verse 2; Bhagavad Gita Chapter 8, Verse 24; and Prasna Upanishad, 1.10 (Chapter 1, Verse No. 10).

other planet according to its desires and works, and that all these heavens are transitory and not the unchangeable Reality.

This is a great gain indeed. In very few religions you will find such an idea. All religions, such as Zoroastrianism, Christianity or Mohammedanism, end in going to heaven, and they describe heaven as the eternal and imperishable place. But the Hindu religion does not teach that. In other religions, the highest ideal is going to a heaven where we can get many things which we cannot get here, and where all enjoyments will come incessantly without any pain or trouble. But with the Hindus this is not the desirable highest state. All these heavens and places of enjoyments are phenomenal and transitory (even if they last for millions of years, still millions of years when compared to eternity is nothing).

It is for this reason Sri Krishna, the Incarnation of the universal Spirit, says to Arjuna:

"All the different worlds of spirits, gods and others, beginning with the highest heaven of Brahma, are places from where one must return, but he who attains me, the Supreme Spirit, will remain with Me for ever, will never be bound by any law of nature." ¹

Therefore in Vedanta, you do not find any special value of these heavens, nor does it deny their existence. Of course, in the heavens, the soul will stand face to face with God before His throne, and God will ask him: "Who art thou?" The soul will answer: "What Thou art that I am." But along with the higher conceptions of Vedanta, all these heavens and desires for heavens gradually become quite insignificant. This idea of a personal God, sitting on a throne and receiving the pious souls, we find in the ancient writings of the Hindus, I mean in the Vedas.

In the Zend Avesta, we find a similar idea of a personal God, Ahura Mazda, sitting on a throne and judging the conduct of the departed souls and rewarding or punishing them accordingly. The Hindus did not believe at first in any hell, but the Parsees did. In the Avesta, we read what happens when a man dies. The ideas of heaven and hell which we find in the Avesta influenced to a great extent the Jewish and later Mohammedan idea of heaven through the Jews. We know that the Old Testament is silent about the fate of the soul after death. In the New Testament, however, we find such ideas which perfectly coincide with the Persian descriptions. The Persians believe in the last day of judgment and a general resurrection when the victory of good over evil will be secured.

The ancient Hebrews did not bother their head much about what becomes of the soul after death. They believed that as God breathed life into man that breath, which they called

Nephesh, or *Neshama*, or *Ruach*, came from God and returned to him after the death of the body. But afterwards when the Jews came in contact with the Persians, they accepted their ideas. The Egyptians, as has been said before, had a belief that the soul of man is a 'double' like a shadow which remains as long as the body remains, but if the body be mutilated or destroyed then the soul will be mutilated or destroyed.

The Chaldeans also believed in a 'double' which will be annihilated if the bodies were destroyed. They expected a resurrection of the corpse. This belief we find amongst the Christians of today. The Greek philosophers, Pythagoras, Plato and their disciples believed in the immortality of the soul and in the theory of transmigration. Plato's ideas regarding the nature of the soul and his descriptions about what becomes after death are exactly the same as we find in the *Upanishads*. But Plato believed in a place of punishment for the evil-doers. Those who have done wicked deeds and sinful acts will go through sufferings and penalties, and when they are purified will obtain rewards for their good deeds and virtuous acts. Plato believed that the human soul may migrate to a human body, or to a beast and may return again to a human body.

Thus there are many speculations regarding the future existence. Now let us understand clearly what Vedanta has to say on this point. In the first place, Vedanta says that there is no such thing as death which means destruction. It admits death in the sense of a change of the forms. This kind of death is a constant attendant of life. Life is impossible without death which means the changes of the forms. It has been said before that we are dying every moment, and after every seven years it is said that our bodies completely renew all its constitutive elements. But still the form is preserved. Although every particle of the body is changed, still we continue to exist. Our continuity is not broken and we remember things and events that happened fourteen or twenty-one years ago. This continuity of the conscious agent cannot be explained by any physical or chemical laws. Then again Vedanta gives a death-blow to the materialistic theory by saying that thought or feeling or intelligence can never be produced by any mechanical or molecular motion. Motion produces motion and nothing else. Therefore motion of the atoms of the body will never produce feeling of the conscious state, but it is due to some other higher power which we call the thought-force, or the soul-power.

That power is neither yours, nor mine, but it exists in the nature. The whole universe is like an ocean of one living substance which contains the soul-power and the source of intelligence and consciousness. Our present consciousness is a reflection or manifestation of that infinite source of consciousness. In this ocean of the source of consciousness, there are rising innumerable waves of consciousness. If we study it minutely, we will see that each wave will continue to move on and on, and if the ocean be infinite, it will never stop, and it will move on from eternity to eternity and ultimately it will come back to the same place from where it started. Similarly our individual lives are nothing but so many individual waves of that infinite ocean. As each wave is moving onward to complete the infinite circle, so each one of us has a beginningless past and endless future.

The so called surface scientists of today do not admit it. They are very busy in thinking of the race, or of the species. They ignore the fact that if there were no individuals, there would not have been any race or species. The race, or the species, is an abstract concept which exists in our mind. It is the result of our generalization, while the individuals are the undeniable facts of the nature. Each of these waves start as the simple germs of life which contain all the potentialities and will be manifested in future and try to make those potentialities into actualities by expression or manifestation through the various forms. The process, by which it expresses, is called 'evolution' which means the change of the forms. This manifestation would have been impossible, if the forms were not changed, and if the old forms were not thrown aside, the new forms were not developed. Such being the case, this change of form is what we call death. Death is death of a particular form and not of the substance, nor of the force. Death of one form reproduces, or gives birth to another form as death of the seed-form produces the tree-form, and so forth. Again that which is reproduced will die, then reproduce another, and so on.

Therefore Vedanta says that which has birth must die, and that which is dead must be born again ¹. But there is no birth or death in the soul life. The soul life is eternal and immortal. It takes that form which it wants to take. The outward form has its cause in the mental form, and the mental or thought form is the result of our desire, or craving, or intense longing. So our future life will be determined by our desires, tendencies, longings, and works we do. Vedanta does not care for heaven or hell. It says that those who want to go to heaven will create a heaven, and will go there and enjoy. Those who think of hell will see hell. Those who think that they are sinners are really sinners. What thou thinkest, thou shalt become. So all these heavens and hells are the different conditions of our mind. They do not exist outside. As long as we are in the state of ignorance, we have such dreams. But when we realize oneness of our real nature with the universal Spirit, we are free from birth or death, and heaven or hell. Then our real nature returns to its pure conditions and reigns in its own glory all through eternity.

CHAPTER V

REBIRTH OF THE SOUL

Rebirth of the soul presupposes an existence of an intelligent entity and it is separable and independent of the gross physical body. By the term *Atman*, we mean that centre of the self-conscious activity which thinks, reacts on the personal or external phenomena, and consciously performs the functions of life. How this soul comes into existence and where does it go after the dissolution of the body are questions which rise in almost every human mind. They are as old as the appearance of the first man upon this earth.

From ancient times, the philosophers and the seers of truth of all countries and all nations have made various attempts to unravel the mysteries of the birth, life and death of the individuals upon this planet. Again and again it has been asked: Why do the animals and the human beings suddenly appear into existence, live for some time, fulfil certain desires, perform marvellous deeds, display some wonderful power and unexpectedly pass away; being forced, as it were, to leave their plans and projects of their lives half-finished and half-fulfilled? Why is it that some come into existence to die within a few days or weeks or years without obtaining an opportunity of knowing or gaining any experience in this vast world of phenomena? Are these events accidental, or is there a law that governs all these aimless events and phenomena that are happening every day before our eyes? Are these individual souls coming and going away without any purpose, or is there an aim behind all these appearances?

The human minds cannot rest contented until these questions of vital importance are solved. The materialistic thinkers of the Western countries have thrown overboard all such questions by denying the plan and purpose of the individual life as well as existence of the soul. They explain this phenomenon by saying that intelligence is caused by the non-intelligent forces of nature, governed by the mechanical laws and some have the gross forms and some have the finer ones, and the appearance of men and animals are caused by some anatomical combination of atoms and molecules in the process of cosmic evolution. According to them, there is no soul and no life after death; consequently, it is useless to ask such questions. It is a waste of time and energy to bother our heads regarding the existence of the soul or its birth and rebirth. But the materialistic explanation does not satisfy the minds of the seekers after truth, nor does it succeed in stopping all these questions which spontaneously rise in the human minds; on the contrary, it can be shown that the combination of atoms and

molecules can never produce consciousness and intelligence, and it is an important factor and only a property of the living soul.

It has been said that motion produces nothing but motion. It is impossible for the organic functions to produce the knower or the translator of those functions into sensations, ideas, and thoughts. In the organs, the function of motion will never be that which is not motion - like consciousness or intelligence. No consciousness or intelligence is an act of motion. If however, we study the phenomena of nature with the help of modern science, we understand that the phenomenon of accident or chance has no room in the chain of phenomena, but is guided by the universal law of cause and effect, which is known as the law of causation.

Every event that has occurred in the past or will happen in future, must have some definite cause behind it, and by denying this law, we not only deny the truth of nature, but we deny also the fundamental principle of modern science, which is "something cannot come out of nothing". Applying this truth to the facts of birth and life of the individuals, whether animal or human, we understand that they are subject to the law of cause and they are governed by the law of cause and effect; the cause of life on this earth, of all individuals is different in each; they are not accidental appearances, and they cannot be accidental. We inquire into the cause that produced the work; we inquire into the conscious activity of the individual: Does it exist outside of the effect, as some people believe that the cause of the human being is some supernatural being, dwelling outside of the universe? Does this cause exist outside of the effect, or does it form a part and parcel of the effect itself? This is most puzzling, and many of the advanced thinkers have failed in their efforts to understand the proper relation that exists between a cause and its effect. Upon the proper knowledge of the relation of a cause to its effect depends the solution of the problem.

All the scientific thinkers of the world come to the conclusion that the true cause of a thing does not lie outside of a thing, but lies in the thing itself, just as the cause of a tree does not lie outside of the tree, but in the tree itself. Cause means the unmanifested state of the effect, and effect means the manifested state of the cause. The whole tree lies in a dormant state in the seed. Nothing comes from outside of the seed, but it was in the seed, and the external conditions and environments only bring out that which existed potentially, or help in the manifestation of the latent power. The seed of an oak tree can never produce anything other than an oak tree, however powerful the environmental conditions may be. The environmental conditions cannot add to the seed one iota to that which did not exist in the seed from the very beginning. Therefore, that which we find in the effect, must have existed in the causal state from the very beginning. All the peculiarities as manifested in the effect.

and the tendencies that are to be found in the effect, are nothing but the expressions of the same peculiarities, the same tendencies and the same properties that existed in the germ of life from the very beginning.

Applying this truth to the phenomena of birth and life of the individuals on this earth, we can understand the process and every step of the evolution of the germ of life. Modern science tells us that a germ of life, by going through the process of evolution, can appear as a human being. If this be true, then everything that exists in a human being, must have existed in a germ of life from the very beginning in a potential state.

We shall have to admit that mind and all its functions, such as desires and tendencies, must have existed in that germ of life and must have remained latent until the time had come when these latent powers found favourable conditions for their expression. They have not come into existence out of nothing, because the law is - what exists must have existed from the very beginning; otherwise we would run the risk of committing the error of admitting the fallacious argument that something could have come out of nothing, and that something has come into existence from that state which had no trace of it whatsoever.

These germs of life are nothing but minute invisible centres of forces clothed with minute particles of etherial matter; and having no particular form, they can appear in any form, either human or animal, in order to manifest and express certain powers, lying dormant in those germs of life. Although these germs of life are subject to evolution, growth and progress, yet they are not destructible like the gross physical forms of the universe. These germs possess vital force as well as mental powers and intelligence. If you study the forms of the psychic powers of the microcosmic animal-tribes or micro-organisms, you will understand that the minute germs of life express power and intelligence, and even these germs of life manifest these powers through the gross forms, by manufacturing them; but that manufacture depends upon the law which governs the gross material universe. At the time of the dissolution of the gross forms, all these manifested powers conserve and remain latent in a minute subtle germ of life by the law of persistence of force, until the time comes when the conditions become favourable for the re-manifestation of those powers that have become dormant.

These germs of life are called by various names. We may call them the vehicles of consciousness. Some call them the individual souls or egos. The Indian philosophers describe them as subtle bodies (*sukshma-sharira*) of the individuals. These subtle bodies, being governed by the law of cause and effect and subject to the law of action and reaction, appear again either on this plane or on some other to express some powers, to manifest the

latent tendencies, and to gain knowledge and experience by coming in contact with these objects of sense which exist on the material plane. The reappearance of the germs of life in gross physical forms, whether animal or human, is called the 'manifestation' which is known and understood by the theory of rebirth of the soul, or doctrine of reincarnation, as it is called in the Vedanta philosophy.

By rebirth of the soul, Vedanta does not mean the same thing as transmigration or metempsychosis. In Western countries, there are many thinkers and writers who do not understand the difference that exists between the theory of transmigration and that of reincarnation or rebirth, and, consequently, they write and create great confusion in the minds of the readers.

But transmigration or metempsychosis has a meaning entirely different from that of reincarnation. It means the passing of the soul from one body after death into another, or, in other words, the soul after dwelling in one body for a certain length of time leaves it at the time of death and enters into another body which is ready to receive it, to gain experience and knowledge in those lives, or through those forms, or to reap the results of the works or deeds of the previous lives. It may enter into a human or an animal form. The doers that have performed the good deeds, will enter into the human forms or the angelic forms, but the doers that have performed the wicked deeds, will appear in animal forms, and remaining as animals for some time, will perhaps take the human forms of the higher animals. Thus transmigration means the revolution of the soul from body to body and excludes the idea of growth, progress and evolution from lower to higher states of consciousness.

The migrating substance, being of constant quantity and quality, chooses the forms and bodies according to the bent of its character or desires. It is governed by the law of causation, or by the law of action and reaction. In ancient Egypt, they believed that after the death of the body, the souls travelled for thousands of years from one body to another. Pythagoras, Plato and their followers believed in the theory of transmigration or metempsychosis of the soul. Pythagoras says:

"After death, the rational mind, having been freed from the chains of the body, assumes an etherial vehicle and passes into the region of the dead, where it remains, till it is sent back to this world, to inhabit some other body, human or animal. After undergoing successive purgations, when it is sufficiently purified, it is received among the gods, and returns to the eternal source from which it first proceeded."

Plato also believes in this theory of transmigration. He describes in an allegorical way how and where the souls go through the progress of transmigration. He describes in the *Phaedrus*:

"In the heaven, Zeus, the Father and Lord of all creatures, drives his winged car, ordering all things and superintending them....Thus when the soul is unable to follow and fails to behold the vision of Truth, she sinks beneath the double load of forgetfulness and vice, her feathers fall from her, and she drops to earth and is born again as human beings or as animals."

Plato says that ten thousand years must elapse before the soul can return to the place from which she came, because she cannot grow her wings in less time. After the first thousand years, the good and evil souls come together to choose their lives and instead of reaping the natural consequences of their previous deeds and misdeeds, they are allowed to choose the bodies according to the experience and bent of their character. Some being disgusted with mankind choose the animal bodies. They like to take the lives of eagles and other beings, while others desire again to take the bodies of the human beings to see what experience they can get.

Through this mythological theory, you can understand what idea is conveyed by the theory of transmigration or metempsychosis. In India, from ancient times the theory of transmigration prevailed, but it was different from that of Plato. The Hindus never believed that the souls were allowed to choose their lower grades of life according to the bent of character, but they were bound to reap the natural consequences of their deed and misdeeds and enjoy or suffer by coming in the bodies, either animal or human. But even today there are many who believe in the transmigration of the souls, that the souls after death can go back to the animals and live as the animals for some time and then go up to heaven and live there for some time. But the rational minds in India do not believe in the retrogression of the human souls into animal forms, but they believe in the doctrine of the rebirth of the souls or reincarnation.

The doctrine of reincarnation is based upon the theory of evolution and depends upon the law of cause and sequence, or that of action and reaction. These germs of life come into existence to fulfil certain powers and desires and to gain certain experience. They do not go back to the animal forms, but they live on the human plane and continue to exist on the human plane, being subject to the law of evolution. It admits the growth and progress through experience and knowledge of the phenomenal world. It is true, however, that there are passages in the writings of the *Upanishads* which apparently refer to the retrogression of

the human souls into the animal nature, but they do not necessarily mean that these souls will have to take animal forms ¹. How absurd it is to think that the human souls, after manifesting human powers, will choose a dog-body to manifest those powers? How can a lower animal contain that which is greater? But there may be some people who may live like animals even when they have the human bodies, as we may find among many people cats, dogs and snakes in the human form and they are often more vicious than natural cats, dogs or snakes. That kind of retrogression to the animal nature is the result of the wicked deeds and the wicked thoughts on the animal plane. These deeds and thoughts must produce their results in the manifestation of the animal nature. But this retrogression is only temporary. It helps the individual souls in gaining the experience on the animal plane only for a time, until they come out of those states, after which they will manifest the higher powers latent in those germs of life. The wicked thoughts and deeds are only our own mistakes, which we have committed on account of our ignorance. No one is born so to commit no mistakes whatever. So every mistake is a great teacher in the long run. We must understand this. But as it is impossible for a human soul to gain all experiences in one short period of one hundred years or more or less, we must have to admit the doctrine of evolution and consequently, the theory of rebirth or reincarnation of the souls, or of the germs of life, in order to fulfil the purpose of life and gain experiences in all the different phases of evolution.

Reincarnation of the soul does not mean the same thing as experienced by the Buddhist philosophers who deny the permanence of the soul entity, or the permanent entity of the soul. They say that an individual soul, after the death of the body, appears again in some other form, but that being is not the same being, but a being of a similar nature. That creates a difficulty. If we perform certain acts in order to reap the results of those acts, we need the same individual entity; we must admit that there is the continuation of the same being, otherwise, it would be just like one person eating food and another getting satisfaction. Then there would be no law and no harmony in this universe.

Those who do not believe in the doctrine of reincarnation believe either in the one-birth theory, or in the theory of heredity. But these two theories do not satisfy all the questions of the human minds and they do not explain the difference.

- Brihadaranyaka Upanishad, 6.2.16 "Those who do not know these two paths (dakshinayana and uttarayana) become insects and moths, and these frequently biting things (gnats and mosquitoes)."
- b. Chandogya Upanishad, 5.10.7 "Those who have been of good conduct here would quickly attain good birth birth of Brahmana, birth of Kshatriya, or birth of Vaisya. And those who have been of bad conduct here attain evil birth, the birth of a dog, the birth of a hog, or the birth of a Chandala (evil person)."
- c. Katha Upanishad, 2.2.7 "Some souls according to their karma and inclination of mind receive another birth, and some others again are degenerated into the states of trees and stones." Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

^{1.} In the Upanishads we find the following passages which mention the retrogression of human souls to lower and animal bodies:

Those who believe in the one-birth theory cannot explain why the individual souls come into existence, live for a certain time, and go away. But where do they go they do not know. They do not understand the purpose of life, which is to gain knowledge and experience, and they cannot understand why little children live and die within a few days or weeks or months without any opportunity of knowing anything. What purpose of life has been served by that? The Christian theologians, believing in the dogma of one-birth, explain that these little children, who die after birth, will go to heaven and be saved by the eternal Father and enjoy the celestial bliss throughout eternity. If the Christians only believe in this dogma, they ought to pray for death of their children at the time of birth, and ought to be thankful to the merciful Father when their little babies die and go to the graves over dead bodies. But that theory does not explain the difficulties, rather it takes for granted certain dogmatic solutions which do not explain any of the difficulties. They are neither rational, nor scientific.

Three great religions of the world, Judaism, Christianity and Mohammedanism still uphold that theory of life and death. They believe that we have come into existence, remain for a short time, and pass away either going to heaven or to the place of the eternal punishment. Those who believe in such theory cannot make their minds free from the impressions that they have received during their childhood. The followers of these three great religions believe that the souls come into existence, being created for the first time out of nothing, and continue to do certain works, being forced by the Creator, but they will have to enjoy or suffer all throughout eternity for the works performed during the short existence and which they were forced to do, not by their own free will, but by the will of the Creator who put that kind of free will, vicious or virtuous, into beings. It is as absurd as that one person who is forced to do all the acts of another person and is forced to receive the punishment or reward for the acts that are not done by himself. The only way out of this difficulty is to admit the permanence of the germ of life. If these souls exist today and continue to exist throughout eternity, they must have existed from eternity, and there must be the re-appearance of that which existed in some form or other.

There is another consideration and that is this - that the beginning, the ending and the continuing are the conception of the human minds that depend upon our conception of time, but we all know that time has no absolute existence ¹. It is only a form of knowledge of our nature, as related to the experience of nature outside ². This conception vanishes at the time of death, just as it does every night when we are in sound sleep. Can you remember, or do you have the idea of time, when your mind is absolutely resting in sound sleep?

45

In the Advaitic conception, time is regarded as an appearance and as an effect (*karya*) of *avidya* or *maya*. It has merely an empirical reality, but is obliterated or negated in the ultimate Reality.
Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

Immanuel Kant says in his <u>Critique of Pure Reason</u> (translated by Max Muller): "Time is nothing but the form of our internal intuition. Take away the peculiar condition of our sensibility, and the idea of time vanishes, because it is not inherent in the objects, but in the subject only that perceives them."
Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

No, you cannot, because that conception vanishes for the time being, and the souls wake up after the sleep of death, just in the same way as insects wake up in the spring after sleeping through the long winter, or as a chrysalis in the bed of a cocoon, spun by itself in the month of autumn. Nature teaches us this truth of rebirth by this resemblance between sleep and death and by the rejuvenation of a chrysalis in the spring. The souls wake up after the sleep of death and put on the new bodies in order to fulfil certain purposes and gain certain experiences to reap the results of their previous action, being subject to the law of cause and effect, just in the same way as we throw away our old clothes and put on new ones. Therefore it is said in Vedanta:

"As we throw away our old garments and put on new ones, so the individual ego or germ of life, after throwing away the old body, manufactures new form for the purpose of fulfilling the aim of life." ¹

Through this doctrine of reincarnation, the vast majority of people in India, China and Japan have found consolation in their lives and solved the extremely difficult problems that disturb the minds of the scientists and other thinkers of the world. Even in the Western countries, the philosophers like Plato, Plotinus, Proclus, Kant, Schelling, Fichte, Schopenhauer, Lessing, Bruno, Goethe and others; the poets like Wordsworth, Tennyson and others; the theologians like Dr. Julius, Mueller, Dr. Dorner, Ruckert and others have believed in the doctrine of transmigration, or rebirth of the soul. The ancient philosophers like Origen believed in the doctrine of reincarnation because this is the only doctrine that satisfies the human minds and answers all the questions on this subject scientifically and explains facts.

If the one-birth theory and heredity do not explain all the difficulties, we ought to try another theory which is better and more satisfactory. At one time the idea of reincarnation and rebirth of the soul spread so wonderfully amongst the Christians of ancient times that Justinian was obliged to pass a law in the Council of Constantinople in 538 AD to stop spread of this doctrine which would kill the Christian dogma. The law was this:

"Whoever shall support the mythical presentation of the pre-existence of the soul and consequently the wonderful opinion of its return, let him be Anathema."

Those who do not believe in the doctrine of reincarnation, try to explain these difficulties through the theory of heredity. But does this theory explain all the questions?

Suppose there is a young man twenty-five years old and he has inherited certain peculiarities and characteristics like talent for music, or possessing a crooked nose, or a peculiar giggle in his laugh, in which he resembles his grandfather. Now this young man,

according to the supporters of this theory, has inherited all these things from his grandfather who died six years before his birth. All these peculiarities were handed down to this young man before he was born and came into a human body and when he was like a protoplasmic cell or a jelly-like substance which has neither nose nor mouth ¹. Even at that time he inherited that queer giggle and crooked nose through his grandfather. This protoplasmic cell was smaller than a pin's head, and if you look at it through a microscope you cannot distinguish it from that of a dog, or a cat, or a bird, or a tree. Even then it had all these peculiarities. Before the brain and nerve centres began to take forms, the musical talents and tendencies, possessed by this young man, existed in the protoplasmic cell which came down from his grandfather.

Does it not seem to you absurd to think that one protoplasmic cell can contain all these tendencies, the crooked nose and giggle and talents, when there was neither brain, nor mouth, nor nose? There are many scientists who believe in the theory of heredity, but they cannot explain how one single cell can contain all the mental and physical traits and characteristics and peculiarities of father and grandfather, mother and grandmother. You have millions of cells in this human body. But what kind of cell is that which can reproduce all these powers and tendencies which are possessed by each one of us at present? This is the most difficult of all problems the scientific minds have encountered.

There have been many theories against this theory of heredity. We must not forget that an organism can inherit only where there is predisposition to inherit, otherwise it cannot. Supposing this theory of heredity is a truth, but what have we learned from it? We learned that the whole of the young man existed before his birth in the protoplasmic cell and the whole character was there. Does it not seem the same thing as the pre-existence of the human being? Really it seems, as the whole human nature must have existed in that germ of life in some form or other. All the powers, intelligence and desires must have also existed there; otherwise we will have to admit that these powers have come out of nothing which would be absurd and unscientific.

1. Swami Abhedananda passed away in 1939, many years before the science of genetics was discovered. However while genes can explain the heredity transmission of the crookedness of one's nose and even the peculiarity of one's voice, genetics still cannot account for the extraordinary genius that is evident in some of the world's most famous people. The making of a genius is best explained by the theory of reincarnation, which states that prodigies display exceptional skills because they have been honing them over many lifetimes. This is possible because according to Vedanta philosophy, the <u>same mind accompanies us from birth to birth</u>, and so our skills are never lost but travel with us to the next life as well. When the right external conditions are available, these latent *Samskaras* or tendencies present in the mind, manifest.

It is for this reason that Swami Vivekananda has said "I am persuaded that a leader is not made in one life. A leader is born (with the skill of leadership). For the difficulty is not in organisation and making plans; the test, the real test, of the leader, lies in holding widely different people together along the line of their common sympathies. And this can only be done <u>unconsciously</u>, never by trying." In other words, a leader is a person who has been honing the skill of leadership over many lifetimes and not just one. Their unique ability to unite many differing people under one common umbrella therefore comes unconsciously and naturally to them without having to try too hard. (Footnote by Pulkit Mathur, The Spiritual Bee.)

Again the theory of heredity cannot explain all the causes which produce geniuses and prodigies. On the contrary, the doctrine of rebirth of the soul or reincarnation explains all these things satisfactorily. Why was it that the shepherd Mangiamelo could calculate like automatism when he was five years of age? The child Zerab Cloburn, when he was under eight years old, could answer the most difficult of mathematical problems without any figures. Mozart, the great musician could repeat a sonata when he was of four years age and when he was eight years of age he wrote an opera. Hoffman could play music beautifully, before he was ten years of age. Blind Tom did not inherit his powers from his parents. He was a slave and born of slave parents on a plantation. One day he went to his master's parlour when the family was at dinner and he sat at the piano and began to play music which he had never heard. But in music he was a master. He could compose music by himself and play his own compositions for three quarters of an hour and after once hearing music, he could repeat it note by note. He never had a lesson and could not have understood lessons. These illustrations disprove the theory of family heredity or the theory of 'cumulative heredity'. Those, who believe in the theory of heredity, say that genius is the result of cumulative heredity which presents itself by gradual degree, i.e., from less germs to greater and still greater and so on. But in the whole history of the genealogy of geniuses, in all the greater examples like Shakespeare or Lincoln or Jesus or Buddha or Sankaracharya, we do not find any trace of genius in the family of these great men, on the contrary, their parents and grand-parents did not show such powers.

There had been many shepherds in Galilee at that time, but Jesus the Christ was the only one who could not inherit anything from the shepherd nature of his parents and relatives. There had been many young princes and kings in India, but there was only one Buddha. Why was it? Does the theory of heredity explain all these instances? No.

If we do exist now, we cannot think of our annihilation or destruction. Destruction in the sense of annihilation is impossible in this world of reality. If we exist today, we cannot think of our nonexistence either before or after. Where did the soul exist before the birth of this body, no one can tell. We cannot find the beginning of the soul or its end.

There are some objections that have been raised by many who do not believe in the doctrine of reincarnation. One question had been asked very often: "If we did exist before, why do we not remember it?" If we examine our own lives, we do not remember many things, but still we know we did them. Do you remember what you did on the eighth of February, twenty-five years ago in the afternoon? Perhaps you will say you do not know, because you cannot remember. Our memory is only that power of the mind by which we can recall the latent impressions and ideas stored up in the mind. Memory grows and if we develop our memory, we will remember many things which we do not know at present.

In India, there are many Yogis who can remember their past experiences. In ancient Greece, it is known that ancient philosophers came to India to find out the secret of their wonderful knowledge which the Hindus possessed. Some people say that if they could remember the past, how happy they would be; but perhaps if they did, they would make a bad use of their present.

If you knew that you were going to have some great misfortunes within a few days or months, would you be equal to performing the duties on hand at present? Rather you would constantly remember those misfortunes. We should not try to satisfy the idle curiosity, by trying to know what we were in the past, but let us make our present useful, and do such acts that will help us in becoming better than what we are today. Make the best use of our present until the time comes when the higher illumination will reveal to us all the past and future like a panorama before our spiritual eyes, then we shall be able to say as Sri Krishna said to Arjuna in the *Bhagavad Gita*:

"Both you and I have passed through many births; you know them not, while I know them all." ¹

CHAPTER VI

THE SOUL AND ITS DESTINY

The question of the soul and its destiny spontaneously arises in all minds whether cultured or uncultured. No other question touches the hearts of men and women so deeply. No other problem arouses their interest so much, or sets their minds to thinking, as this universal problem concerning the nature of the human soul and its destiny. From ancient times, the philosophers, the sages, the thinkers and the prophets have tried their best to solve this great problem to answer this momentous question.

In their attempts, they arrived at various conclusions from time to time. Some of their conclusions appealed to some minds. Some say that there is no such thing as the soul which can exist independent of the body and which is separate from the body, while others deny its existence entirely. Those who believe in the existence of the soul as an independent thing from the body, say that it will continue to exist after death, i.e., it is immortal. But this question does not disturb the minds of those who deny the existence of the soul, or believe that the soul is not independent of the body, but it depends on the body as long as the body lives, or the soul lives in the body. There may be some persons among us who may be positively sure that they have no soul.

But all the religions aim to lead the human mind to the belief that the soul is eternal, that it continues to exist after death, and that it enjoys the pleasure and happiness of heaven, or suffers from punishment. But such ideas are based upon the scriptural texts, or upon the writings or sayings of some great sages or seers.

The popular belief among the Christians is that immortality of the soul, or the immortal life, was brought into light by Jesus the Christ and that before the advent of Jesus this idea was unknown to the world and no one can attain the eternal life except through Jesus. But when we study the ancient pre-Christian religions and their scriptures, we find that this idea of eternal life was almost universally known and was accepted among the ancient Egyptians, Chaldeans, Hindus, Zoroastrians, Romans, Greeks, and Scandinavians. In fact, the study of the ancient religions of the world disproves the Christian dogma that Jesus the Christ alone has brought eternal light into life and that no one can attain heaven except through him. He might have enlightened the minds of certain Jewish tribes who did not believe in the scriptures, or who were in ignorance of them. But, as regards bringing this eternal light into life for the first time, we cannot accept.

Although the vast majority of the followers of different religions believe in an eternal soul which is immortal and continues to exist after death, still there is a large number of advanced thinkers who question the authority of these scriptural statements. After making independent researches, they have come to the conclusion that there is no such thing as a soul, or that the soul is one with the body, or the result of forces, or the material particles of the body. They have sufficient strong arguments to support their conclusions.

In the same manner, the scientists have strong arguments to prove their theories. They have left no stone unturned to discover a satisfactory answer or result to this great problem. Fine instruments of all kinds have been invented to capture the secret, or to discover that which passes out of the brain at death. The dissected brains of the animals have been most carefully examined and minutely watched to discover what is it that passes out at the time of death from the human body. But, alas! all such attempts, or all these human efforts have failed. All these human efforts to capture that invisible something, or the existence of the visible magnetism of animals in the human form, have failed and this has driven many seekers after the soul to the conclusions of the agnostics, the atheists, and the materialists.

This inability to capture the soul has made many people deny the existence of the soul altogether, or its continuance after death; they cannot believe in anything that is beyond the sense of perception. No arguments can convince them. They try to extract intelligence from the matter. They say that intelligence, consciousness and mind are produced by the material body. They believe that consciousness and mind have no independent existence of their own and they last so long as the body lasts and after the dissolution of the body nothing is left, because they cannot see with their sense power the intelligent soul which passes out of the body. But, at the same time, no one can prove that matter and insentient forces of nature have ever produced consciousness or intelligence.

If we deny the existence of the soul as independent of the body or as something which rules over the body and regulates and directs the organic functions of the body, then we are immediately confronted with the ethical, psychological and philosophical difficulties. The denial of existence of the soul as independent of the body will destroy the ethical fitness of things as if we were nothing but machines.

If we say that our life passes out like the snuff of a candle, then why should we struggle for an existence and why worry through troubles, miseries and sufferings? What would be the use of living a virtuous life if we do not continue to exist after this gross body is dead and gone? Why should we not kill our neighbours and get everything out of them that we can in order to enrich ourselves? Posterity will take care of itself. Every individual will be extremely selfish and there will be no standard of morality.

If we deny the existence of the soul which lasts after the body is dead and gone, then what is the use of building up our character and what good will it do, if all individuals are going to pass away into eternal oblivion? All the troubles in acquiring an education will be in vain. The love for wife and children grown up through general self-sacrifice, will be cheated out of its full development. Are we then only playing a long and desperate game with worthless counters if our desires are going to be all for nothing? Is it possible? No, because if this be true, then each and every one of us ought to commit suicide and get rid of all these sufferings and miseries. We ought to throw all the scriptures into the ocean and demolish all temples and churches and live like beasts on the sense plane. If our souls are not immortal, or if we deny the existence of the soul, there would be no reason to live a virtuous life or for training our children up righteously.

This ethical difficulty will never be removed by those who do not admit the existence of the soul as independent of the body. Then again, in psychology, we will have to face the same difficulty if we deny the existence of the soul. The old materialistic theory that the soul or mind is the result of the functions of the brain is dead and gone. It is not for sensible people any more. At the same time if we deny the existence of the soul, we shall not be able to explain this self-consciousness and ever-working functions of the brain which can be translated into sensible ideas and thoughts, and we shall not be able to explain by what force are they developed into a harmonious whole, by what force are they brought into the form of memory, and what force acts on the brain cells to produce the conscious identity of the individual ego. We have the sense of sight, the sense of hearing and the sense of touch, etc. Can the vibrations of ether produce any one of these senses? Can any mesmeric force produce the sense of seeing or hearing? It is simply impossible. No one has ever seen it. These and many other psychological difficulties will have to be removed.

The self-consciousness has never been produced by the combination of ether or matter, or by electricity. Again when we analyse this whole material psychologically, what do we gather? The psychological researches lead us to first principles, matter, knowledge, and consciousness. The whole universe can be resolved into these great principles: first, matter, then knowledge or force, and third, consciousness. Of these the matter is immutable or immortal, and psychological researches have also proved that matter has neither been created by anybody, nor are the forces. Matter is indestructible and non-creatable, and they are conserved and continue to exist. If this conservation of matter and forces be true, then we naturally ask why the third principle, through which alone the recognition of all are known, is not also conserved? If matter and knowledge are conserved and if they are uncreated and indestructible, then how do you know it? You know it by your consciousness and your intelligence. Can you know it by any other force? The recognition of matter and force depends upon your own consciousness, and if those two be conserved, then how is it that your own consciousness will not be conserved? If matter and knowledge be uncreated and indestructible, then how can we prove that your consciousness is creatable and destructible? Where did you get that knowledge from? How did you know this if you had no consciousness and no intelligence?

Here we must not forget that matter and knowledge form only one half of the universe, and the other half is the subjective world. If we were all unconscious at this minute, the existence of this room would be nothing to us. We know of it through our consciousness. The existence of matter and the existence of knowledge must depend upon the consciousness of the individual. If one of them must be conserved, the other must be conserved also.

If we analyse the phenomena of the universe and get to the principles that have manufactured these phenomena of the universe, we come to the conclusion that both matter and knowledge are conserved, and if they are conserved, your intelligence and consciousness are also conserved. In order to remove these difficulties, we are bound to admit the existence of the soul, independent of the body, which is the source of consciousness and intelligence in us, by which we know our own existence and the existence of other things of the universe. The soul cannot be produced by matter, as matter produces nothing but matter. Newton discovered gravitation, but gravitation never discovered Newton.

If you believe in the permanency of your own existence, you yourself are, of course, one with the body, then you think of yourself as the body. But it is very obvious that the body is constantly changing. Then where is that permanency in our bodies? This material form or the gross physical organism will be destroyed. Then where will lie our permanency? Not in the body, but in the soul. It is the sense of "I", which will continue to exist after this body, is gone.

Having understood this solution of the problem concerning the existence of the soul, we question: if the soul continues to exist, what will become of it afterwards, and what will be its destiny? Modern science does not help us in answering the question of the destiny of the soul. It is too deep. We can only guess from the premises upon which the induction can be formed. We get the answer from the Vedanta, which is most universal and most unsectarian.

It tells us that the soul, which produces the gross material form, is separable from the body and can exist independent of the body. It possesses the sense powers, life-force, mind and intellect as well as the impressions of its physical and mental activities, and this soul manufactures the body through the mediums of parents.

Now a question may arise: if the soul continues to exist after death, does it lose its individuality? We get the answer from the Vedanta that it retains its own individuality. It can remember where it was, who were its parents, etc.

Modem spiritualism and the result of the psychological researches have given us ample proof of the individual soul after death. Those who are highly advanced in spiritual life, do not care for their connections with earthly regions, but they rise higher above them. Souls retain their individuality, and can go to any realms. They can go to the angels and to heaven.

According to Vedanta, there are many heavens, and not only one. By heaven we understand the realm of an existence, where we go to enjoy the pleasures of life. Those who aspire after the higher spiritual life will seek higher things. They will go onward and upward, until they are one with the infinite Being.

The Christian and Mohammedan ideas of heaven and hell are the same. Their heavens are the place of eternal happiness and glory for the just, and hell a place of eternal punishment for the wicked. But, in the Vedanta, you will find that it is not so.

Those souls which have desires for earthly things will have to come down to earth. Some souls will remain earth bound for a certain length of time, say one hundred, or a thousand years. The conditions will vary, and those souls, which will have earthly desires to be a king or emperor, or to have a large fortune, a large family or any other kind of ambition, will have to come down on this plane. They will be born again. So the destiny of the human soul is determined by the thoughts and desires and tendencies. We create our own destiny by our thoughts and desires and deeds. What we are today are the results of our past existence. God is not responsible for our conditions. We ourselves are responsible, and if we understand this secret mystery of the soul, then we can mould our future in such a manner that we will never go down, but rise higher and higher, until we have reached the goal of our existence.

Those who perform good deeds and lead a virtuous life will come down on the human plane and be born again, until they rise higher in their aspirations and desires, and those that have low tendencies and died in absolute ignorance, will become idiots, subject to suffering and misery for a certain length of time, until the higher perceptions will be opened to them. So we must try our best to perform good deeds to build up our characters and to lead a virtuous life, and then we will enjoy eternal happiness and immortality even in this life.

CHAPTER VII

PRE-EXISTENCE AND REINCARNATION

Most mysterious is the government concerning life and death of individuals upon this plane. From the very ancient times, the philosophers and the thinkers of all countries have tried to unravel this great mystery of nature.

Again and again it has been asked - why do people come into existence upon this plane for a short time? Some are born and pass out within a few weeks, or a few months, or a few years, without having any opportunity to fulfil all the desires they had, as if they are forced by some external power to leave this world unexpectedly before they have completed their desires and experiences. Why is this? Why do some people come and live for a short time and others live longer? Are these all accidental? Do the souls come here and pass out without any definite purpose and without being governed by any law? Or is there a law behind all these appearances? This question rises in our minds and each individual must solve this problem, otherwise he or she cannot remain contented. The mind wants solution, because our tendency is to know. So we must know, and we must solve all the problems of life and death.

When we turn towards different classes of thinkers, we find that there is a class of thinkers who are known as materialists or scientists or agnostics. They deny the existence of the soul as an intelligent self-conscious entity, but they try to explain everything through the material forces which are governed by the mechanical laws. Some of them have gone so far as to assert that appearance and disappearance of the human beings on this planet are nothing but the results of some fortuitous or accidental combination of matter, or of disintegration of material particles which are caused by the natural process of the evolution of matter. There is no such thing as soul, there is no such thing as purpose of life, as all these are coming accidentally. And these appearances of human bodies or beings at the time of death cease to exist.

But this explanation does not satisfy the minds of the seekers after truth. The questions are not solved. In the innermost soul of our souls, we know that it is wrong, it is not true, and matter has not produced intelligence and consciousness. We do not see matter producing intelligence and consciousness. It would be very difficult for any scientist to prove that the combination of matter, or the material particles, which are governed by mechanical laws, can produce intelligence and consciousness. On the other hand, it is a scientific truth that motion produces nothing but motion. But the intelligent soul or consciousness is not a motion; neither is it a result of motion, but it is something distinct from motion. It is the knower of motion and all the activities. Motion produces nothing but motion. It does not produce the knower who has all the power of translating the molecular activities of the brain cells into sensations, perceptions, ideas, desires and thoughts. All these are the living properties of a living soul which functions in the mind. No one has proved that brain creates the mind or intelligence, but, on the contrary, the great thinkers of the world have understood the secret of truth concerning the relation between the mind and the brain.

For instance, Dr. Thompson, in his book <u>Brain and Personality</u>, explains that brain is only the instrument, but the personality or the mind, or the intelligent self-conscious entity is overshadowing the brain. He compared the brain with a violin. Just as the violin cannot produce any music without a musician, so music is not in the violin, but is in the mind of the musician and the musician must bring it out by playing upon the strings which would touch our souls. Violin itself cannot do it. Similarly the personality is like the musician who is playing upon the strings of the nerves and the brain cells from outside, as it were, overshadowing it and producing harmony or discord. If the musician is not well-trained, well-advanced and well-developed, instead of bringing out harmony, he creates discord just as a child who plays upon the violin instead of producing any music he would create discord, which would be a very undesirable thing.

In this way, if we analyse, we see that our soul, the self-conscious entity and thinker, is not the result of activity of the brain-cells, but is something distinct and immaterial. But yet it has the power to control and govern all the material forces that are under its dominion. If we understand that there is some entity which is our real self and possesses all the desires and thoughts and ideas, then we wish to know: what is that something that is self-conscious? Where does it exist? How does it produce this physical body and organism?

Well, in the first place, if we study nature, we find that the law of causation is inexorable and omnipotent. The law of cause and effect governs everything in this universe. Every effect must have a cause. If we deny the law of causation, we not only deny the truth of nature, but also destroy the fundamental principle of modern science which is that something cannot come out of nothing. This theory has been well-advanced by the *Sankhya* of Kapila. In fact, non-existence cannot produce existence, or existence cannot come out of non-existence. If we exist today, we must have had a cause. That cause is something, and not non-existence. In other words, we have not come out of nothing. Applying this truth to the phenomena of life and death, we understand that all the appearances of the human beings and the animals on this plane have definite causes. Having understood thus so far, we want to trace the kind of

cause that produces all these human activities or the activities of an intelligent being. What is the cause that produces all these things? Is that cause outside of ourselves, or is it in us? This is another clear understanding of the relation of the cause to the effect which is absolutely necessary for the proper solution of any problem that we have to face.

Instead of going into the details of the methods by which the ultimate scientific truth has been established, let us take it for granted that this scientific truth that the cause of a thing is not outside of the thing itself, but is in the thing is scientific and correct. But it is a fact that the cause of a tree is not outside of the tree, but is in the tree itself; the cause of a human being is not outside of the human being, but is in the human being. So we do not have to trace the cause outside of us. In other words, the cause is the unmanifested state of the effect and the effect is the manifested state of the cause. The whole tree remains in the seed in an invisible state or in a potential form. The environments only give the favourable conditions, under which what is latent in the seed becomes actual and real and manifested. The environments do not give any of the powers to the seed which were not already there. The environments simply give the proper conditions. If we understand this clearly, then we find that the environments do not create, but the creative power is in the seed itself, and that seed does not manifest the causal state, until it has taken the form of the tree.

Now apply this truth to the human being, or to its manifestation. If the cause is in us, then what is that cause? That cause must be something which contains all the peculiarities which a human being can manifest in his lifetime. The cause retains all the potentialities of the forces or powers of the mind, of the thought, of the desire, and of the intelligence just as the seed of an oak tree contains all the peculiarities of an oak tree ¹. Those conditions or powers which are latent in the seed of an oak tree, cannot be changed by the environments, but they will become manifested into an oak tree and not in a chestnut tree. This is a real fact. This has been scientifically proved. Therefore the causal state of a human being will manifest in the future and that causal state is invisible just as we do not see in a seed all the latent tree that is already there.

The seed of a banyan tree, for instance, is as small as a mustard seed, and if it is given to you, you would not know what it is, but it contains a gigantic banyan tree which will cover the area of a mile in circumference and will produce, perhaps, seventy-five or a hundred trunks of one tree.

In this and the next couple of paragraphs, Swami Abhedananda is referencing specifically to these mental traits which are not genetically inherited, when he talks about "powers of the mind, of the thought, of the desire, and of the intelligence". For more details please see his discussion in the earlier Chapter 5 – Rebirth of the Soul. (Footnote by Pulkit Mathur, The Spiritual Bee.)

^{1.} We know now, that the cause of our <u>physical traits</u> such as the colour of our hair, eyes etc., lies in the genes we inherit from our parents. But genes even today, cannot explain <u>mental traits</u> such as extraordinary intelligence (think Einstein), exceptional musical or artistic talents, which are present in many people from their very childhood. As we have discussed in the footnote on page 47, these mental traits of geniuses can only be properly accounted for by the phenomena of reincarnation.

There is such a tree in the Botanical Garden near Calcutta. One tree covers an area of a mile and has seventy-five trunks. It shoots the roots which afterwards grow into the trunks of the tree. That gigantic tree, which would last for thousands of years like one of the big trees here in Mariposa Grove, is contained in that seed. No other seed will produce that. All the peculiarities of a banyan tree are in that seed.

Similarly the invisible germ which you may call an amoeba or bioplasm or protoplasm and which will afterwards appear as a human being, contains all the potentialities, of that human being in the invisible state. If we deny this, then we run the risk of committing that blunder that something has come out of nothing. But the scientific truth is that whatever exists in the end, existed also in the beginning. If in the end we find a human being like Abraham Lincoln or Shakespeare or Plato, then the germ, or the seed form which has manufactured that particular manifestation, contained all those powers in an invisible state. You may call it a germ, or you may call it by any other name. Names do not make much difference. Leibnitz called it Monad. Scientists call it the germ of life. The Vedanta philosophy calls it the subtle body. The subtle bodies are the invisible germs or nucleii which contain the mind, the intelligence, the reasoning, the power of thinking, the will power, and all the senses i.e., the powers of seeing, hearing, smelling, tasting, touching, and so forth. All these powers are there in the germ of life. It also contains the impressions of the previous manifestation, and those impressions are embedded in that substance. That substance is etherial or electric i.e., the minute particles of the matter which are held together by that force which is called the life-force, or the vital energy.

Now this subtle being is the real man. It appears in the form of a human body which it manufactures and lives in. Just as an oyster or a crab would manufacture a shell as a dwelling house, so this germ of life or the subtle body of the individual, whether it is human or animal, takes only the form according to its desires, or according to its tendencies. The human germ of life will manufacture a human body, and, if it desires to be of any particular animal form, it manufactures that form. It has no particular form, but it can take any form. This subtle body contains everything. So we do not gain anything from outside. It is already there. It has infinite potentialities and infinite possibilities.

At the time of death, the individual germ of life contracts all its forces and powers, and all these are centralized into a nucleus and that nucleus retains the life, the mind, the powers of the senses, and all the impressions and experiences that the individual has gathered. Then, in course of time, when the favourable conditions come, it manufactures another form.

Parents are nothing but the principal channels through which these germs of life, or the subtle bodies find proper conditions of manufacturing human beings by obeying the laws of nature. Parents do not create the soul. In fact, the parents cannot give birth to a child according to their will. It would be an absolute impossibility. Unless the soul comes to them and nourishes the germ, it would be an absolute impossibility.

These subtle bodies are like water globules. As a water globule may remain in the form of water in the Ocean, so it may go up and become invisible in a vapoury state in a cloud and then come down again in the form of a drop of rain. Then it may remain again in the mud, or it may be frozen into a solid substance when you can handle the form of a solid substance, or you can handle the form of a piece of ice. But it is never destroyed. It may become invisible or visible. These conditions do not change the globule of water. It is there and this globule of water of the subtle body arises in the beginningless past in the ocean of the eternal life, and retains the reflection of the supreme Spirit in the form of intelligence. It may appear on this earth, or it may go to another planet. It has the power to travel with the speed of light. It can follow the way of light from one planet to another with vibrations or waves of the ether. It can shoot out instantaneously. It has such a power. And this subtle body may remain on this plane in the human form. Then after death, it might go to heaven or to some other planet, or remain in an invisible state until the proper conditions and suitable environments are found. Then it gravitates according to their desires.

This whole process is governed by a law and this law is called the law of reincarnation or remanifestation of the subtle form in the gross physical form. This law is inexorable. No matter what we want to do, or whether we admit its existence or not, it is working just the same. The same forces which have brought us here this time will bring us here again. Who can stop it? Your will or my will would not stop it until we understand this law, outgrow it, and go beyond it. So we may think that we deny it or we do not want to believe such stuff. Well, the ignorant fool may say that we do not believe in gravitation and deny its existence, but still his whole being is held up by the force of gravity. He could not live without it. The molecules of his body would fly asunder if there were no force of gravity to hold them together. He could not live on the surface of the earth if he were not held down by the force of the gravity. Still he can deny it. But his denial amounts to nothing and simply betrays his own ignorance that he does not understand the law. In the same way, anyone who denies reincarnation betrays his own ignorance, because he does not know the law.

Those who do not believe in reincarnation, believe in the one-birth theory. Two great religions, Judaism, with its offshoots Christianity and Mohammedanism, and Zoroastrianism, rattier believe in the theory of one birth, and try to explain all the inequalities and diversities

which we find among us. But they do not succeed. They believe that the souls of the individuals have been created out of nothing for the first time, and some of them tell us that they will continue to exist for ever. Now, how is it possible that anything that has a beginning at one end, will continue to exist for ever at the other? It is absurd. It is an absolute impossibility. Anything that has a beginning must have an end. If you believe that the individual souls that have been created out of nothing for the first time, will continue to live for ever, then you have to admit that these souls were not created out of nothing, but they existed before.

In Genesis, you read in the first chapter that God created man after His own image. In the second chapter, you read that He made man out of the dust of the earth, and blew the breath of life into his nostrils. There are the two statements. There were two stories, which were prevalent amongst the Phoenicians of ancient times and the ancient Jews. The writer of Genesis accepted those two stories and put them together in the chapters. But the two ideas are radically opposed. Which will you accept? But if God created man after His own image, how did He create him? Well, the second said that God created him out of the dust of the earth. But it should be remembered that earth is the material insentient matter and so it does not explain how the breath of life came into existence. All these difficulties that arise in our minds after studying these statements cannot be solved in any other way unless we accept the idea that the spirit or intelligence or consciousness was never created, but the body was created or manufactured through the process of evolution. As the breath of life was never created, so the mind and soul were never created, but the soul retains the image of the Lord, or the supreme Spirit. In other words, as Vedanta explains, the breath of life contains the reflection of the supreme Spirit that is all-intelligence.

We cannot, explain anything by the theory of one-birth, or by that of creation of the soul out of nothing because if God creates the soul out of nothing, why does He make so many varieties of characters? Some are born to enjoy and to show their genius and wonderful talents. Others are kept to manifest nothing but ignorance and other weaknesses. How can you explain those things? A person may have five children. One might be a murderer, another might be a genius, another might be an artist, and so on. What makes all these inequalities and diversities? If God creates each one separately at the time of the birth of the body, then who is to be held responsible? Not the parents, but God Himself. Why could not He do better? That question must rise in our minds and we must try to find the solution.

Then another question rises: why do children come into life to live only for a short time, for a day, or for a few weeks? Why do they pass away without gaining any opportunity to earn anything, or gain experience in this vast world of phenomena? Who is responsible and what

becomes of those children? Well, there might be a theory that they would go to heaven and enjoy eternal life. For those who could believe that story, it is better to pray for death of their children before they commit any more harm, and thank the Lord that their little bodies are covered by the grave. I would do that if I had little children and believed in such a thing. Why should they go through all these miseries and troubles? If we could go to heaven straight by dying in childhood, we would rather die than live. So this theory does not explain anything, but makes it appear to us as absurd and irrational.

Then if you admit the theory of predestination and grace, that also does not help us very much. If we are predestined and pre-ordained to do these things, and if a murderer is preordained to murder somebody and before he had any will it was all arranged by the Creator, then why should we hang the murderer? We should hang the Creator, because He is responsible. Therefore we cannot find any solution.

Then there is another creed of heredity. Does heredity explain all these inequalities and diversities? No, it cannot. How can heredity explain the cases of prodigies and geniuses? Take the case of the young Polish boy who is a great chess player. He is only eight years old. He is now in New York, I think. He began to play chess when he was five years old and has beaten all the great experts and champions of London and Paris after playing thirty-three games at a time and defeating them all. What mental power does he possess? He has brothers and sisters. They are not uncommon. Neither are the parents in any way uncommon. He is the only one. How can heredity explain that?

Take the case of Goethe, the great German poet. He was an octogenarian poet and philosopher. When he was ten, he was a master of Greek and sixteen other languages. There is a Frenchman now in Columbia who knows more than a dozen languages. He knows more than his teacher can teach him. The theory of heredity cannot explain these cases of prodigies and geniuses.

But there is another theory that would explain them. Whatever a person has manifested in this life, he had it at the time of his birth from the very beginning, i.e., he gained the power in his previous life. So any talent or genius is only the expression of all that was developed in the particular soul. I saw a girl who was six years old in New York City. She could play on piano Bach and Beethoven and all the difficult music with such an ease and such a perfection that you would be surprised. She could hardly span the octave and yet she was playing this rapid music with most wonderful expression. Her mother was with her and she was not a musician. Her father was never a musician. How do you explain that? Heredity cannot explain. But we can explain that theory easily. Because this child was a musician and

the soul of this child was a musician in her previous incarnation, and now she has manufactured another form with a little brain. Her brain is not developed enough to understand such music, but the musician is overshadowing the brain and manipulating all these strings of the brain and the nerve-cells and producing all this wonderful music. That is the only rational explanation.

If we deny pre-existence of the soul, we cannot explain immortality. Immortality does not mean that it has a beginning at one end and endless existence on the other. Pre-existence explains the continuity of life in the past, and immortality explains the continuity of life in the future. Immortality means an eternal life. You cannot accept one half and deny the other half, because each would be incomplete. So the complete soul-life means eternal past and eternal future. The soul was never born and was never created out of nothing. It is the grandest theory and it is satisfying. It is comforting that we have not come into existence out of nothing, but we have everything in the beginning. If we are the images of God, then we possess all the powers. God was not a substance that came into existence suddenly like a mushroom, but He is eternal, and naturally our soul-life must be as eternal as God's life. In fact, we are parts and parcels of God.

In this way, if we understand how great and grand and beautiful we are, we do not have to accept any such idea that after death we will discontinue to live. But, on the contrary, we can say that so long as we have desires and those desires that are to be fulfilled on the human plane under our present conditions, we will come back to this plane. If our desires change, we will go to other planes. For instance, if I have a desire to become an artist like Michael Angelo and if I in this life cannot become a Michael Angelo and still possess the desire in my soul, do you think that desire will have no fulfilment or manifestation? Nothing will stop the fulfilment of that desire, because that desire will bring me back to the proper environments and other conditions where I will gravitate and then start from my childhood with a tendency to become an artist. Nothing can stop me and I will continue so long as that desire is strong. I will continue until I become a master artist. And that is the law of nature. So whatever desire we possess, if that desire be strong, then that desire will mould our future, create our destiny, and make us accordingly.

This idea has been given in the Bhagavad Gita:

"Whatsoever desire is very strong during the lifetime becomes predominant at the time of death, and that desire moulds the creation of the subtle body of the individual and that determines the future of the individual." ¹

So that gives us an opportunity to find out what we shall be in future. We will make our future by our thoughts and desires. If you desire to be a great politician, you will be a great politician. If you desire to be a great saviour, you will be a great saviour. If you desire to be a great artist, you will be a great artist. In fact, you live in the eternity. Do not despair. If you cannot be a great artist in this life, there are hundreds of lives coming to you, till you get that desire. And when one set of desires is fulfilled, another will spring up. As each individual soul possesses infinite potentialities and possibilities, so it can express an infinite variety of manifestation. Because we are all eternal and are parts of the Infinite.

The idea of pre-existence of soul and reincarnation has settled the questions and solved the problems of life and death amongst the ancient philosophers like Plato, Pythagoras and the Neo-Platonists and also amongst the poets like Wordsworth, Tennyson, Walt Whitman and others. Walt Whitman said:

"As to you, Life, I reckon your are the leavings of many death. No doubt I have died myself ten thousand times before."

He learned this truth through the study of Vedanta, just as Emerson learned the belief in reincarnation from the study of Vedanta. It is also true that there is no other philosophy which manifests this idea so strongly as Vedanta does. Of course, Plato and Pythagoras got their ideas from India through Persia and Egypt. The Hindus understood the secret of this law of pre-existence and reincarnation even at the dawn of human civilization on the earth. That idea spread among the early Christians until the time of Justinian, who anathematized all those that believed in this idea, in the Council of Constantinople in 638 AD. He said:

"Whoever believes in this wonderful doctrine of pre-existence of the soul, let him be anathema."

The churches from that time have not accepted it although it is in the Old Testament as well as in the New Testament. It does not preserve their scheme of salvation. But outside of the orthodox people, there are millions of people in the world who find comfort in this idea like the Buddhists, Japanese, Hindus, and poets and thinkers of all countries. Therefore it is the rational solution and it explains all the causes of inequalities and diversities and the appearance of the prodigies. Heredity or the theory of one-birth, as explained by the orthodox theologians, does not explain or solve the problem of life.

Now you may have noticed that there are persons who cannot accept this theory of preexistence and reincarnation, because they cannot remember. They say, well, if we existed before, why do we not remember what we did ourselves? Do you remember what you did in your childhood? Would you say you did not exist then, because you cannot remember? Certainly not. What you did when you were a child? All the existence you have gone through and the details have passed out of your memory, but the knowledge you have gathered through those experiences, is the part and parcel of your being and that has shaped you as you are. Memory is of short duration, and it is sometimes powerful and sometimes very weak.

But modern spiritualism has thrown a different light on this subject. It says that the souls that have passed out remember their relatives, remember the conditions under which they passed. So the memory continues. Take the case of Raymond, the son of Sir Oliver Lodge. He remembered everything how he died and so on, and he communicated to his father and mother and told them. So that shows that we retain our memory even. But the instruments, the brain and the nervous system are destroyed. Therefore the memory is not the product of the function of the brain, but it is a power of the mind which we retain so long as there would be the mind.

However, the memory is not so important. If we do remember our past, we might make bad use of our present. Therefore it is not desirable. Suppose somebody knows or understands his past, and knows that he had committed wicked deeds, and he is going to suffer for it, and he would be constantly thinking of that. He would lose all these opportunities and make a bad use of his present. He would not be able to do any work properly. He would be worrying about how to avoid the misfortune that is coming. He would not be able to sleep even, or eat a good meal. Therefore the Vedanta philosophy tells us not to think of the past but to mould our future and present, so that we can make our future better.

Of course, there is a method by which we can remember our past, because all the experiences that we have gained during our lifetime are stored up in our subliminal or subconscious mind where all these impressions are pigeonholed. We can bring them out, if we focus our intelligence upon any particular branch of the experience which we like to remember.

There are cases again like two lovers who fall in love at the first sight. There we can explain that these souls loved before, and naturally they remember that and feel as if they had met each other. And what is love? Love does not mean any passion. It means the attraction of two souls. It is not on the physical plane, but must be on the soul-plane, because love is God. It is the divine force; it is the divine attraction of two souls. If there be pure love between any man and woman, that pure love will continue to hold them together even after death of the body, because the body cannot interfere. But at the same time we must remember that love must be mutual. If the husband loves the wife and the wife loves the husband truly and unselfishly, then that love is mutual. But if you love somebody and that somebody loves somebody else, then there would be no meeting again, until both were attracted to each other. Therefore it is necessary to develop that kind of love which would be mutual and then that love will hold the lover and the beloved together throughout eternity. There is no separation in it. So you need not be afraid of being separated from your beloved, and if your beloved be born again, after you go from this plane, you will be born again and you will come together unexpectedly and enjoy the beautiful effects of pure and divine love.

Therefore, if we study this carefully, we see that pre-existence and reincarnation go hand in hand and they explain all the difficulties and problems of life and death as well as of existence and also that we are the creators of our own destiny.

Our present life is the resultant of our past and our future will be the resultant of our present. Whether we remember or not, that does not make any difference. We are subject to this eternal law. But there are souls who can remember. If we rise on the height of our spiritual consciousness, we can see our past and future just as if it were eternally present. Therefore Sri Krishna said to Arjuna:

"Oh Arjuna, both you and I have passed through many births. You know them not, but I remember them all." ¹

So anyone, who reaches that state of superconsciousness, develops a sight. By developing that sight one can see the past and the future and remember all the experiences that one has and gone through all the experiences that one will go through. And when he understands that life is eternal, he does not worry about the conditions of the failures and successes or diseases or sufferings of this earthly plane. This life on this plane is only for a short time, but from the standpoint of eternal life we are never born and we are never going to die, because we are birthless, deathless, eternal, immortal, and also part and parcel of the infinite Spirit which is worshipped under different names among different races.

CHAPTER VIII

PRE-EXISTENCE AND IMMORTALITY

One of the fundamental principles of philosophy and religion of Vedanta is immortality of the human soul. According to the teachings of Vedanta, each individual soul is immortal by nature. However sinful it may appear to be from the moral standpoint, it will continue to exist after death of the body. It cannot be annihilated or destroyed into nothingness. It can never cease to exist.

On this point the religion of Vedanta differs from the dogmas of those dualistic religions, which maintain that immortal life can be obtained only by a few chosen ones as a special gift of God, while others will perish. Many of the orthodox Christian theologians hold that the continued life after death in the eternal future is not a natural gift, but a special one, being conditioned upon the proper use of this life. They think that immortality is a reward of merit, or of good works, or of an ethical life, or of faith in the Christ. Here we may ask, who will decide how many degrees above zero one must be moral in order to obtain the gift of immortality?

If we examine minutely we shall find that this dogma of conditional immortality is not based upon a rational foundation. It makes God, the merciful Father, partial and unjust. How can we imagine that a just, impartial and merciful Father will grant immortality to some of His children and allow the rest to perish simply on account of their immoral acts or mistakes?

The religion of Vedanta does not teach this dogma of conditional immortality; but, on the contrary, it says that immortal life cannot be a reward or a gift of any superior being, because that reward or punishment is nothing but the result or reaction of our own actions. Since every human action is finite or limited by time and space, and consequently non-eternal, it cannot produce an eternal effect in the form of immortal life. No human action, either of the mind or of the body, however good or virtuous it may be called, can produce an eternal effect which is unlimited by time or space. It will then be against the law of cause and sequence which makes every effect or result similar to its cause, both in nature and in quality.

There is another important point on which the conception of immortality in Vedanta differs from that of Christianity. Christianity, believing in the theory of special creation of the individual soul at the time of birth, denies pre-existence of the human soul previous to the birth of the body, yet it admits the continuity of the soul after death in an eternal future. This doctrine again is not based upon a rational foundation, nor is it supported by any fact of nature, because it is impossible for a thing which has a beginning in time to last for ever. No one has ever seen or heard of any substance which began to exist at a certain time, but continued for ever in future. Can we imagine a stick, the one end of which is in our hand and the other end is endless and unlimited? No, it is impossible. We cannot think of a thing which has a beginning or a limit, either in time or in space on one side and, on the other side, is unlimited by either time or space. As we cannot imagine any earthly object or material thing of such a nature, how can we imagine that the soul which had its birth in time and space, will continue to exist for ever? We cannot conceive that a soul which came into existence at the time of birth will remain for ever after death in eternal future, or in endless time.

Therefore immortality which means the eternal continuity of existence, pre-supposes the existence of the soul previous to the birth of the body. If we believe in immortality of the human soul, we shall have to admit it's pre-existence also, because that which is born, must die, and everything that has a beginning, must have an end. This is the law of nature; we cannot go against it.

The laws of nature are always uniform and universal. There is no such thing as an exception. All exceptions are governed by other laws which we may or may not know. They are only the expressions of different laws. Anything that is born must be subject to death, and that which has a beginning must have an end. If we wish to be endless or immortal in future, we must have to admit that we were beginningless or immortal in the past. Here some people may think, how is it possible that we existed in the past? If we apply the law that because we exist today, we cannot come into existence out of nothing, then we will get a glimpse of the idea of pre-existence.

And, for this reason, Vedanta teaches both immortality and pre-existence. No theory of immortality can be perfect or complete without admitting the pre-existence of the soul. No theory has successfully proved the necessity of an eternal future life in the case of one whose existence in the past has been proved to be unnecessary. If you say that your pre-existence was unnecessary, so your immortal life will be equally unnecessary. If the world could get along without you before, why should it not get along without you hereafter? What necessity will there be for an immortal life in future, if you did not exist before? If you have come into existence all on a sudden, you can go out of existence all on a sudden. Who will prevent us from becoming such an ephemeral substance?

In Vedanta, true immortality means eternal existence in the past as well as in the future. Preexistence and immortality are so closely related to each other that if we deny one, we cannot accept the other. For logically we shall be incorrect; we shall go against the laws of nature, and our statement will be founded, not upon rational ground, but upon some dogma or doctrine which has no foundation. In Vedanta, therefore, we learn that each individual soul existed before the birth of the body. If we believe that we shall continue to exist after death, we shall have to admit that we existed in the past; otherwise, we cannot have immortal life in future. We have not come into existence for the first time out of nothing, but our present is a connecting link in the chain of our past and future existences. We may not know it, we may not possess the memory of our past lives, but still we existed just the same.

Here it may be asked, if we existed before our birth, why do we not remember? This is one of the strongest objections often raised against the belief in pre-existence. Some people deny the existence of the soul in the past, simply because they cannot remember the events of the past. Others again who hold memory as the standard of existence, say, if our memory of the present ceases to exist at the time of death, with it we shall also cease to be and we cannot be immortal, because they hold that memory is the standard of life, and if we do not remember, why, we are not the same beings!

Vedanta answers these questions by saying that it is possible for us to remember our previous existences. Those who have read Raja Yoga will recall the aphorism:

"By perceiving the samskaras one acquires the knowledge of past lives." 1

Here the *samskaras* mean the impressions of past experience which lie dormant in our subliminal self and are never lost. Memory is nothing but the awakening and rising of latent impressions above the threshold of consciousness. A Raja Yogi, through powerful concentration upon these dormant impressions of the subconscious mind, can remember all the events of his past lives. There have been many instances of the Indian Yogis who could know not only their own past lives, but correctly tell those of others. It is said that Buddha remembered five hundred of his previous births. Sri Krishna says in the *Bhagavad Gita*:

"Both thou and I, Arjuna, have gone through many births; thou knowest them not; but I know them all." 2

This shows that Sri Krishna remembered them, because he was a Yogi and Arjuna could not remember, because he had not the power to do so.

^{1.} Yoga Sutras of Patanjali Chapter 3, Verse 18.

^{2.} Bhagavad Gita Chapter 4, Verse 5.

Our subliminal self or the subconscious mind is the storehouse of all the impressions that we gather through our experiences during our life-time. They are stored up or pigeonholed there in the *chitta*, as it is called in Vedanta. The *chitta* means the same subconscious mind or subliminal self which is the store-house of all impressions and experiences. These impressions remain latent, until favourable conditions rouse them and bring them out in the plane of consciousness.

Here let us take an illustration. In a dark room, pictures are thrown on a screen by lanternslides. The room is absolutely dark. We are looking at the picture. Suppose we open a window and allow the rays of the midday sun to fall upon the screen. Would we be able to see those pictures? No, because the more powerful flood of light of the sun will subdue the light of the lantern and the pictures. But although they are invisible to our eyes, yet we cannot deny their existence on the screen. Similarly the pictures of the events of our previous lives upon the screen of the subliminal self may be invisible to us at present, but they exist there. Why are they invisible to us now? Because the powerful light of the senseconsciousness has subdued them. If we close the windows and the door of our senses from outside contact and darken the inner chamber of our self, then by focussing the light of consciousness and concentrating the mental rays we shall be able to know and remember our past lives as well as the events and experiences thereof. Those who wish to develop their memory and remember their past should practise Raja Yoga and learn the method of acquiring the power of concentration by shutting the doors and the windows of their senses. That power of concentration must be helped by the power of self-control, i.e. by controlling the windows and the doors of our own senses.

These dormant impressions, whether we remember them or not, are the chief factors in moulding our individual characters with which we are born, they are the causes of the inequalities and diversities which we find around us. When we study the characters and the powers of the geniuses and the prodigies, we cannot deny the pre-existence of the soul. Whatever the soul has mastered in a previous life, it manifests in the present. If we possess wisdom and knowledge which we gathered in our previous lives, then it matters very little, whether or not we remember the particular events or the struggles which we went through in order to gain that knowledge. Those particular things may not come to us in our memory, but we have not lost the wisdom.

Now study your own present life and you will see that in this life you have gained some experience. The particular events and struggles which you went through are passing out of your memory, but the knowledge which you have gained through that experience, has moulded your character and has shaped you in a different manner. You will not have to go

through those different events again to remember how you acquired that experience; that is not necessary and the wisdom gained is quite enough.

Then again we had among ourselves persons who are born with some wonderful powers. Take, for instance, the power of self-control. One is born with the power of self-control highly developed and that self-control may not be acquired by another after years of hard struggle. Why is there this difference? Bhagavan Sri Ramakrishna was born with the Godconsciousness and he went into the highest state of samadhi when he was four years old. But this state is very difficult for other Yogis to acquire. There was a Yogi who came to see Sri Ramakrishna. He was an old man and possessed of wonderful powers, and he said: "I have struggled for forty years to acquire that state which is natural with you". Sankaracharya, the great commentator of the Vedanta philosophy, wrote his commentary when he was twelve years of age. There are very few thinkers and philosophers in the world who can understand the spirit of his writings. They are so deep and sublime that ordinary minds cannot grasp them. There are many such instances which show that pre-existence is a fact and that these latent or dormant impressions of previous lives are the chief factors in moulding the individual character without depending upon the memory of the past. Because we cannot remember our past because of the loss of memory of the particular events, the soul's progress is not arrested. The soul will continue to progress further even though the memory may be weak.

Each individual soul possesses the store-house of his previous experiences in the background in the subconscious mind. Take the instance of two lovers. Now what is love? It has already been explained that it is the attraction between two souls. This love does not die with the death of the body. True love survives after death and continues to grow, and becomes stronger and stronger. Eventually it brings the two souls together and makes them one. The theory of pre-existence alone can explain why the two souls at the first sight know each other and become attached to each other by the tie of friendship. This mutual love will continue to grow and will become stronger and in the end will bring these lovers together no matter where they go. Therefore Vedanta does not say that death of the body will end the attraction of the attachment of the two souls, but as the souls are immortal, their relation will continue for ever. But we must not forget that relation and love must be mutual. If you love someone and that person does not love you, it will be one-sided. It will not bring the two souls together. So there must be a mutual attraction.

In Vedanta, we learn that as immortality means the continued existence in the eternal future, so pre-existence means the continued existence in the eternal past. One cannot exist without the other. Each of these only expresses the one half of our soul-life which is eternal

and both of these together make a complete whole, and that is the eternal soul-life. It existed before and it was always unborn, and, therefore, it will continue to exist in the future for ever. Our present life is the resultant of the past and our future will be the resultant of the present. Nothing will be lost.

Modern spiritualism has thrown a little light upon the future that even the departed spirits do remember their past relations. This shows that memory does not depend entirely upon the physical organism, but goes with the soul wherever the soul goes. That is the real memory. The physical organism may be destroyed, but memory lives. It is the body through which the subliminal self is reproducing powers which are latent in it. So our present life is the resultant of the past. It contains all the previous impressions and experiences of past lives and only under certain conditions they can be remembered.

But here we must remember that immortality does not necessarily imply that we should go to heaven to eternally enjoy the celestial pleasures, or go to eternal hell of our evil deeds. These ideas are not necessarily included in the meaning of immortality. According to Vedanta, immortality includes the meaning of progress, i.e. progress of growth and evolution of the soul from lower to the higher stages of development. It also includes the idea that each individual soul will manifest the powers which are already latent in the soul by going through different stages of growth and development until perfection and omniscience and omnipresence are acquired.

In order to attain to this and to accomplish this highest end, the soul must manifest itself in various stages of life and gain experience. That cause which brought us on the plane of existence, will continue to bring us here again in future. If the same cause remains in us even after the death of the body, then nothing can prevent us from coming back to this plane of existence in order to fulfil our desires and purposes.

This idea leads to the theories of rebirth and reincarnation of the individual soul. The rebirth and reincarnation of the individual soul is based upon the truth of the eternality of the soullife which is expressed by pre-existence and immortality. The exodus of the soul after death into heaven or into some realm of punishment or lower realm depends entirely upon the thoughts and deeds of the individual soul, and the soul's stay in these realms is temporary and dependent upon the condition of reaping the results of those thoughts and deeds. That is, the soul will remain there as long as it has not thoroughly reaped the fruits of its thoughts and deeds. At the expiration of that time, the inmates of heavens and other realms will come back on this plane, in order to gain further experience and more powers and knowledge until perfection is reached. Vedanta does not say that heaven is eternal, but it is temporary and non-eternal, and the soul has the power to transcend heaven or to go beyond all celestial realms. Why should we be limited to one particular spot? If we do not care to return to this realm of phenomena, we shall be dissatisfied even when we have gone to heaven. Then will come the time when we shall try to go further beyond until we have become absolutely perfect and divine. Therefore it is said in Vedanta:

"Even the highest heaven is temporary and non-eternal. The realms that exist between the earth and the highest heaven mark only the phenomenal growth and progress of the individual souls. Those who go there and remain there are subject to birth and rebirth. They will come back again. But those who have attained to perfection transcend all heavens, understand eternal life and remain perfect for ever and ever."¹

CHAPTER IX

SCIENCE AND IMMORTALITY

The popular belief in Christendom is that Jesus the Christ brought the eternal life and immortality to light and that immortality cannot be obtained except through him, as if this conception of eternal life, or eternal life after death, which is understood by immortality, did not exist before the advent of the illustrious Son of Man. But the students of comparative religions find that in ancient times, long before the Christian era, this same conception of eternal life existed among the ancient nations like the Egyptians, Chaldeans, Hindus, and other different branches of the Aryan nation, such as Zoroastrians, the ancient Greeks, Romans, Scandinavians, and so on.

If we study the most ancient records in Egypt, which go back between 12000 and 8000 BC we shall find in those earliest records that the ancient Egyptians had a belief in the resurrection of the body as well as in eternal life for those who were righteous. The crude idea of resurrection of the body was afterwards rejected by the priests and the speculators in Egypt when the idea of a 'double' or soul as independent of the gross material body developed. But the ignorant masses kept up the belief in the resurrection of the material or corruptible body, just as we find today it is upheld by the majority of believers in orthodox Christianity. The ignorant classes cannot believe that the soul can be separated from the body and can live without the body. They believe that the soul clings to the body. Attachment to the gross material form is so great that we cannot think for a moment that we can do without the body, or can exist without this material form, which we have clothed with so much care and which we have kept up with beautiful things and nice dishes, and so on.

Among the writings of the old Egyptians who lived in the time of the fifth dynasty, that is, in 400 BC, we find such expressions as,

The soul to heaven, the body to earth, The heaven hath thy soul, the earth thy body.

You will have to remember that 3500 years before the birth of Christ such expressions were uttered and written down by the thinkers of Egypt. These ancient Egyptians believed that the souls of the righteous would go to heaven, enjoy celestial pleasures, and would eat and drink because they would have a light, active and etherial body, and, therefore, they needed food and drink. That was their conception and it was for that reason the relatives and the

friends of the deceased used to put food in the grave and sometimes they would place amulets and other charms in the graves, believing that the departed ones might need such things to protect themselves against evil influences.

And again in some other writings, we find that the souls of the deceased would go to heaven and they were apparently in white linen, they wore white sandals on their feet, and they walked in the fields of peace, sat with gods, and ate the food of light. There were canals, water courses, roads, boats, chariots, horses and the duplicates of all these things which we find on this plane, in heaven. The enjoyment of all these pleasures and comforts, lasting throughout eternity, was the meaning of immortality according to these ancient Egyptians. They believed that the souls of these departed ones would go to heaven and enjoy all these celestial pleasures, the highest ideals of pleasures we can enjoy on this plane which became eternal. The enjoyment of these pleasures throughout eternity was the meaning they gave to immortality. We must remember that by 'eternity' we do not mean a million or a thousand million years, but a time without end. Can you grasp the meaning of eternity, a time without end, enjoying these pleasures?

A similar belief we find among the ancient Greeks in the Elysium Fields. The Greeks believed that the righteous ones who went to the Elysium Field would continue to enjoy the celestial pleasures throughout eternity. Each of the deceased ones would resume the pleasures and occupations in which they delighted during their earthly career. Such a belief prevails among the Swedenborgians and other churches even to this day. Not long ago a clergyman of the city of New York wrote an article in a newspaper in which he said:

"The activities of our beings on this earth will be the activities of our beings in heaven. We cannot change this; it cannot be changed, but we must find and look for such occupations. In whatever form of existence we can conceive of the occupations of life, must shadow and type the occupations of heaven, and in nobler and in higher forms, we must go on doing what we are doing today on this earth."

If this remark be true, I would like to know how many of our cooks, waitresses, lawyers, bellboys, and street cleaners would like to continue the same work throughout eternity and without having an end of time. I would like to know how many would like to go on doing them.

Among the pious Christians, we find the belief that the enjoyments of heaven and the conception of the eternal life are connected with a belief that the everlasting playing upon a harp would be the principal occupation in heaven. There is a hymn which used to be sung in

the churches and it gives a description of the heavenly enjoyments, where the Sabbaths never end.

So we see that before the time of Christ there was a belief in the eternal life among the Chaldeans, Egyptians and Greeks. Among the Chinese, the Hindus and the Zoroastrians, we find a similar belief in the eternal life and the celestial pleasures in heaven. So when we examine the dogma of the Christian theologians that Jesus the Christ brought to light for the first time an immortal life, we stop and ask the question whether it is true or not. Jesus the Christ might have enlightened certain tribes among the Jews who did not believe in a life hereafter or the life after death, but he did not bring that idea to the world for the first time; and even the crude idea of resurrection after death which prevailed among the Jews at the time of Christ was taken from the Parsees during the Babylonian Captivity (586-538 BC). If we read the Zend Avesta, we shall find that each individual, howsoever good or wicked he may be, must resurrect on the third day after death and then must go to heaven or to some place of punishment. That idea prevailed among the Jews. The Pharisees accepted it; the Sadduccees rejected it, and the other class of orthodox Jews repudiated it.

So we find by studying the other religions of the world that this belief was not introduced for the first time, but has come to mean the eternal life in heaven. Yet the question of immortality is a very difficult problem. Most of the thinkers and the metaphysicians of the world have tried to solve this problem of immortality. Some of them have arrived at certain conclusions which are either for or against the existence of the eternal life after death.

But if we analyse the meaning of the word immortality, we know that it means deathlessness or the state which is not subject to death. Then comes the question, what is death? If by death we mean destruction, annihilation and absolute dissolution of the universe into nothingness, then there is no one in this world who is subject to such a death or annihilation. Science has proved that matter as well as force is indestructible. So every particle of matter, however minute or gross it may be, is not subject to absolute destruction or death; and in that sense, we must say that matter is immortal, force is immortal, and energy is immortal, because they are not subject to either destruction or annihilation.

The old gross conception of death is that it is a kind of sleep. The spirit or the soul goes into unconsciousness at the time of death; in that slumber of unconsciousness, the soul remains until the morning of resurrection when it is again combined with the body. Both the body and the soul go to heaven or to hell, awaiting the judgment of the merciful Father. Death was regarded by the Christian theologians as the greatest enemy of the mortals and it meant the doom of the soul throughout all eternity. The good soul remained good forever and the

wicked suffered throughout all eternity. That dreary conception of death still prevails among a certain class of the Christian believers, and the horror and despair also permeate the atmosphere of the sacred shrines under the vaults of holy places and the people tremble with fear when they think of the approach of death. Because it stamps, fixes the doom of the individual soul, and stereotypes the individual so that it lasts for ever. Again the wicked man who has no religion will have to suffer throughout eternity.

Now science has opened our eyes to the fact that death is not such an evil. Science says that death is not an enemy attacking life and we cannot live without dying, and death is also a constant continuation of life. In fact, growth would be impossible if there were no death. So there is no reason to fear death.

A scientific thinker does not fear death, but regards it as a necessity for change or growth. By death, science means a change, i.e., change from one form into another. In our lifetime, we see that naturally every seventh year we have almost a new body and every molecule of our body is constantly changing. Every microscopic cell in our organism is producing the new forms. The old forms are dying and different new forms are coming up. When you plant a tree, you will see how the seed dies before the plant begins to grow. So death is the beginning of a new stage of life, and, therefore, we must not cling to that old belief, thinking that we must regard death as the constant enemy of life, but we must regard it as a friend of life.

Now if by death we understand a change, then the word 'immortality' will receive a new meaning; that is, it will take that state which does not die and is not subject to death. Or, in other words, immortality means a state which is absolute, unchangeable, deathless or absolutely unchangeable. So the real meaning of immortality is persisting in existence, without being subject to any change whatever. Now if that be the meaning of immortality, is there any state which is absolutely free from changes of all kinds? This is a great question. The answer to this question is very deep. We shall have to analyse the whole phenomenal world to find out if such a thing as unchangeability exists. For science tells us that everything is subject to change and everywhere we see the signs of change and decay. You all know how the solar system has come into existence from one mass of nebulous matter. Gradually it becomes congealed from that gaseous form and becomes solid. Then again it goes back to that gaseous state. Our physical bodies are subject to change. In fact, our bodies are for ever changing. If you can imagine yourself as a whirlpool in ether, or if you have seen your hand through the X-rays, then you will know what your body is like. All around yourself there are the same etherial particles of matter in a homogeneous mass which is an impenetrable,

thick solid substance. There is no space between the particles and you cannot separate them. In that mass, there is a little eddy here and there and that we call our bodies.

Every minute cell of the body is constantly under change. We understand by sensation that something comes from the external world, either in the form of light vibration or in the form of air vibration and that affects our nervous systems, produces certain changes in the optical nerves and different nerves of the brain cells, and there a certain vibration is produced and that vibration is interpreted by consciousness as change. So we see at every step that there is a change, and without change we cannot hear any sound and cannot see any colour and cannot smell anything. All the feelings and thoughts are certain kinds of vibrations. They grow and disappear. One range of vibration shifts us on a certain region of consciousness and other range produces other vibrations of emotions. So all the vibrations mean change. Our whole being also is subject to change. Then where is that immortal existence, we ask this question to science. But science does not answer. There is no such thing in the world as the absolute unchangeability. The phenomena of the world must change. Anything that exists in time and space is subject to change, and so with any form we can imagine. The form may be of matter or ether, but in either case, it is subject to change.

Now by 'immortality' can we mean that the soul will be clothed with a new form and will go to heaven and enjoy celestial pleasures during eternity, clothed in etherial form and without any change throughout eternity? Can we imagine an etherial form which will last like a statue, because any emotion or feeling presupposes some kind of change so that it will have a body which would not be subject to any kind of change? No, we cannot conceive of such a thing. So immortality cannot be applied to the celestial bodies, no matter how fine or etherial they may be.

If we analyse the conception of pleasure, we find that we cannot have any feeling of pleasure if we have no conception of pain. Similarly if we have no conception of pain, we could have no conception of pleasure. We can only know what one feeling is, by comparing it with the other feeling we had before and also knowing the difference. And then if we are going to enjoy pleasure throughout eternity, we must have some sort of conception of pain, otherwise we cannot enjoy pleasure throughout eternity. It is for that reason that those who believe in an eternity, will have to believe in eternal hell fire. The underlying truth of it is that we cannot enjoy the one without experiencing the other.

In the gross descriptions of hell and heaven, we find that there is a glass wall, separating hell from heaven, through which the souls, enjoying celestial pleasures, can see the others suffering and can compare and enjoy their pleasures; otherwise there is no enjoyment. It

would be truly impossible for us to enjoy that pleasure if we enjoy that all the time and have no break. Now if we like music and hear music day and night without doing anything else, music would be a pleasure no more to us and within six hours we would be tired of it. If we see one colour all the time, it would no longer be a colour. If we can go to heaven and remain there throughout eternity, it would be no pleasure at all. Now under all these conditions we cannot find that eternal life in heaven with a finer body in the meaning of immortality, nor the enjoyment of celestial pleasures of the same kind without having any condition for comparison, is the meaning of immortality.

Those who believe that immortality means a personal immortality, do not understand the meaning of the word 'personality'. Now what is the meaning of personality? It is a kind of mask, it is a garment of the mind. We have read of double, triple and quadruple personalities. There was a girl in England who had ten personalities, each of which was distinct. So by personality we must not understand a certain state of consciousness. It is like an assumed character on the stage. When the individual soul assumes a certain character and plays a certain part in the drama of life, then that particular character is the particular personality for the time being. When different ideas develop and different tendencies and desires appear, then different personalities come up. Then we forget our old personality. So, if we analyse our personality, we will find that it is subject to disease, decay and death. Therefore, personality does not mean the absolute unchangeable state either on this plane or in heaven.

Some persons believe that immortality is a conditional one which is not a natural gift, but is a certain gift of God to certain individuals. Then comes the question as to what kind of gift it is and under what conditions it is received. Who will decide how many degrees above error one must be in order to obtain that gift from God? Some people may say certain modes of living and work and the devotional exercise are sufficient for receiving the gift. Still if we analyse these devotional exercises and mental and physical works, we will find that all our actions are governed by the law of action and reaction, or by the law of cause and sequence. Every cause must produce an effect. Now if the result be eternal or everlasting, the cause must be eternal or everlasting, because a finite cause can never produce an infinite result. It is against the law of nature. Now call our actions either good or evil. If we add all our good and evil deeds or actions during a lifetime, even of a hundred years, they cannot be unlimited. The effect, therefore, cannot be unlimited. Realize then that cause must be unlimited too. God cannot even change that law, because, no matter how powerful He may be, it is His own law. Can we imagine the law of cause and sequence stopping for a second? No; otherwise the whole universe would fall to pieces. So those who believe that

79

God changes the law of nature, are simply making some statements which have no ground whatsoever. We cannot take any stock in those statements.

So God cannot give a free gift to any individual indiscriminately, because the theologians say that there must be some kind of devotional exercise to bring that gift. Now if we depend upon some devotional exercise, then that is also a limited cause and must produce a limited effect. Then everlasting life as the reward of all our good acts is an impossibility. We cannot get it, because it would be contrary to the laws of nature. Therefore the philosophers in India do not believe in such a statement. They believe in many heavens. By the law of action and reaction, they try to explain that the earthly life is subject to change like the heavenly pleasures. Therefore eternal life is not eternal, it is temporary. Millions and millions of years, when compared to eternity, would appear to us like a flash of light, as it is temporary. Therefore all the great philosophers in India have said:

"From the highest heaven to the limit of the universe all these different places of existence are subject to growth and change." ¹

Those who do good deeds, go to heaven, may remain there till their time expires, and then they go to some other realms. They may return to this earth, or if they go to heaven, they enjoy celestial pleasures there for thousands of years. But it must end. Even if we get the celestial bodies, those bodies are subject to change. Then all those higher beings, the angels and the archangels who dwell in those celestial regions are limited. They may have the psychic perception, but still there is limitation. And that conception we find in no other religion or philosophy, except in the writings of the great thinkers of the Vedic age. Because the thinkers and the seers of the ancient Vedic age went deeper and so they would not accept anything on hearsay. A revelation of God, which does not appeal to reason, does not touch our own senses, does not conform to all the laws of nature, and cannot be the truth.

If Christ was possessed of immortal life, then each one of us must have it by birth-right, otherwise Christ had not got it. There is one universal law just as the law of light, or the law of action and reaction, or the law of cause and sequence. They are all alike, and we find at every step this law prevails. As Christian science says:

Discover the laws of nature; if you cannot harmonize the truths of Christ with the laws of nature, you have not discovered any truth.

Your going to heaven does not mean the attainment of immortality, and having a celestial body does not also mean that. Then what is the true meaning of immortality? Is it possible to have anything unchangeable in this world of changes? This question disturbed also the mind

of the thinkers long ago, and today Kant, Huxley and Ernst Haeckel have tried to discover something which is the unchangeable Reality and the absolute Truth. But have they really discovered it? I think that they are not successful.

Those who have searched this truth, can be divided into two classes. The one may be classed as the materialists who deny the existence of the soul as separate from the material body, and according to them, all such questions of immortality, God and souls are mere waste of time and energy. Of course, they try to find out everything from the matter and the force. They say that force is immortal, and energy is immortal, and that is all. But can we remain contented with those conclusions of the great materialistic thinkers of the world? The materialistic thinkers are not the product of the twentieth century alone. In olden times and even in the Vedic age, there were those who denied the existence of anything that existed beyond the range of sense perception. They denied anything that is abstract. They did not find that soul exists independently of the body. They rather mixed up the soul with the material body.

Among modern scientists too you will find that there is such a class and so their arguments do not satisfy our minds. Even if they tell us that there is no soul, yet a voice within tells us 'go and search again, and you will find something better'. So if we go on searching, at every step we hear a voice speaking from within that there is something immortal. Otherwise this question of immortality would never arise. Because our longing for immortality is too strong, we cannot resist it. Try to think of yourself as dead, but you cannot. You may think of your body as lying dead, but you are standing beside it and watching over it. You cannot think of yourself as non-existent, because the very idea that you are dead or have ceased to exist presupposes that you are conscious of that idea, and, therefore, you cannot be this. Why is it that if our whole nature was not meant to last throughout eternity, we have such an idea? It is a part and parcel of our being and we must go on searching until we find it. Those who imagine that the body and the soul last throughout eternity are mistaken. The atoms will arise, because they are indestructible. But like the material body, the astral body is destructible. The finer etherial form which may manifest itself through cells is also destructible, it is earthly. Then, where is the immortal spark of our own being? After searching within the body as well as in the realms of mind and intellect the great thinkers and inspired sages of the Vedic age declared that our soul is immortal.

The soul is like a receptacle of a finer substance which is like the source of our conscious existence and that source is immortal. It is not subject to change and they called it the *Atman*. It is not the same as ego, but it is the Knower of the ego. It is not same as "I", but that, by which we know ourselves it is I am standing here, I am hearing, and that is our true

Self; that is the Atman. You may say: 'How can we know the existence of such a thing'? You do not have to search outside, as it is already within. But tell me, are you ever conscious of your brain? You will say, no, you do not know that you are the interpreter of the brain. Similarly it may be asked that if the source of consciousness is the source of matter, then who knows matter? Matter does not know itself, and therefore there must be someone other than matter, who knows matter.

Modern science has resolved the whole phenomenal universe into three states and has explained that those states are matter, energy and consciousness. These three states or things are the fundamental principles of the universe. If you have studied science or any of the philosophies of the world, you will find these three things. But, in truth, matter and energy are inseparable. They are different states of the same substance.

Then there comes the third thing, consciousness. Most of the materialistic thinkers try to separate or divorce this consciousness from matter and force, and the idealists try to divorce matter and force from mind or consciousness. A modern Christian scientist says that there is no matter, it is all mind and all consciousness. Now ask them what they mean by mind, and what they mean by matter. They will say that they do not know. In fact, all these three, matter, force and consciousness are indestructible, incorruptible and eternal. The question comes up: what is the nature of the third substance? If matter is indestructible, force is indestructible, then what becomes of consciousness? Shall we believe it to be the result of matter and force, as the materialists declare? When you have the conception of matter, it is a state of consciousness, i.e., knowingness. When you have conception of force or energy, it is a material state. They are incorruptible and indestructible. If two states of consciousness be indestructible, then what will be the nature of consciousness itself? Will it be indestructible? If the fruit of the tree is indestructible and eternal, can you believe that the tree is destructible and non-eternal? These are the fruits of the tree of consciousness, and if the two states of consciousness be indestructible and eternal, then the tree of consciousness is also indestructible and eternal.

Really we cannot know the existence of matter, if we are unconscious. Put a scientist into the chloroform state and ask him if he is conscious of the existence of matter. Surely he will say that he does not know, as he is unconscious. You may look through a microscope at an atom and divide it into subdivisions i.e. into an electron or an ion. If these be incorruptible and indestructible, then the two states are also indestructible. It is always the knower which knows. Matter does not know and energy does not know, and this knower is our true Self. It is not far from us, but it is the innermost being within us.

Your mental condition may change, you may be in anger, you may have another passion, you may have certain desire, you may think of the body, and you may think of yourself as wicked or spiritual, but all the time you know that these feelings are nothing but different states of your consciousness. It is the background of the spirit or of your personality like the background of the canvas, upon which your personality is painted by the divine hand. You may change the picture, but the canvas will remain always the same. We can realize our true Self which will be more lasting than the celestial pleasure, and which will be as eternal as Divinity itself.

The books will not reveal this Truth. By reading books and scriptures and their commentaries, we cannot know the absolute Truth. We can neither understand our immortal nature by thought, nor by works, nor by devotional exercises, but if we search it within our heart, we can understand our immortal nature. Separate the source of consciousness from its attachment to the material things, analyse your own nature and discriminate, and then see what part is in you that is unchanging like the witness which is the knower of the body and of the sense perceptions, intellect, apprehensions and feeling. Enter into the cave of your heart and you will be able to realize the *Atman*. Through the practices of concentration and meditation you enter into the state of the superconsciousness and there you will be free. There you will realize that you are beyond the body, beyond the mind and beyond the intellect and death. Death cannot touch you then, and the fear of death will vanish from you for ever. Then you will know that fire cannot burn you, water cannot moisten you, air cannot dry you, and swords cannot pierce you, but you are immortal, unchanging, eternal, everlasting, and divine ¹.

Then no fear of death exists. Because all fear proceeds from ignorance and selfishness and when you have eliminated all ignorance, the Divine illumination will come, the sun of wisdom will shine above the horizon of your mental plane, and there you will see the light of the eternal Truth, and then you will see what is real and immortal. If you study the scriptures of the Hindus, you will find that the divine thought of immortality is the highest ideal of the Hindu scriptures. But how is it to be obtained? It will be obtained by being conscious of your immortal nature. Because knowing is being. When you know yourself as immortal, you are immortal. But if you know yourself as a limited physical thing, you are going to die. All our knowledge is a state of consciousness. So if you change this state of consciousness, you will not affect you. Change is fleeting and unreal, but you are immortal. When you know God, you have attained everything. To know God means to be God - "brahmavid brahmaiva"

bhavati ¹." So if you wish to know God, you must know your true self which is immortal, divine, eternal, everlasting and one.

CHAPTER X

THE SPIRITUALISM

The question often rises in our minds as to what exists after death. This question rises today and it will rise always in the minds of all. The same question was asked by the kings and the beggars, by the sages and the saints, and by the philosophers, the thinkers and the religionists of all countries all over the world. We are discussing it today, and tomorrow the same question will rise again in other minds. For the moment we might forget, and we might not take heed of the condition after death of the physical body, but the time is sure to come when we shall wake up and would ask the same question. We might be absorbed, in our daily occupations, in the struggles for existence, and in troubles and tribulations which we have to encounter every day. We may forget that we will live after death or what will happen after death. But as soon as we see someone passes away, see our relatives, the dearest and the nearest friends pass out of the body, we stop and think where have they gone. What has become of the body? The body is going to decompose. What was there to keep it alive and where has it gone now? The same question will arise again and again and disturb the peace of our minds. Until we find the proper solution of that question, we can never have peace in our minds.

But before we find the solution of that problem, we discover at the very threshold of our inquiry an adamantine wall standing before us which is almost impossible to break through. The weak intellects stop here. The feeble minds with feeble efforts fail to go beyond that wall, which is nothing but a belief that the body is the producer of the soul and that the soul is the result of the functions of the organism of this gross material body. The popular belief that every soul will rise after death, because of the miraculous resurrection of one particular individual at a certain time does not appeal to our minds any more. We have outgrown those states of foolish belief and blind faith. We wish to get positive proofs. We want to discuss the subject psychologically, metaphysically, and scientifically. Now let us see whether this theory that the body produces the soul is correct.

There are three theories given in the attempts to prove the existence of the soul: the one is the production theory, the second is the combination theory, and the third is the transmission theory. The production theory is the theory described by the atheists, agnostics, materialists and evolutionists. They believe that the body produces the soul, but they do not answer the question how the body can produce the soul which is a mass of thought, or a mass of intelligence, or whatever they may call it. These materialistic thinkers might tell you that a body is produced of other bodies i.e. the bodies of the parents. But what force is there that holds all the molecules and the particles of matter together and combines them, and produces your body in one particular form and my body in another form? What makes these distinctions; they do not answer those questions. They say that it is unknown to us and it is a mystery, but the bodies of the parents produce the bodies of the children and this is true.

But what produces the bodies of the parents? They say that their parents produce the bodies. But that is not the true answer. In trying to explain this theory, they produce another combination of matter without explaining the forces which combine and pre-produce these conditions. They simply make an assertion and that assertion leads to a fallacy that the body produces a body, but that is not the real cause that produces the human body. It is like explaining the cause by the effect; it is like putting the cart before the horse. So the explanation does not appeal to our minds.

At the same time we notice that among the hosts of physiologists, medical practitioners and pathologists, there is a belief that the body produces the soul of thought, intelligence, consciousness, and whatever you may call the mind, and some have gone so far as to locate the particular functions of the mind in some particular parts of the brain. For instance, when we see the objects before our presence, particular convolutions of the brain are stimulated, and when we hear a sound, our tympanal lobes are stimulated, and so on. Those who believe in the production theory, tell that the mind is conterminous with the functions of the brain as well as with the nervous states, and they try to explain that so long as the brain is active, the mind exists; but when the brain stops its functions, the mind is dead, because the mind cannot live independent of the functions of the brain. Their theory is that certain impressions come through our nerves and they are poured into the brain by the peculiar functions of the brain. They are metamorphosed into ideas, thoughts, emotions, feelings, sensations, expressions of the face, speech, and so on. Just as foodstuff, after falling into the stomach, is metamorphosed and changed into different elements by digestion, and as the stomach is functioning to produce digestion and the liver is to secrete bile, so the brain secretes thoughts, intelligence and consciousness. And that is their argument. According to them, the impressions are like the material bodies or the body-stuffs that go into our nerves and fall into the pot of the brain and are instantly changed into thought, intelligence, ideas, and so on.

But when we examine the brain properly, we find that a man can live and perform his functions even when half of his brain is diseased and decayed. Such cases have been experimented upon and recorded. There is a great medical surgeon and physician in New

York City, Doctor Thompson, who is an authority in the Roosevelt Hospital. He has written a book in which he describes the records and statistics that have been taken after postmortem examinations. A man had lost half of his brain. It was absolutely gone and in his whole lifetime, he did not know at what time he had lost the half of his brain and it made no change in his mode of life, in his thoughts, and in his occupation. He could utilize the one half of the brain that was in good condition and make it perform the functions of both the halves.

A man who uses his right hand, has his centre of speech on the left side of the brain. Now this is one of the most important proofs that has been brought out by scientific men of this age. Our speech-centre depends upon the action of our arms to a great extent. A lefthanded man has his speech-centre developed on the right side of the brain and the righthanded man has his speech-centre on the left side of the brain. If one half of the brain is decayed or diseased and if that man be right-handed and the left side of the brain is diseased, he becomes absolutely mute and dumb and he cannot speak. But if he uses the left hand, after a few days or a few weeks he will be able to develop a speech-centre on the right side of the brain and then he will be able to speak his language fluently. These are experimented, and are proved facts.

What do these prove? They prove that mind is something distinct from the brain and the brain is the instrument which is utilized by the soul, or the mind, or whatever you may call it. You may call it personality. But personality is not the result of the function of the brain. On the contrary, it is one who uses the instrument of the brain as if from outside. We may compare the brain with a piano. A piano can produce music when there is music in the soul of the musician. But there is no music in the piano. It must be in the conscious mind of the musician who must be outside of the piano and must play upon the keys. So there is music of all the harmonious activities of our body and mind and that harmony is in the mind of the soul and that soul, is playing upon the cells of the nerve-centres in the brain from outside. As if the brain is overshadowed by some invisible entity who is playing upon the brain and producing its harmony, or if there be no harmony of music in the soul, there is discord which is manifested in ourselves. So the production theory has become almost absurd today. No scientific thinkers who have studied all these experiments, made by the great scientists of the world, can believe any more in the theory that the brain secretes the consciousness, as the liver secretes bile. It is an absolutely irrational statement.

The combination theory explains that the neural current is a stream which produces a stream of feelings. There is no connection between them, they are running simultaneously. Some of the psychologies that are taught in the schools and colleges, teach the idea that consciousness is a stream and a complex thing, made up of a stream of feelings and when these currents pass through the nerves ganglia and cortical walls, the cortical walls make a resistance. This resistance produces a kind of nerve-glow or white heat-glow, and that glow is their consciousness. That is a very absurd idea.

We have another explanation better than this, given by the transmission theory which is more satisfactory. According to this theory, the soul or the mind is outside of the brain. It is not the result of the brain, but is something like a self-conscious entity which is using the brain, just as a musician uses the piano and plays on the keys. Now that theory is generally accepted by all the spiritualists and the religionists and all the metaphysicians and the philosophers, and they understand the true language of the soul and its relation to the body.

Those who do not believe in the transmission theory, cannot explain how these instances of phenomena which are recorded by the Psychical Research Society of America as well as those of Europe and elsewhere such as the appearance of the 'double', happen. For instance, suppose you are sitting in your room you are absolutely in repose while conscious, reclining in a rocking chair or on a coach, you are alone and your mind is greatly disturbed by some business, problem. You do not know how to answer it. Suppose there is no one to disturb you or to interfere you in any way in the room, or in the house. Your door is locked. Now suddenly you see your 'double'. This something is like yourself, coming out of you, going to the desk, taking a piece of paper and a pencil in hand, and solving your problem and leaving the written answer on the paper. Then you are dreaming, as it were, and suddenly you wake up, go to your desk and you find the solution. You remember that you saw your double, but you do not know what it is. It is like an apparition. There have been many such instances.

How do you explain this? Who has done it? Did somebody else go into the etherial form which is similar to your own form from outside? Even if you believe that you admit the existence of intelligence or an intelligent entity which can exist without the material and gross physical body, that can satisfy your mind, but these cases cannot be explained by any theory other than the transmission theory. This transmission theory tells us that the double is the astral self of the individual and this astral self is something which can live independent of the gross material body; and this astral self can pass out and can appear in etherial form and perform many acts which our ordinary waking self cannot do. The astral doubles are sometimes perceived by the relatives and friends of the dying persons.

It is found that the dying persons may have a very strong attachment to their children. If their children are going to be orphans, if there is no one to take care of them, and if their relatives

are at a distance, their great desire to help their children would make them project their astral body or double, and appear before the relatives, and give a sudden message. Sometimes it happens after the death of the individual, and, in most cases, it is at the time of death, just at the moment when the individual is passing out of the body or the minute before. There have been records of both kinds. Now how do you explain these if you do not believe in the transmission theory? If the soul is the result of the functions of the brain, then everything would be at an end. But it is not the fact. These experiments have proved that there is such a thing as a soul or a personality or an entity which is self-conscious and which continues to live even when the gross physical body is left behind.

Vedanta accepts the transmission theory. It tells us that matter is one half of the universe which is the object, and the mind is the other half of the universe which is the subject. The one half of the universe cannot produce the other half and so they remain simultaneously. They are in existence from the very beginning. That is the existence of the mind and the matter. Matter is the object of perception, and mind is the perceiver. So you cannot have any sensation of perception of matter if there be no subject in you who perceives. Our knowledge of matter is nothing but a state of our mind. It is the state of consciousness. This consciousness must be prior to any condition of matter, or any experience of sensation or of feelings that are produced by the contact of matter with our senses. No one can deny the priority of consciousness, or of the self-consciousness. If you are unconscious, you cannot have any perception.

So you see that every experience that we have is more or less subjective. What we call our knowledge of matter is only a personal knowledge of the object, but a great deal of that knowledge is subjective, that is, we are conscious of our own minds. We cannot get out of our own minds anywhere. We cannot go into the chair or the table, and find out what is going on there and how the table affects our senses, and produces sensation; if such sensations are the states of consciousness of our own mind, then we know that there is such a thing as a table or a chair; otherwise we can never do it.

Now, one of the scientific facts is that motion produces nothing but motion. But our consciousness or intelligence is not motion. Can you refute this? No, it is something beyond motion. It is what understands and knows motion. So how can motion produce the activity of the brain, or the activity of the molecules, of the nerves and of the brain cells? How can that motion produce something which does know itself? That is a proof against all the materialistic theories. Therefore to say that the soul is the result of the function of the brain which is the intelligent entity, is an impossibility.

Referring to that priority of the mind, when you dissect a brain, for instance, and you do not find any such thing as the self-existing or the self-conscious entity, you deny the existence of a soul. This very denial of that particular case presupposes the existence of another mind which must think that way - the mind of the dissector. So in every instance there is the priority of the mind before any conception that you can make. If you say that you have no soul, it would be just as absurd, as if I say at this moment that I have no tongue. I am using the tongue while I am talking, and if I deny the existence of tongue, I would be a fool. Similarly, if you deny the existence of your own self as a self-conscious entity, you are using that self-conscious entity as a foundation while you are denying it, which would be absurd and ridiculous. Now, after realizing this condition that the soul is that self-conscious entity which is prior to all the material conditions and is not the result of the motion, we ask the question whether that soul can retain its individuality. Now here you will notice little distinction between individuality and personality. Again many people get these mixed up.

Some people take personality as individuality and individuality as personality. But we will go to the root of these two, words, and will keep the original meaning before our minds, and then we will have no more confusion. The word *personality* comes from the Latin *persona*, the mask. The personality is that particular consciousness which is related to the physical body. Thus you are Mr. or Mrs. or Miss so and so. That is your personality. You are an active man; you are a businessman; you have hunger and thirst and all the limitations of the body. That is the mask which the individual is wearing at the present moment.

But individuality is something which is beyond the body and is indivisible. That which is indivisible, you cannot cut or disturb like your sense of "I". It is like an indivisible current. It is the continuity of one thought, the thought of "I". I was a school boy, and I played with my school-mates. The same "I" has gone through all these other experiences. Now I am standing or sitting here and that is identity or foundation or individuality which is indivisible. It is the property of your spiritual self, or the spiritual consciousness. It has no relation to your personality at all. Now that personality might be left here and might change; but your individuality, the sense of "I" can never change, because that sense of "I" will continue to exist with you, no matter where you go. You are a unit of force, and that unit is a self-conscious unit, and when you leave this body, you take that sense of "I" with you, whether you have a gross physical, or an astral, or a causal body.

You have always the sense of "I" with you. When you dream, you have the sense of "I" within; when you are in sound sleep, you have this sense; otherwise you would not remember that you slept and had no dreams. You can never get rid of this sense of "I" unless you attain to the highest liberation or the freedom of the soul and become one with

God. Then your individuality is infinite. Just as the individuality of Christ was not lost when he realized that he and his Father were one, but it became infinitely expanded. Therefore we can never lose our individuality. Sometimes some of the souls, after passing out of the body at the time of death, contract all the forces that are scattered all over the body and come to a nucleus like an atom, and there it may lose its personality for the time being.

This personality is subject to change and might be held in an earth-bound condition. If it has strong attachments to the relatives or the friends and if it cannot get over those attachments, it hovers around them, remains close to them, tries to help them, to be loved by them, and there it is conscious of its personality. For instance, if I build a beautiful house and that beautiful house abounds in beautiful furniture and such things, and if I have devoted most of my time in decorating that house, I become so attached to it that after death I would dislike to leave that spot and I would remain right there, invisible. I might not be seen by others, but my strong attachment will hold me there in that place. I would be wondering while my relatives and friends and all the dearest ones do not recognize me and there I have to suffer. Now that is what happens with certain people who do not know that they are dead. They retain their personality.

At the time of the war in Europe¹, there were soldiers who died with the feelings of revenge, hatred and anger in their hearts. It is a fact that after death they found that they were continuously fighting. They projected the forms of their enemies and tried to fight against them. It is a state of unrest. It is just like a state of hell. There is a worse hellish condition after the death of the soldiers who fight in the battlefield in the spirit world than they have here. Sometimes a soul passes out suddenly when his body is blown into atoms through an explosion. The shock of that explosion is so great that the soul remains unconscious for a long time. There happens no further progress of this soul. Those who understand the spiritual laws, never advocate war, because we have no right to take the lives of the individuals, especially of our own brethren who have come to this world to develop their conditions. Instead of helping them, we are taking their lives, cutting it short suddenly by swords and by all kinds of instruments of war. It is a terrible state of affairs, and the souls, after passing out of this body, are in a state of the unconsciousness. They do not know where they are. Then they are in an utter confusion. They need help of someone to guide them and to make them realize that they have left their bodies. They need help for restoring their lost consciousness.

A story now comes to my mind, of what was supposed to have been a communication from one of the residents of that city, Los Angeles, who passed away in 1913. He was a Supreme Court Judge and he was supposed to communicate with this world through some friends. It

^{1.} World War I.

was a very terrible condition for the particular woman whom he met in the other world and whom he knew in this material world. She was living in a boarding house and after she passed out, she was still living in a boarding house, and she was eating beef steak, meat and potatoes, but she did not like coffee. The coffee was very poor and she grumbled. She said: "It is terrible. I cannot sit at the table with the same friends. And potatoes are not very good." But still she was hungry and she ate.

Now that gives the idea of what we can do, when we are in an earthbound condition. She did not realize that she had passed away, but she thought that she was still living. She thought that it was funny that she did not have the same or better friends than she had here in this world. That shows that we take all our desires with us after death and we manufacture these objects of enjoyment by our thoughts. The realm beyond death is the realm of the realized ideals, or of the realized thoughts. If we think of a piece of bread, the bread is there and we will eat. If we feel hungry, we are eating. If we think of coffee, we are drinking coffee. Thus we see how important it is for us to understand this that if we die with the attachment to any particular kind of food, or any particular kind of clothes or jewels, or anything in this life, we carry that attachment with us, and with our desire we manufacture those things out of the finer material in the spirit world.

Instead of progressing and casting off these first conditions which are narrow and which limit the progress of the souls, we take them with us and continue to enjoy them until we go to sleep and wake up. If our good thoughts and good deeds would help us, then we could go on progressing. But many of the departed spirits remain in that state of delusion for a long time. Our time does not affect the spirits. Our thousand years may be five days to them, because ours is according to our standard and theirs according to their standard. So no one can say how long a soul will remain in any particular condition, but it is important that we should remember this law that we create our future, we create our destiny, and we build our character by our thoughts and deeds.

It is not that we suddenly get transformed and grow wings, but it is the continuity of this present life. Life after death means the continuity of this life only on another plane. But it is not a place. There is no space relation. It is like a wheel within a wheel. Just as you can hear the vibrations of different musical instruments, one can be of low vibration and another of high and both can exist without interfering with each other. At the same time you can hear both. Similarly around this earth there is a spirit world. It is like the fourth dimension. It is on another plane. All that exist here in this material plane, do not exist there, because the space-relations do not exist there.

Those who have firm faith and belief in a heaven, where the angels sing the praises of the Lord, where there would be peace like the peace on Sunday in a city, where everything is closed, or is in a peaceful church and those who believe in things like these, will find them there. Because all the human beings are attracted to those dream-like states which we call heaven. And there are many such heavens. The Mohammedan who believes in the *houris* and the drinking of wine and having fine air and plenty of shade, and if he holds that as an ideal, will go to a plane of consciousness where he will project all these ideas and make his own heaven.

But these conditions are not eternal. They are like dream states. There are many such heavens. Each nation and each particular tribe among different nations had held a certain belief of what they would enjoy after death in a celestial realm. For instance the Red Indian who has his belief in a hunting ground, goes to heaven like the hunting ground. He believes in that like the old Scandinavian going to Valhalla, where he would sit in front of Odin and he would fight with his other friends, and during the fight he would be wounded and then miraculously healed of his wounds. Then they would run and chase a wild boar and have a big feast and this will continue everyday throughout eternity. Some will find peace that way, but not throughout eternity.

I have mentioned already that eternity is a long time, and even millions of years are not to be considered as eternity. Eternity means time without end and without beginning. It is just like a circle. Eternity forms always a circle. All progress must go up to a certain point and then it will come back again. Some go to heaven suddenly. At the time of the expiration of their celestial happiness, their other desires will wake up which are dormant for the time being and those will bring them down to this plane again. They will be born again as human beings.

Now you need not get frightened about it, for they had such desires. There is no one who forces them, but it is their desires. They are creating their own conditions. That is the law. No one punishes the wicked, no one rewards the virtuous, but the soul rewards and punishes itself as the result of its own thoughts and deeds. We gravitate. You are here, because you have the desire to come to this world and enjoy certain pleasures and gain certain experiences which you would not get anywhere else. The same conditions prevail after you have gone to heaven. You will come back here again, and will gain some new experiences. And this is a great blessing that it is so, otherwise, it would be a very monotonous state of affairs to play on the same harp. I would not enjoy that. You might enjoy, because you have been trained to believe that it is a high state.

So the condition is this that after death we continue to live and go through different realms where we develop certain powers and each of them contains the potentialities and the possibilities. You must not think, three scores¹ of years and ten in one plane have finished your manifestation. It could not be. The Christians have been taught that the Lord created them at the time of their births and they came suddenly out of nothing and they will continue to live for ever. That is not possible, because the eternal life does not mean that it has a beginning at one end and at the other end it is endless. It has already been said that you cannot imagine of a stick which you are holding at one end, and the other end would go to eternity and be endless. No, because what has a beginning, must have an end. That is the law of nature. No one can imagine a thing having a beginning but no end. Some think that this physical body can be kept throughout eternity, but that is impossible, because that which has birth must die. Of course, it may go through a transformation, but it would not be the same body, just as we do not possess the same body which we had when we were babies. The baby-body is changed into the young body and that into the mature body, because every seven years every molecule of our body is renewed. You have not the same brain, same sense of sight, and same sense of hearing; it is constantly changing. But, in the midst of these changes, there is something unchangeable, and unless you realize that something, you cannot expect to have permanent peace and happiness, because in the midst of all changes, you remain as the centre, around which all the changes are going on like a whirlpool. You are the self-conscious entity, which can never die. So have faith in yourself that you are immortal.

By immortality is meant eternal life, both beginningless and endless. No one has created you, and no one could create you out of nothing. God Himself could not also create, but He projects everything from within. So you existed first as a part of God and you have come here in this world through experience, and manifested your powers, and again you are going back to God. Thus you complete the circle. It is the play of the divine forces of nature, and you are only their manifestations. Each individual unit of the self-conscious entity will realize its infinite nature by going through a great many manifestations either in this cycle, or in a cycle that will come.

You must understand that the soul can come down from the heavenly plane to this plane of consciousness and be born again with more developed powers, either to gain new experiences, or to help others to gain knowledge. There are certain souls who are perfected and who come down consciously, remembering all that they have gone through. They remember it all, and they have come down through sheer joy, as it were, to help humanity and set an example like Christ or Buddha or other saviours. But we do not have that power.

Score is an old word for the number 20. The expression is found in the Bible "three score years and ten" meaning: "seventy years old" (3*20+10) (Psalm 90). This was thought to be a normal life span. (Source: Wikipedia)

We gravitate, being forced by our past deeds. For instance, I have the desire to be one of the best artists and before I realize my ideal, if I suddenly pass away, I think that my desires will have gone for nothing. But that is not true, because they will bring me back again and put me in the proper environment through the proper channel, so that I could realize my ideal of the artist once more. That is a great comfort that it is so. One plane of life is not enough. We have been told that everything was fixed before we came to this plane; but how can one individual understand or know everything of this world of infinite phenomena unless they have infinite lives?

For that reason the teachings of Vedanta are in perfect harmony with nature. It does not condemn any such ideas, but it puts them in their proper places. Some people have dreams of heavens, and they will go there. But if we are told that this heaven is an eternal state, we are hearing a statement which cannot be true. We must realize that the life after death is the continuation of the present life and we make our future according to our thoughts and deeds. We are the creators of our destiny, of our character, and of our future, and we will continue to live and come back and be born again on this earth or on some other planet. We may go to some other planet where there are different conditions and we may develop up the infinite realm of this universal Spirit. There is no end of experiences, but a perfected soul reaches that state where there is no more birth, no more death, and no more disease, sorrow, or suffering. There reigns the absolute peace and happiness, perfect knowledge and wisdom which are the highest goal of human life.¹

 In the Brihadaranyaka Upanishad (4.4.6), we find: "Being attached, he together with the work attains that result to which his subtle body (*sukshma-sariram* or *lingam*) or mind is attached. Exhausting the results of whatever work he did in this life, he returns from that world to this for (fresh) work. Thus does the man who desires transmigrates. But the man who does not desire never transmigrates. Of him who is without desires, who is free from desire, the objects of whose desire have been attained, and to whom all objects of desire are but the self, the organs do not depart. Being but Brahman (God), he is merged in Brahman. Vide also the Mundaka Upanishad, 3.2.2 – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

CHAPTER XI

SPIRITUALISM AND VEDANTA

The Gita says: 1

The supreme Lord says: "The votaries of the gods or angels go to the gods; to the ancestors go the ancestor-worshippers. The spirit-worshippers go to the spirits; but those who are devoted to Me, attain to Me and reach perfection".

Modern spiritualism claims to have a supernatural origin like all other great religions of the world which have been founded upon the supernatural revelations. It has played its most important part in toning down the dogmas of the Christian theology in reforming the religious belief of the vast majority of the American people and in starting fresh inquiries and investigations in the realm beyond the grave. Within the last fifty years, modern spiritualism has given wonderful demonstrations regarding the existence of disembodied spirits who continue to live even after the dissolution of their gross material forms. It has brought comfort and consolation to the hearts of many people who were suffering from the evil effects of scepticism and unbelief concerning a future life, caused by the dry theories of the atheistic, agnostic and materialistic thinkers of the last century.

Through the help of modern spiritualism, many of the educated and uneducated people of this country have now arrived at the conviction that there is such a thing as the human soul or a conscious entity which continues to exist after the death of the physical body. Modern spiritualism has taught that the souls of the dead are not destined to suffer eternally, but that they are comfortably situated, and do not forget their earthly friends and relatives. On the contrary, like the guardian angels, they watch over their beloved ones and are always anxious to help them and protect them from the dangers and misfortunes that surround their earthly lives. Modern spiritualism has taken away the horror of the post-mortem condition of life and has enabled the human minds to look upon death as the threshold of that wonderland, the inhabitants of which enjoy new lives, new experiences, and renewed pleasures and happiness.

Thus having established a belief in the life after death, modern spiritualism has claimed to lay the foundation of a religion under the direction of those spirits who have control over the mediums, or of those wise spirits, who visit the spiritualistic seances, whether private or professional, with a desire to enlighten the minds of the sitters by imparting the knowledge of supernatural things.

The attempts of modern spiritualism for establishing a religion upon the experiences gathered through the communications of the departed spirits, remind us of those ancient times when the primitive races were groping in the darkness of ignorance and their minds were struggling hard to see a ray of light in that thick mist which veiled the realm beyond the threshold of death. In fact, the study of modern spiritualism leads us back to that age when the religion of the primitive tribes consisted in keeping up the memory of their dead relatives and friends; when after seeing the ghost-like apparitions of the deceased, they came to believe that their ancestors were alive even when their bodies were mouldering in the grave. It also takes us back to that age when the principal form of worship was to please the departed spirits by doing such acts as they had liked most during their earthly career. This kind of ancestor-worship was the ancient form of spiritualism; and many scholars of modern times maintain that it was the beginning of all religions that are supposed to have a supernatural origin.

The ancestor-worship, of course, as we all know, means a belief in the spirits of the departed ancestors and the supernatural powers which they possess, as well as our constant remembrance of them and our services in their memory, either by following their directions or by seeking to rouse their sympathy and kindly feelings so that they may help us during the distress and misfortunes of our earthly lives. This ancestor-worship is to be found in almost all religions of the world. After studying the ancient religions of different countries, we find clear traces of this old form of spiritualism among the ancient Egyptians, Babylonians, Chaldeans, Assyrians, Chinese, Parsees, Hindus, and other races inhabiting different parts of the world.

The ancient Egyptians, like the modern spiritualists, believed in the departed spirits. Their idea was that within the physical body of man there was a soul, having the shape of the gross body in every respect and with smaller hands, feet, and other limbs. It was like the 'double' or the counterpart of the physical man. When the physical man died, his counterpart or 'double' went out of the body and lived. The life of the "double', according to the Egyptian belief, depended upon the condition of the material body i.e. so long as the gross form remained intact, the form of the 'double' would remain perfect. But if any part of the dead body was mutilated or injured, then the similar part of the 'double' would also be mutilated or injured. It was for this reason that they cared so much to preserve the dead bodies by making mummies and building pyramids. This belief was the fundamental principle of spiritualism and the ancestor-worship of the ancient Egyptians.

The Babylonians and the Chaldeans also believed in the departed spirits, but not exactly in the same manner as the Egyptians did. They believed in the wandering shade of the dead which was called 'ekimmu' i.e. a spectre. It was like the shape of the physical man with similar form, but they thought that it would meet with great misfortunes if the dead body were not buried with proper ceremonies, and so they observed a great many ceremonies in order to make the departed souls free from all misfortunes. The Babylonians believed that the souls of those dead bodies, which were not buried with proper ceremonies, could not enter the house of the dead, called 'arallu' i.e. the underground abode of the dead. It was like the 'sheol' of the Hebrews. Therefore, the Babylonians, Chaldeans and Assyrians took special care in burying the dead. The embalming of the dead body, the building of monuments and tombstones and decorating of them with flowers, wreaths, flags, and other grave-offerings, which are practised today by the Christian nations in Europe and America, are but the remnants of the ancestor-worship of the ancient Babylonians and Chaldeans. These customs have been handed down to us and we now blindly follow them without knowing their original meaning.

In the same manner, it can be shown that the religion of the ancient Chinese was purely the ancestor-worship. The Chinese have always believed in the spirits of their departed ancestors and relatives. They invoke them seeking their help in time of need, and pray to them for welfare and prosperity. Even today the departed ancestors in China are honoured with titles and praises for the meritorious acts performed by their descendants.

The ancient Parsees believed in the spirits of their dead forefathers and called them 'fravashis' or fathers. According to their belief, the spirits of the righteous were raised to the rank of the angels, the arch-angels and the gods. The Parsees used to invoke them, praise them; pray to them, and ask help and blessings of them. They used to offer them food and other offerings in memory of the 'fravashis' or fathers. Thus we see that the ancestor-worship or the ancient form of spiritualism gave foundation to the religion of the Parsees as well as of the Egyptians, Babylonians, Chaldeans and Chinese.

In Judaism, Christianity and Mohammedanism traces of ancestor-worship have been discovered by modern scholars and higher critics of the scriptures. In the 28th chapter of the first Samuel in the Old Testament, we read that Saul went to consult with the witch of Endor who had familiar spirits. At the request of Saul, the witch invoked the spirit of Samuel who appeared and gave him good counsels. The witches and wizards of the Old Testament were nothing more than the mediums of modem spiritualism. If the spiritualistic mediums of the present day had lived about four centuries ago, they would have been condemned by the Church as witches and perhaps would have been hanged or burned at the stake.

The Hebrew word 'Elohim', which has often been translated as God in the English Bible, was applied also to disembodied spirits. It is said that the witch of Endor saw Elohim ascending out of the earth; here Elohim was used in the sense of disembodied spirit of the dead. It was a kind of materialization of the departed spirits, such as is to be seen in the seances today. Do we not find a clear trace of the ancestor-worship in Judaism when we read:

'And Saul perceived that it was Samuel, and he bowed with his face to the ground and did obeisance.' ¹

The saint-worship among the Roman Catholics is another form of ancestor-worship or a remnant of ancient spiritualism. If we go to Rome or to any other part of Italy, we see the status of canonized saints over their tombs which are decorated with flowers and lighted candles, and the spirits of those saints are invoked with prayers and offerings. In fact, the beginning of the altars of churches and temples can be traced back to the graves of the ancestors who lived righteous lives ². The offerings and the sacrifices in the name of God likewise originated in the belief that the departed ancestors had hunger and thirst just as they had when they were in flesh and blood. That which was at first the food and drink for the dead, developed into the form of sacrifices. The Holy Communion, the offering of thanks, and the Eucharist of the Christians are only the relics of the ceremonies connected with the ancestor-worship or the spirit-worship of the primitive people.

Similar ceremonies still prevail among the heathen races who have never heard of Christ or of his crucification. They were the spontaneous expressions of the human minds which revered and honoured the memory of their departed ancestors. The chants and the praises which were used by the primitive people to describe virtues and heroic qualities and the deeds of their dead ancestors, have gradually taken the forms of the hymns of praise which are sung in churches and temples. Both Christ and Mohammad had believed in the departed spirits, and saw the angels ascending and descending over their heads, and received revelations through those who were but the spirits of the righteous.

1. Samuel I, Chapter 28:14.

Furthermore, the very idea of a church itself descended from the early Christian meeting-places in the catacombs or at the tombs of the martyrs, which are universally allowed to have been the primitive Christian altars. Thus Christianity is linked on to the very antique custom of worship at tombs, and the habit of ancestor-worship by altars, relics, and invocation of saints, even revolutionary Protestantism still retaining some last faint marks of its origin in the dedication of churches to particular evangelists or martyrs, and in the more or less disguised survival of altar, priesthood, sacrifice, and vestments.'

^{2.} Grant Allen in his book "The Evolution of the Idea of God" mentions: 'It is the universal Catholic custom to place the relics of saints or martyrs under the altars in churches. Thus the body of St. Mark the evangelist lies under the high altar of St. Mark's, at Venice; and in every other Italian Cathedral, or Chapel, a reliquary is deposited within the altar itself. So well understood is this principle in the Latin Church that it has hardened into the saying, 'No relic, no altar.' The sacrifice of the Mass takes place at such an altar, and is performed by a priest in sacrificial robes. The entire Roman Catholic ritual is a ritual derived from the earlier sacerdotal ideas of ministry at an altar and its connection with the primitive form is still kept up by the necessary presence of human remains in its holy places.

In India, from the very ancient times the belief in departed spirits has played an important part in shaping the religious ideals of the Hindus. This belief found expression in the oldest scriptural writings of the Vedic period. As early as the time of the Rig Veda which goes back at least five thousand years before the birth of Christ, the idea was very common and there we read many hymns with invocations, addressed to the Pitris, or the departed Fathers.¹ They were invoked, praised, and invited to accept the offerings made to them at the time of the 'Shraddha'. The Sanskrit word 'Shraddha' means anything done in the memory of the departed ancestors. It includes the prayers, the praises, and the offerings. One of the daily duties of the Hindu house-holders is to spend a few minutes in thinking of their departed ancestors and in doing some good works in their name. They will feed the poor and the hungry, or give clothes to the needy, or make pilgrimages in the name of their dead relatives. The Hindu belief is that the fruits of such good works, when performed in the name of the departed spirits, will go to them and help them in their onward progress. All virtuous deeds, performed by the relatives and friends of the departed ones in the name of their ancestors, will surely bring good results to them.

According to the religion of Vedanta, the souls of the ordinary mortals remain earth-bound for some time after their death, and expect help from their relatives and friends who are left behind. The good thoughts and the good deeds of the living help the departed spirits in obtaining release from the earth-bound condition, and thus they are enabled to rise higher and enter into the realm of the Pitris, Manes, or Fathers, in order to reap the fruits of the virtuous deeds, done either by themselves, or performed for them or in their name by their descendants, friends and relatives.

The realm of the ancestors is called the pitriloka where the departed spirits of the ancestors, it is believed, enjoy the heavenly life and the celestial pleasures. This realm is ruled by the first of the mortals, who, through good works, raised himself to that state of consciousness. He is called in Sanskrit 'Yama'. Those, who have read the Katha Upanishad and Sir Edwin Arnold's Secret of Death, are familiar with this word, Yama, the Ruler of the realm of the Pitris or Manes or Fathers, who bestow all comforts and happiness according to the desires of those who reach that plane of existence. The realm of the Fathers or the ancestors corresponds to the heaven of the modem spiritualists. To go there is the highest ideal of the ancient ancestor-worship and also of modern spiritualism.

In the 10th Mandala of the Rig Veda, there are 72 mantras between the 14th and 18th Suktas. Those mantras or hymns have been addressed to Pitriloka, Yama, Pitriloka-Devata, Agni, Sarayu, Pusia; Sarasvati Water; Soma, Mrityu, Dhata and Tastha, in connection with the burial, cremation and partial cremation. In the 2nd hymn of the 16th Sukta we find also the seed of reincarnation of the soul:

[&]quot;O Agni, when you will burn his body satisfactorily, send him then to the inhabitants of the pitriloka. When he will be born again, he will be devoted to the devatas".

This hymn proves also the existence of the soul in the world beyond death. – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

Spiritualism, whether ancient or modem, cannot describe any stage beyond the realm of the Fathers. The religion which the modem spiritualists preach and claim as the true religion, does not take us further than this belief that we shall meet our departed ancestors, friends, and relatives, and rejoice in their company after death, and enjoy all the pleasures of life. The same ideal has been maintained by the ancestor-worshippers of all countries. The heaven of the ancestor-worshippers of ancient times is the heaven of modern spiritualists. It is the realm of the Fathers. Many people may doubt its existence, but there is no reason for such doubts. Spiritualism leads human minds only a step beyond the grave in the world of phenomena, and opens the way to the belief in this realm of the departed spirits. Where the ideal of the ancestor-worship or the heaven of modern spiritualism ends, there is the beginning of the higher religion of Vedanta which points out the path that directs the individual souls to the eternal Truth which is beyond all phenomena, beyond heaven, and above the realm of the Fathers, and even far beyond the reach of the angels, or the bright spirits, or the gods.

After ages of investigations into the nature of life, one can possibly lead in the pitriloka. The Vedantic sages and seers of Truth have discovered that the heaven of the Fathers is not the highest abode of the eternal Truth, but it is phenomenal and is subject to the laws which govern the phenomenal universe. They say that the inhabitants thereof are bound by the law of karma, or by the laws of cause and effect, or of action and reaction, and their stay on that plane is temporary although it may last for thousands of years. The Vedantic seers of Truth say that the ancestors or the Fathers do not know the highest Truth, or the absolute Reality of the universe, and being bound by desires, they cannot reach the plane of Divinity, and consequently, they cannot teach the divine Truth which they do not know themselves.

These ancient seers of the absolute Truth have realized through their own experience that the inhabitants of the spirit world, or of the heaven of the ancestors, or the realm of the Pitris, do not and cannot know the highest Truth on the plane of Divinity. Therefore, they cannot teach others, and so they have warned their disciples, followers, and seekers after Truth in general not to waste their time and energy in seeking spiritual help from those departed spirits who have no knowledge of truths that exist beyond the world of psychic phenomena and who do not possess the power of helping any seeker after divine realization.

Disregarding such wise warnings, the American spiritualists of modern times have been spending their time and energy and wasting their money in the vain hope of gaining the favour of those departed spirits, of learning the mysteries of life and death from them, and of solving the problems which trouble most human minds. The modern spiritualists claim to establish the foundation of a true religion upon imperfect knowledge, derived from the communications of the foolish, deceitful, idiotic, and ignorant earth-bound spirits who control the mediums and pretend to know everything, regarding the realms beyond death. The students of Vedanta often wonder how sensible men and women can sit in public seances night after night and listen with great admiration and rapturous attention to the senseless prattle of ignorant spirits who are supposed to control the weak minds of the mediums.

Having spent some time with the mediums of all kinds that exist in America, I wish to say a few words regarding my experience. I have been invited by the spiritualists to speak for them and to attend their seances. I had accepted their invitations with great pleasure in order to make some investigations for my own satisfaction. I have seen many materialized spirits and have spoken with them. I have had long conversations with some who spoke through tin trumpets and have asked them many questions, but I have not found a single spirit in any seance and not a single medium who could answer my questions satisfactorily. I have asked them about the life after death, the origin of the soul, the true nature of the soul, its relation to the universal Spirit, etc., but such questions, however, have never been answered by them; on the contrary, on many occasions they have confessed their ignorance and have said: 'We do not know; you know better than what we can tell you'. Some spirits have often referred to me for my approval of their answers to the questions which they were asked by other sitters. A few years ago, I was amused to hear from a materializing spirit in a public seance: 'Oh, here is a thinking-box; what can we say before him?' This exclamation came from an American Indian spirit. I was sitting next to the husband of the medium and as he was a friend of mine, I asked him the meaning of such a remark. He said: 'She refers to you'. I inquired: 'Why?' He replied 'She thinks you are very wise, and she cannot show her power.' I am sorry to say that the seance was not successful that evening.

On another occasion, I had a long talk with a spirit, and asked her many questions regarding the mode of living in the spirit world, and her answers to my questions were perfectly idiotic. The spirit said that she went to schools and studied books. I asked: 'What books do you read? Can you mention the name of any book you read?' 'No', she said, 'I do not know the names.'

Sometimes, however I have noticed that telepathically my own thoughts and my own ideas and very expressions were reproduced as perfectly as if I was answering my own question. I was also pleased to hear the remarks which the spiritualistic mediums made after hearing my discourse on *Reincarnation*. Some of them congratulated me and said: 'My spirit-guides have taught me exactly what you have explained.' But other mediums did not like the idea of reincarnation at all, because they had not learned it from their spirit-controls. Supposing all the phenomena of spiritism to be true and genuine, what have the spiritualists gained by these communications outside the satisfaction of their idle curiosity? Have they learned any of the higher truths? Have they understood any of the laws that govern the spiritual nature of man? Have they known why human beings come to this earth and why they go away suddenly? I have asked many of the mediums as well as their spirit-guides, and have found that they do not know anything regarding the origin of the soul. Their answers are always based upon the dogmas of Christian theology, which they learned in their childhood in Sunday schools. They say: 'God creates the soul at the time of birth, and the soul continues to exist for ever.' If one asks: 'How do you know that the soul did not exist before the birth of the body?' They do not answer.

Although many of the spirit manifestations and spirit communications have been exposed as fraudulent and many of them can be explained by telepathy and thought-transference, still there are some genuine phenomena which cannot be explained by any other theory than that of the communication of the disembodied spirits.

On many occasions, the audience is fooled by the spirits, some of whom are neither wise nor truthful. In some cases, they take the appearance of some other spirits and deceive the sitters. The poor and innocent mediums may not know that such tricks are played upon them by their dishonest spirit-guides, so they are not to be held responsible for the fraud in many cases. But the spirits are to be blamed.

Therefore how can we expect to learn the absolute Truth from these spiritualists whose controls and guides themselves are ignorant, deceitful, and not wiser than the mediums? Vain is the hope of those spiritualists who expect to know the absolute Truth through communications from the earth-bound spirits.

In India, the seekers after the absolute Truth do not go to any spiritualistic medium to obtain the knowledge of the soul or of God, because they are taught from their childhood that the spirits who do communicate with the ordinary mortals through mediums are ignorant and earth-bound. They need our help more than they can help us in any way.

These seekers after truth do not seek wisdom from the Fathers, or the departed ancestors, because they know that the inhabitants of the spirit-world or heaven, or the pitriloka, the realm of the Fathers, are not perfect, but that they go there being bound by desires to enjoy the fruits of their good works for some time. At the expiration of that period, they are forced to come down from that plane to the world ¹, that eventually they are bound to reincarnate as human beings in order to fulfil other human desires which are latent in them and to reap

such results of works as are to be obtained on the human plane alone. No individual, remaining in the plane of human desires, can escape this wheel of birth and rebirth which covers all the stages between the highest heaven on one side and the earthly existence on the other. So long as desires remain in us, we are bound to go through the changeful conditions and existences, and meet such environments as are subject to changes.

Those who enter into the heaven of the modem spiritualists are similarly subject to the law of karma, or that of cause and sequence. Being bound by that law, they must remain there until they have reaped the results of their good deeds and good thoughts. They will then come down to this phenomenal earth and will be reincarnated again as human beings, in order to satisfy their human desires and human tendencies on the human plane. Cycle after cycle, the individual souls remanifest themselves on different planes of existence, in accordance with their thoughts, desires, and works. They may go to the heaven of the Pitris, or the ancestors, or any other higher realm of the spirits.

Having understood this grand law of karma, the Vedanta philosophers and the seekers after absolute Truth in India searched for that subtle path, by which the individual soul can escape the wheel of rebirth in this world and transcend all laws and all stages of the phenomenal universe from the heaven of the spiritualists and the ancestor-worshippers up to the highest realm of the *Devas*, or the gods. In the Bhagavad Gita, the Lord says:

"Even the inhabitants of the highest heavens are subject to the laws of rebirth and reincarnation. He alone is free from birth and rebirth and transcends all phenomena, who, after knowing the absolute Truth and after realizing the supreme Spirit, becomes one with the Divinity." ¹

The path which leads to the realization of the absolute Truth or to the abode of the eternal and unchangeable Reality of the universe is different from that which leads to the realm of the fathers, or to the heaven of the spiritualists or the dualistic religions. The entrance into the heaven of the ancestor-worshippers depends upon good and righteous works. It comes as the effect of good thoughts and good deeds. But the performance of good deeds and good thoughts cannot produce as its result the attainment of God-consciousness, or Divine realization or absolute Truth, which is the highest ideal of all religions. No amount of good thoughts and deeds can produce as their effect something which is beyond thoughts and mind, and consequently, beyond the reach of their effects, because the Divine realization is not within the realm of the psychic phenomena, nor can it be reached by mind, intellect, and the sense powers.

The path which leads the individual soul to the realization of the Absolute is neither through the righteous works, nor through the belief in the departed spirits, nor by the worship of the spirits of the ancestors, but through the Self-knowledge or the knowledge of the relation which the individual soul bears to the universal Spirit. That path is called in Vedanta, the *devayana*, the divine path or the path which leads to Divinity ¹. The travellers on this path are those who are the most sincere and earnest seekers after the Absolute. They do not care for the phenomena, whether physical or psychic, their souls soar high above the clouds of desires that cover the light of the spiritual sun in the ordinary mortals; but their highest aim, loftiest aspiration and deepest longing of the soul are to realize that unchangeable Truth which is beyond mind and intellect and which the fathers in the heavens of the spiritualists cannot reach. We must go there in order to find the correct solution of all the problems concerning life and death.

True religion does not depend upon any of the psychical phenomena that are to be seen in the seances, nor is it based upon the ancestor-worship. Therefore the religion of Vedanta tells us not to seek Divine wisdom from the departed spirits, and not to waste our time and energy by going after them, because the result will not be successful. The spiritualists who seek the highest wisdom from the communications with the departed spirits are deluded, and they do not know the limitations of those earth-bound souls.

Such earth-bound souls may take the form of a great wise man or a sage and may appear in a seance and pretend to give the highest truths, but the sensible persons will easily find out how deceitful some of them are. We must be very careful in dealing with the spirits. I have seen people who, after investigating spiritualism and seeing all these phenomena, have lost all faith and have become atheistic in their ideas. The modern spiritualists are like babies in this line of thought. The seekers after the absolute Truth in India have searched, and gained experience for thousands of years in studying the characters of the earth-bound and also of the higher spirits.

The Hindus do not allow anyone to become mediumistic. They say that those who go into that condition are committing a great psychological crime, by making their own minds and bodies which they have got for their own development, subject to the influences of other spirits for the fulfilment of their desires. We know that the mediums get more or less moral and physical wrecks in the end. If spiritualism can enlighten the minds of the peoples as they claim, why do we see that many of these mediums are ignorant and idiotic?

Chandogya Upanishad (Chapter 5, Section 10, Verses 3-4) and Brihadaranyaka Upanishad, 6.2.15. In the 18th verse of the Isha Upanishad we find also: "Agne nayasupatha raye asmana" etc. The word supatha means the devayana which is opposed to dakshina-marga of the workers (karmis), who perform sacrifices with the desire of going to heaven or to some other higher lokas. In the Bhagavad Gita (Chapter 8, Verses 24-25), there is also mention of the paths, uttarayana and dakshinayana. – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

They do not understand the moral and spiritual laws that govern our souls. They have lost the power of self-control. They cannot control the trance-like condition when their animation is suspended, and their mind, brain and the whole body are at the mercy of another power outside of themselves. The will-power of the mediums is generally weak. Their vital energy, life-force and intellectual powers are used by other spirits which have control over them. Once I asked a good materializing medium how she felt after coming out of the mediumistic condition. She replied: 'I feel as though there were nothing in me, as if all vitality and life had been taken out of me. I cannot think or do anything for some time.' Is not this a pitiable condition? It is for this reason in India; the earth-bound souls who are trying to get possession of the weak-minded mortals are delighted to find anyone who seeks their help.

The genuine phenomena of spiritism may do some good in the way of satisfying the curiosity of certain people, or of bringing the assurance that there is a life after death. They may foretell some petty trivial events in connection with our business or daily life, but they cannot bring to us the highest wisdom and happiness which come to the soul through Divine communion.

These spirits are not the angels, as the spiritualists claim, but they are, in reality, the earthbound spirits. The modern spiritualism may encourage the hope of meeting the departed spirits of our friends and relatives, and may bring consolation in the minds of those who doubt their existence, but it cannot give us the realization of the absolute Truth, or the attainment of God-consciousness. It cannot lift us above the realm of the fathers or the ancestors who are dwelling in the pitriloka. The aim of religion of Vedanta, on the contrary, is to make the individual soul realize its own true nature and to bring its reunion with the universal spirit and to transform it into the divine Being, which transcends all the limitations of time and space and all the laws which bind us to this earthly plane. The aim of the religion of Vedanta is to make us realize the eternal Truth in this life and to be perfect as the Father in Heaven is perfect.

The attainment of God-consciousness is the highest ideal of Vedanta. It shows the way, by which we can reach the ultimate goal of all religions, manifest Divinity in the deeds or actions of our daily life, and becoming free from selfishness and independent of physical and mental conditions, as to how we may live as a living God. For this reason, it is said in Vedanta:

'You may read the scriptures, or repeat scriptural passages day after day; you may offer sacrifices, prayers and invocations to the spirits or angels for help, or worship the spirits of departed ancestors for wisdom and knowledge; but so long as you do not realize the true nature of your Self, so long as you do not feel that reunion of the individual soul with the universal Spirit, you shall not attain to spiritual freedom and perfection.' ¹

NOTE

By Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta

Vadarayana (also written as Badarayana) in his Brahmasutra (Chapter 3, Section 1, Verses 1-27) has mentioned how the soul, accompanied by the *mukhya-prana* (chief vital air or spirit), the sense-organs and the mind and taking with itself nescience (*avidya*), moral good or ill-karma, and the impressions left by its precious existence, leaves its body (after death) and obtains a new body. Commenting on the 8th verse in the 3rd Chapter (Section 1) of the Brahma Sutra, Acharya Sankara explains:

"The souls of those who perform sacrifices and the like, rise on the road, leading through smoke and so on, to the sphere of the moon, and when they have done with enjoyment (of the fruits of their works), again descend, having dwelt there. "*yavatsampatam... punaravartante yathetam*," – "they return again that way as they came" etc. Again in connection with the mantra 3.1.22 in the Brahmasutra, Sankara has explained the method of descending of the souls, after quoting the text of the Upanishad: "They return again by the way they came, to the ether, from the ether to the air. Then the sacrificer, having become air he becomes smoke, having become smoke he becomes mist, having become mist he becomes a cloud, having become a cloud he rains down". Vide also Max Muller: <u>The Six Systems of Indian Philosophy</u>.

CHAPTER XII

SPIRITUALISM AND ANCESTOR-WORSHIP

Many scholars maintain that the ancestor-worship was the beginning of all great religions that claim a supernatural origin. The ancestor-worship, as we all know, means a kind of belief in the spirits of the departed ones and in the supernatural powers which they possess and also constant remembrance of those spirits in our minds. Resignation of the will under their direction will rouse the sympathy and kind feelings for those who are left behind them.

It has been said before that among the ancient religions of the world we find traces of this ancestor-worship among the Egyptians, Chaldeans, Chinese and Hindus and other races that inhabit different parts of the world. Among the ancient Egyptians we find a belief similar to that of the modern spiritualists. They believed that within the body of the human beings there was a kind of being, similar in form to human beings with similar hands, feet, and all other parts of the body, and it was something like the 'double' of the physical man. This counterpart or 'double' went out of the body and lived, and, according to their belief, the life of this double or counterpart, depended upon the physical form of the human beings.

If any part of this physical form was injured, the similar part of the double or counterpart would also be injured. It is for this reason the Egyptians cared so much for the dead bodies of their ancestors, and preserved them by making them into mummies. The pyramids were built for the purpose of preserving the mummies or the dead bodies. The Egyptians had the belief that so long as these physical forms would remain perfect, this double would remain perfect and intact.

The ancient Babylonians had a belief a little different from that of the Egyptians. They preserved the dead bodies, embalmed them, and built tombs over them, putting flowers, wreaths and flags over the graves. This is practised in these days in Europe and America, and is a remnant of the ancestor-worship of the Babylonians. The main religion of the Chinese is the ancestor-worship. The Parsees of the ancient days believed also in the departed spirits and called them the fravashis, or the fathers. They invoked these spirits, prayed to them, and asked help and blessings of them.

According to the belief of the Parsees, the spirits of the righteous people had been raised to the ranks of the arch-angels and the guardian angels. The Parsees used to offer food and sacrifices in the names of the departed fathers and called upon them whenever they wished anything of a supernatural nature. Thus we see that this ancestor-worship gave a foundation to the religions of the Parsees as well as to the Babylonians, the Chinese and the Egyptians. In Judaism and Mohammedanism, traces of this worship are discovered by modern scholars.

The Hebrew word 'elohim', which is translated as God, is used with the meaning of departed spirit. The Witch of Endor saw 'elohim' come out of the earth. Do we not find a trace of the ancestor-worship when we read in the Samuel:

'And Saul perceived that it was Samuel, and he bowed with his face to the ground and did obeisance?'

The sacrifices that are made in the name of God, originated from the belief that the departed spirits have hunger and thirst just as much as when they were in flesh and blood. This offering of food and drink gradually developed into sacrifices. The communion and the offering of thanks and the Eucharist of the Christians are only the relics of the ceremonies in connection with the ancestor-worship. The chants and praises that were offered by the primitive people to commemorate their ancestors and to describe the heroic deeds and virtues of the departed spirits, gradually developed into the hymns of praise which we have today.

Both Christ and Mohammad believed in the departed spirits and the angels, good and evil. They received revelations through these angels who were righteous and holy. Amongst the Mohammedans we find that they erect mosques and tombs. These graves are regarded as holy places, and are visited by pilgrims from time to time. In India, this belief in the departed spirits played an important part in shaping the religious ideals of the Hindus; and that belief found its expression in the most ancient scriptural writings.

In the Vedas, we read that these spirits of the fathers were invited to accept the offerings of food and drink at the time of the *shraddha* ceremony. When a person dies, after a fortnight or a month all the relatives gather to do good works, and perform sacrifices in the name of that departed spirit. They feed the poor, and give wealth and make charity, etc. The word *shraddha* means doing good in the memory of some one. One of the daily duties of the Hindu householder is to spend a few minutes in thinking of the departed ancestors and in doing certain good acts in their name, giving something to the poor and feeding the hungry or giving clothes to the needy. The Hindus believe that these good acts, when done in the name of the departed spirits, are a help to the spirits in their onward progress.

According to the Hindu belief, every mortal after death remains earth-bound for some time, and those spirits who are in that condition, seek help of the living ones, the descendants, relatives and friends to free them from the earth-bound condition. The good deeds and the good thoughts, performed in the memory of the departed ones, help them, giving them chances of getting out of that earth-bound condition, and gradually they rise in the realm of the fathers where they stay and reap the results of the good works, either done by themselves or performed in their name by the descendants, friends and relatives. The realm of the fathers was discovered by the first mortal who by good works succeeded in finding the path to that realm, and afterwards became the ruling god of those who came later. This is called the pitriloka. Those who have read the Katha and other Upanishads, are familiar with this name. This realm extended all the comforts of life to those who reached there.

This realm of the fathers is heaven, the ideal place of the ancestor-worshippers as well as heaven of the modern spiritualists, even though they do not call it by that name. The religion of the spiritualists, whether ancient or modern, cannot describe that state in which their ancestors live. That religion cannot take us beyond that realm and cannot us anything beyond the belief that after our death, we shall meet our departed friends and live and rejoice with them for ever and enjoy happiness in that heavenly condition. But this heaven of the ancestor-worshippers and also of the modern spiritualists is not the highest heaven. Where the heaven of the ancestor-worshippers and modern spiritualists ends, there begins the foundation of the true religion which leads to the abode of the eternal Truth which is beyond all laws, all psychic conditions, all pleasures, and all comforts of life.

After ages of investigation the Hindu sages and the seers of Truth have discovered that this realm of the fathers is not the eternal abode of Truth. It is phenomenal, and the inhabitants of this realm are not free, but bound by desires for pleasures and comforts of life. They are subject to the law of karma, of cause and effect, of action and reaction, and their stay on this plane is temporary although it may last for thousands of years. They went deeper than the modern spiritualists, and by investigating the conditions of life in that realm, they saw what conditions are connected with their stay in that realm.

The ancient seers amongst the Hindus saw that these fathers cannot get beyond that realm, cannot rise on the plane of Divinity, do not understand the divine Truth, and consequently, cannot be the teachers of divine Truth. Having realized this, the seers of Truth amongst the Hindus warned their disciples, followers and seekers after Truth in general not to waste their energies and time in asking help of those who cannot know truths beyond the psychic plane and who are within the phenomenal world and cannot rise on the plane of Divinity.

Disregarding the remarks and the warnings of those ancient seers of Truth, modern spiritualists seek wisdom and knowledge of Divine things from the disembodied spirits, and try their best to gain favour of the departed ones, with the hope that they will learn something about God and the true nature of the soul and the relation of the individual soul to the universal Spirit. They try to lay the foundation of true religion, depending entirely upon knowledge gathered from the communications of some foolish, idiotic and earth-bound spirits of the dead. The Hindus wonder how sensible persons can sit night after night in the public seances, and listen to the senseless prattle of those ignorant spirits who do not know anything, and cannot understand or teach us anything about the higher truths of our life.

I have already said before that having spent some time with the mediums of all kinds that exist in America, I have not met a single medium or departed spirit who could answer satisfactorily any of the questions which I asked them regarding the life after death, or regarding the true nature of the individual soul or its relation to the universal Spirit. On the contrary, I heard many spirits say, when asked these questions: 'You yourself can answer these questions better than we can'. Sometimes I heard many spirits refer to me, when some questions were asked by other sitters. I was amused to hear some spirit say in a materializing seance last summer, and it was the spirit-control of the medium who appeared and the first thing the spirit offered was this: 'Oh, here is a thinking-box, how can we talk before him?' I did not understand what was meant, and afterwards I found this expression was used in reference to me.

The spirits would come and talk about certain things, but on some occasions, I noticed that some of the answers were nothing but the reproductions of my thoughts, my ideas, and my familiar expressions, and they were telepathically reproduced as perfectly as though I was answering my own questions. I have already said that, on other occasions, when I was lecturing on the theory of reincarnation, the mediums who came to hear me, spoke their opinions after lecture. Some came, and said to me: 'My guide teaches exactly what you have explained this afternoon'. This guide had taught them reincarnation, but other mediums disliked it very much. They came and said: 'This is a horrible idea'. I heard so many conflicting opinions that I cannot describe them now. Some would say: 'reincarnation is the only solution of life' and other spirits would say differently. If they know everything, why should they not teach it? Why should their opinions be so conflicting? So how can you expect to know the ultimate Truth and reality of the universe and the nature of our true self and its relation to God from these spirits, who are no better than the mediums themselves? As the mediums can be controlled by anyone, so their spirit-controls are simple beings that cannot explain anything of a higher order. I have already said before that supposing that

these spiritualistic seances had been proved to be true, what have the spiritualists learned from these communications beyond a kind of satisfaction of curiosity and beyond the means of earning a livelihood?

In India, of course, we do not allow our friends to become mediums, rather we think it is a disease. If one becomes mediumistic, it is very hard to get out of that condition. We do not allow public seances, because we have more respect for our ancestors and departed friends, and we do not wish to make money at the expense of these spirits. We would rather die of privations than bring down those spirits and ask them for help in the way of living and making money. The Hindus, of course, do not care so much for these kinds of seekers after truth. They do not go to the spiritualistic mediums and to public seances, because they know that the spirits who do communicate are ignorant and earth-bound. They rather pray and send good thoughts to them and try to do good acts in their names, so that they would be released from their earth-bound condition.

The wheel of birth and death covers all the stages that exist between the highest heaven of the gods and the plane of the human beings. We are going up and down according to our desires. But having discovered this grand law, the seekers after the absolute Truth searched for that path by which the individuals may escape this wheel of rebirth or reincarnation and reach that state from which there is no return. They transcend all phenomena and go beyond the realm of the Fathers. It is said in the Bhagavad Gita:

'All the realms, beginning with the highest heaven, are phenomenal. Inhabitants, therefore, are subject to the laws of cause and effect, or of action and reaction; no one is free from those laws. He alone is free who has transcended phenomena, and who, after knowing Truth, has become Truth, and who, realizing the supreme Spirit, has become one with that Spirit.

The path that leads to heaven of the ancestor-worshippers is called the pitriyana i.e. the path of the ancestors, or that of the fathers ¹. But the other path which leads to the realization of Truth is different from this path. The entrance into the heaven depends entirely upon the good thoughts and deeds of the individual, but no amount of good thoughts and deeds can produce that which is beyond all thoughts and is beyond the effects of thoughts and deeds.

The path, which leads to the realization of the absolute Truth through the knowledge of the true Self as well as of our relation to the universal Spirit, is called in Sanskrit the *devayana*, the divine path ². The teachers of this path are those who are most sincere and earnest seekers after truth, who care nothing for phenomena, whether on the physical or psychic

^{1.} See Note at end of this chapter.

^{2.} See Note at end of this chapter.

plane, and whose souls soar high above the clouds of desires that cover the light of the spirit-sun in ordinary mortals. The most genuine phenomena of the modern spirits may help some in satisfying the curiosity or in bringing a kind of hope of meeting the departed relatives and friends, and a kind of consolation in the hearts of those who are longing to meet their friends and relatives, but beyond that it cannot give the realization of Truth or the attainment of God-consciousness.

The aim of true religion is to bring the individual soul into union with the divine Spirit and to make each soul realize that reunion with the Spirit, making that soul free from the bondages and desires and longings for pleasures and happiness. He who has attained to that realization is free from ignorance and selfishness and from all other imperfections. He does not go to a spirit for knowledge, but finds all knowledge within himself. He goes to the fountainhead of all knowledge and draws the water of knowledge from that source. Spirits cannot teach such things, and fathers or ancestors cannot teach him who has realized his oneness with the Supreme Being. Such a soul is emancipated and is perfect as the Father of the universe is perfect. He is a living God upon this earth.

.

NOTE

By Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta

 Pitriyana is known as the *dhuma-marga*, the dark way of the fathers. In the Chandogya, Brihadaranyaka, Katha, Prashna and other Upanishads, and in the Bhagavad Gita, it has been described nicely. But its seed we find often in hymns of the Rig Veda used with a sacrificial instead of a funeral connotation:

Rig Veda, Mandala 10, Sukta 2, Mantra 7: "O Agni, you are born of earth and sky (dvava-prithivi). You know the definite path to the pitriloka, there, be thou so bright as to illumine that path."

2. Its nucleus we find in Rig Veda, the oldest writings of the Hindus. There we get the hymn: (Rig Veda, Mandala 10, Sukta 18 Mantra 1), i.e., "O Mrityu, go back through a different path: Give up the path that leads to the devas (*archir-marga*) and go through the way other than this (pitriyana)".

CHAPTER XIII

THE SPIRITUALISTIC MEDIUMSHIP

The phenomena of the modern spiritualism have opened a new field for scientific investigation and have inspired earnest men and women of Europe and America with a desire to communicate with their departed friends and relatives. The sceptics and the agnostics, who had no faith in a life after death, have discovered some truths about future life through the genuine communications of the disembodied spirits. They have learnt that death of the body is not the end of the soul-life, but, on the contrary, it is only the threshold of that wonderland where the spirits of the dead continue to exist and enjoy new experience and new pleasure.

Modern spiritualism, as has been said before, has given a death-blow to the hell-fire doctrines and other dogmas of Christian theology as well as to the theory that the souls of men are destined to suffer eternally. It has demonstrated the fact that the spirits of our dead friends and relatives are anxious to inform us that they are comfortable, and that they take great interest in our mundane affairs, and are always ready to direct us in the right path and help us by giving good counsels, and protect us from dangers and misfortunes which often threaten us from distance. These and many other beliefs of similar nature have been maintained by majority of the spiritualists who try to communicate with their departed friends by developing mediumistic conditions.

We are all familiar with the process of developing mediumship. Those who wish to become the mediums, seek the company of other friends who have the same desire. They form themselves into a circle which is known as the *developing circle*. They are told by other mediums, or by their spirit-guides, to select a definite room where they should sit as often as possible at least once a week, but the sittings must be at the same hour and in the same evening of the week. They must begin each sitting promptly at the hour agreed upon, because the spirits are just as busy as we are here constantly discharging our duties and obligations.

So they must make previous appointments and come exactly at the appointed moment to help in the *developing process*. It requires at least five or six sittings to magnetize the atmosphere of the room, and when it is thoroughly magnetized, the *developing process* of mediumship will begin. The sittings must be held in absolute darkness. As a dark room is indispensable to a photographer who wishes to develop a negative, so it is absolutely necessary for one who wishes to be a medium. Here we should remember that mediumship is a negative condition of the mind and the body which can be easily brought about if the sitters do not think of anything, but remain passive and simply hold a receptive attitude as if waiting to get something. The darkness which cuts off physical vision, being the negative pole of light, will naturally help in quietening the sense activities and in bringing them into an absolutely negative state.

The soft sweet music is very helpful in the *developing process*, but the sitters themselves should not be the performers of music, because the very efforts to sing requires a positive will and an activity of the mind. Among the sitters those who are of the negative type, should alternate with those of the positive tendency. During this time, the sitters must not think of anything and must not ask any question, but surrender themselves to the will of their invisible controls, and calmly wait for the wonderful results of the *developing process*.

The best result of mediumship will come to those among the sitters who have been able to surrender absolutely their body, mind and will to the will of the spirit-controls. Gradually the spiritual intelligence will control the will, the volitionary powers, and the sensory organism of the medium. This control may be partial or complete. The partial control may be over a certain part of the brain, or any particular organ, or any nerve centre, or any limb or muscle of the body.

The partial control can be divided into two general classes: the one, conscious, and the other, unconscious. Each of them can again be subdivided into various other classes in accordance with the phenomena. There are many men and women throughout the country who have some of their mental functions partially under the control of some outside spiritual intelligences, from whom they occasionally receive messages in the form of certain impressions and of which they are not conscious, but they do not lose consciousness of their bodies, or of their surroundings. In this conscious impressional mediumship, one may speak or write about things which one does not know or understand. Some of these classes are known as the inspirational speakers and writers. But the other class includes those mediums who are not conscious of any outside spiritual control which partially influences their minds. They will speak and write not knowing under whose control they are speaking and writing.

There are some who partially become unconscious of their bodies and surroundings at the time of speaking or writing. Partial control of the muscles and the nerve centres leads to a variety of mediumship. Planchette writing, Ouija Board manipulating, automatic writing, clairvoyance and clairaudience are but some of the different phenomena of muscular and neurotic mediumship. When a spirit controls the muscles of the arms, the medium can move

heavy weights. When the optic nerves and the retina are controlled, the medium is able to see pictures or images which are presented to their consciousness by their spirit controls. Similarly, when the nervous organism of ear and the auditory nerves are controlled by the spirit, the mediums can hear such sounds which their controls desire them to hear. In the same manner, the partial control can be made over other senses like smell, taste, or touch. Some are conscious, while others are unconscious of this control.

This partial control generally leads to fuller and more complete control, if the sitters continue the *developing process*. Complete control over the mind and the body of the medium is manifested in trance mediumship. Its phenomena are varied and extremely attractive, because this kind of mediumship is of a mysterious character. The medium is generally thrown in a state of deep sleep which resembles the hypnotic sleep. Whatever happens in this state, the medium is unconscious of. The controlling agents have absolute domination over the physical instrument of the medium. The spirits can use the vocal organs of the medium, or any other organ at their will. The will and the volitional powers of the medium are thrown into absolute suspension. Through the body of the medium the spirits can speak or perform any phenomenon without producing any impression upon the conscious being of the medium. Just as a patient in a hypnotic sleep may talk or walk or eat or dance or do any other act, being under the perfect control of the will-power and the suggestion of the operator, but not remembering any of those acts or words after coming back to normal consciousness, so a trance medium does not remember what transpired during the state of trance.

There are many such trance mediums among the spiritualists in every country. This trance mediumship may gradually develop into what is called the 'materializing mediumship'. The medium goes into a state of profound trance. The spirit-controls who are experts in the art of materializing, understand the process. They can draw the vital and magnetic energies out of the medium's physical and mental organisms and combine them with the external non-composite elements and attenuated matter (*ectoplasm*)¹ and produce phenomena which can be perceived by the sitters.

Of course, there are many fraudulent materializations, which have been exposed again and again in America as also in Europe. But there are also genuine materializations, some of which I have seen with my own eyes and have carefully examined in every possible way which I could use under those circumstances.

Sir Arthur Conan Doyle writes in his article <u>The Absolute Proof</u>: "...the witnesses averred that certain people, whom they called 'materializing mediums', had the strange physical gift that they could put forth from their bodies a viscous, gelatinous substance which appeared to differ from every known form of matter, in that it could solidify and be used for material purposes, and yet could be reabsorbed, leaving absolutely no trace even upon the clothes which it had traversed in leaving the body.
This substance was actually touched by some enterprising investigators who reported that it was elastic and appeared to be sensitive, as though it was really an organic extrusion from the medium's

body." (Reference provided by Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.)

I have been called to come inside the cabinet of a seance where I felt at least twenty hands on my back, some pulling my collar, sash and some putting hands on my back all at the same time. Then one of the spirits spoke: 'Do you think that the medium has been doing all these?' It was absolutely dark in the cabinet, although there was a dim light shaded by a wooden box in a corner of the room. The same voice then said: 'Put your hands on the medium,' and pulling my hands placed them on the medium. And I felt the stiff limbs of the medium whose hands were tied across tightly with a thick cord seated on a rocking chair in an inclined position in a dead trance.

I have held the materialized hand of an American Indian spirit which melted away in my hand. I have also seen the genuine materialization of a friend of mine who was a native of Calcutta. Very few people understand the process of materialization ¹. There have been many instances in every country where spirits have materialized themselves without the help of any medium.

The vital and magnetic energies of the medium and also of the sitters give the foundation of all the phenomena that take place in a materializing seance. I have talked with the materializing mediums and have asked them how they felt after the seance was over. Invariably they have answered that as if their whole system was empty, as if there was neither life nor vitality left in them, and as if everything was taken out of their mind and body. They cannot think or show any mental activity in their waking state. Is it not the most pitiable condition?

Undoubtedly these trance mediums may be called martyrs. Through ignorance they sacrifice their vital energy and willpower upon the altar of the spiritualistic phenomena which ultimately wreck them physically, mentally and morally, and which stop the growth and evolution of their souls. There are other kinds of materializing trance like painting mediums, trumpet mediums and independent slate-writing mediums, etc. There is still another kind of trance control which was known in olden times as possession or obsession, but which is now recognized as a kind of insanity by the medical practitioners. All these and various other phenomena of mediumship are now admitted and are scientifically demonstrated facts. Various theories have been formulated to explain these phenomena ². Most of the theories outside of the spiritualistic theory however have proved to be insufficient.

The majority of people, who have experienced the phenomena manifested through the genuine mediums, cannot deny that the disembodied spirits can communicate with the living mortals, can materialize themselves under certain conditions, and can perform various other phenomena. Now the question arises whether it is beneficial for the mortals to develop

^{1.} See Note at end of this chapter.

^{2.} See Note at end of this chapter.

mediumship and become mediums and shall we encourage the spiritualists who develop mediumship. We have already seen that mediumship means a receptive or negative state of the mind and the body. If a person be positive, it will be extremely difficult for him or her to become a good medium. Therefore all persons under all circumstances cannot develop mediumship.

It is true that there are some who are born mediumistic, or naturally negative, and they can easily throw themselves under the control of any living or disembodied being. Mediumship does not signify any gift or special talent or power from higher spiritual intelligence. Those who think so are mistaken.

Strictly speaking, the word 'development' should not be used in connection with mediumship. Because mediumship is a subjective process of making the mind and the body passive and of surrendering the will and the volitional powers to some external influence which controls the organism of the medium, while 'development' means a gradual unfolding of the positive powers which are latent in the soul by the natural process of evolution. The latter is constructive, while the former is destructive.

A medium who appears to be inspired in a semi-trance or full trance condition, does not show any power of his or her own which may be called a gift or inspiration. It is not the power of the medium that makes him or her appear as inspired, but, on the contrary, the willpower and the intellectual faculties of the medium are suspended, controlled, and kept in abeyance by the controlling spirit who uses the mind and the organism which are passively surrendered to the will of the spirit. It is a gift of the medium of the spirit. Therefore it cannot be called development.

A medium who becomes absolutely negative or passive in mind and body, becomes subject to all surrounding influences of the earth-bound spirits who are constantly seeking opportunity to control and make some victims and thus through ignorance a medium opens a psychic field which is dominated by the will of these earth-bound spirits. Many of us have seen scores of spirits who manifest themselves in a single seance and how eager they seem to manifest! If that door is once opened, it will be difficult to prevent those foreign influences from tormenting and eating up the vital energy of the innocent and foolish medium. I know several cases of persons who were at one time mediumistic, but who now suffer terribly from foreign influences and find it hard to overcome them even after constant efforts. Therefore mediumship under no circumstances is a desirable state, nay, it is criminal to surrender one's own will and mind and body to the whims of some earth-bound spirits. Some of the mediums are tempted by the idea that they may develop the power of seeing or hearing at a distance, or things which will happen in future. But they forget that those who have become clairvoyant by the subjective process of mediumship, do not and cannot see or hear whatever they desire to see clairvoyantly or hear clairaudiently. They can see only those things which their controls wish them to see or hear. They are absolutely at the mercy of their controls, just as the hypnotic subjects are at the mercy of their operator's will and suggestion. It is a well-known fact that the mediums gradually lose their power of self-control. They become more and more nervous and this nervousness sometimes culminates into nervous prostration. Brain-diseases of various kinds, the loss of vital energy, the animal magnetism, the continuous insanity, and short life are the evil effects of mediumship.

A high state of mediumship means therefore a degenerated mental condition on the part of the medium. The mediums generally suffer from the loss of memory. They cannot concentrate their minds on one subject for any length of time. They cannot think or reason consecutively. They lose the strength of their will-power and show irritable disposition. They become vain and egoistic and extremely selfish. They become strong in animal passions and animal desires. Some of the mediums become immoral, dishonest and untruthful. Statistics have shown that 74 per cent of the professional mediums develop abnormal animal passions. Nearly 60 per cent become hysterical, 85 per cent suffer from nervous irritability, 58 per cent develop fraud and dishonesty, and 95 per cent show lack of moral discrimination and courage, while 70 per cent develop vanity and selfishness.

Such are some of the evil effects of the mediumistic development. Shall we now wonder why the seers of Truth in India so strongly object to one's becoming a medium? Shall we wonder why the Vedanta philosophy does not approve of spiritualistic mediumship? The Yogis in India never allow their students to go into the negative or passive condition. They do not deny that we can communicate with the earthbound spirits or departed ancestors, but they know that to become a medium is a destructive process, and not a constructive one. They have discovered a system called the Raja Yoga, in which they describe all these wonderful phenomena, which can be obtained scientifically without going into a negative state, or without surrendering the will and mind to any disembodied spirit.

A Yogi develops his power of clairvoyance and clairaudience by a positive method through the practice of concentration and meditation. He can see or hear anything at anytime and anywhere. When he attains to the superconscious state, all the bright and intelligent spirits come to serve him and obey his commands. He is not a slave of the discarnate spirits, but he is a master. A true Yogi is a medium of the supreme universal Spirit who is omnipotent and omniscient, while a spiritualistic medium is under the control of an earth-bound spirit who is ignorant and imperfect. No medium has ever gained spiritual wisdom, nor has he understood the higher laws which govern our souls through the communication of departed spirits, while a true Yogi, who has reached superconscious state, has attained perfect knowledge and reached God-consciousness. He is the ideal of nations. He is like Christ, Buddha and Ramakrishna. He attains to perfection even in this life, while a spiritualistic medium loses all self-control and sacrifices a great opportunity of unfolding the spiritual nature and remains in the darkness of ignorance, and after death joins with the controllers and enjoys or suffers, according to their thoughts and deeds. A true Yogi, on the other hand, having reached perfection in this life, transcends the realm of the departed spirits, goes beyond heaven, and attains to omniscience and everlasting bliss.

NOTE

By Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta

 B. V. Schrenck Notzing writes in his book <u>Phenomena of Materialization</u> (page. 282) -"The materialization process consists of two factors, one of which is the simple spontaneous secretion and formation of this material for the production of forms, images, and living organs.

...but whatever may be laws and forces governing materializations, the medium's psyche must be brought in as a determining, or at least, as a contributing factor."

2. Notzing again writes in <u>Phenomena of Materialization</u>, (page 13) - "The most important objective performances of the mediumship may be divided into two main groups:

(1) Telekinetic Phenomena: This class comprises every sort of action upon inanimate objects without contact, such as oscillations, the moving of tables (attraction and repulsion), the levitation of objects (raising and suspension), inflations and motions of a curtain, the mechanics of motion connected with the so-called 'apports,' and finally the generation of musical notes and noises at a distance (including raps and other auditory impressions). Also effects upon musical instruments, direct writing - in a word, all forms of action at a distance no matter whether in their case the manner of production by the mediumistic force was the same.

(2) **Teleplastic Phenomena:** This group includes the so-called materialization phenomena of the spiritists, i.e., the production of forms and materials of organic or even

inorganic matter, in accordance with definite conception and thought images of the medium, which may have their origin in the memory, or in the psychic under-currents of the medium, in the mentality of one of the witnesses, or (in the spiritistic sense) in forces and intelligences outside the medium."

CHAPTER XIV

THE AUTOMATIC SLATE-WRITING

In the year 1899, I was invited to lecture before the Spiritualistic Camp Meeting at Lily Dale near Chattaqua in the State of New York, U.S.A. I spoke on *The Religion of the Hindus* and on *Reincarnation*. The meeting was held in the auditorium the sides of which were open and the seats were occupied by those who were interested in spiritualism. I was the speaker on the anniversary day, when, according to the number of tickets sold at the gate, the attendance was calculated to be seven thousand who came to hear me. Among this vast audience there were mediums of all kinds present at my lecture. After hearing my lectures, many of the mediums said that their spirit-guides taught the same truth which I was teaching, and they extended their courtesy to me by inviting me to their seances.

On the 4th of August, 1899, I attended a seance, where I saw automatic typewriting on a typewriter. Everybody gave the names of their departed friends, who might communicate with them. I also gave the name of my departed *gurubhai*, Jogen. In reply I received the name 'Jogen' written with a blue pencil. This aroused my curiosity and I wanted to find out who wrote it.

Next morning, on August 5th at 10 o'clock, I had the invitation to pay a visit to the famous independent slate-writing medium Mr. Keeler. After a few minutes I went in the sitting room and sat near the window in front of Mr. Keeler on a rocking chair. The sunlight was coming through the window. In the space between us was a small square table, covered with a carpet-like cloth. Mr. Keeler brought out two slates both sides of which I sponged with my own hands. Then he wiped them with his handkerchief. Then he asked me to write some questions addressing the spirit with whom I wished to communicate.

I asked him whether I could write my questions in the native tongue of my friend. He replied: 'Yes, you can do so'. Then I wrote in Bengali on a slip of paper, folded it, and put it on the top of those two slates, between which Mr. Keeler had already placed a small bit of a slatepencil about one half of an inch long. He put his handkerchief loosely around the slates. I held two corners of the slates with both hands, and the medium held the other two corners with his hands. This way the slates were raised above the table in the air between our hands. We sat for a few minutes, and chatted a little, for he said that conversation did not interfere with the writing at all. Mr. Keeler then said: 'I do not know whether your friend will come or not, but I shall do my best'. After a few minutes I asked him whether it was necessary to put my name on the paper. He replied: 'Yes'. He then asked me whether I wrote the name of my friend in English or not. I answered in the negative. He replied: 'Perhaps my spirit guide will not be able to call whom you want, as he cannot read your language.' Hearing this I wrote the following on another slip of paper in English:

'Jogen, are you here? Answer my questions written in Bengali.'

and signed my name—Swami Abhedananda. Then I folded this slip of paper and placed it on the top of the slates. Holding the slates again between our hands we talked on various subjects. Mr. Keeler asked me whether my departed friend had ever communicated before. I replied: 'Last evening at Mr. Campbell's seance I asked my friend some questions, but in reply I received a piece of paper on which his name 'Jogen' was written with blue pencil and nothing else. That is all.'

Then within a few minutes Mr. Keeler put the slates on the table and wrote with a pencil 'Jogen is here' on one corner of the top slate. He asked me to read it. I read it, and said that the name was correct. Again he held two corners of the double slate with both hands and asked me to hold the other two corners, as stated above. The slates were nearly six inches above the table suspended in the air between our hands, as we sat on either sides of the table with arms stretched. Then I heard the scratching noise of the moving pencil coming from inside of the slates. Mr. Keeler said: 'Do you hear the noise of the pencil?' I said: 'Yes.' It was over in about two seconds. I felt an electric shock in my arms while the pencil was moving. Mr. Keeler said that he also felt a gentle shock. We opened the slates and found the following words written in legible handwriting:

'I find no one here who can answer the questions of this gentleman.'

Signed G.C. Then I asked Mr. Keeler who this G.C. was and he replied: 'G.C. is my spirit guide. His full name is George Cristi. Then Mr. Keeler said: 'Why, your friend is here, he must write'. He wiped the slates, and fixed them again as before. He held the slip of paper with questions in his own hands for a few seconds, and asked me to do the same. I did so. Then we held the slates again as before.

Again I felt a gentle electric shock in my arms after a few minutes, and heard the scratching noise of the pencil, coming from inside of the double slates. The noise stopped in a few seconds, and the result was that the slate-writing was in four different languages: Sanskrit, Greek, English and Bengali. Seeing the writing Mr. Keeler was very much surprised, for he

could not read or write Sanskrit, Greek and Bengali. Here I must mention that at Lily Dale there was not a single person outside myself who could read or write Sanskrit and Bengali. I was also surprised to see that the handwriting in Bengali resembled the handwriting of my friend 'Jogen' (Swami Yogananda), when he was in his earthly body.

I thanked Mr. Keeler for this extraordinary phenomenon, which I could not explain, and begged of him to give me those slates, as I wanted to find out how it was done by showing the slate-writing to other mediums or spiritualists. Mr. Keeler said that he never had such a slate-writing before. I took the slates and bade him good-bye. Thus ended the seance.

Let me mention here that neither my friend nor myself knew Greek. However, in another seance, I was told by the spirit that my friend brought with him the spirit of a Greek philosopher who wrote the Greek verse. At first I did not believe in the truth of this statement, but when I showed those lines to the Professor of Greek at Columbia University in New York, he said that this verse was a familiar gem of Plato, that every word was correctly written. He then translated the literal meaning of the verse.

In another seance, when I wanted to see Jogen materialized, he replied that he did not like it. But I was surprised to see the spirit of Babu Balaram Basu of 57, Ramkanta Bose Street, Calcutta, fully materialized in the seance of Mrs. Moss at Lily Dale in the state of New York. He wore his familiar white turban on his head, as he used to wear it while in his mortal body. But now it was illuminated as it were with tiny electric bulbs all around the folds of his headdress. My eyes were dazzled to look at this brilliant figure with flowing beard and majestic appearance. He did not speak but answered my questions by nodding his turbaned head. He put his right hand on my head and silently blessed me. At that time I could see the medium Mrs. Moss (who was very stout) sitting unconscious in dead trance on a rocking chair. After blessing me, the whole materialized figure of Balaram Basu melted away in a mist-like white substance (ectoplasm) and disappeared.¹

I wondered why he did not speak and on questioning I received the answer that he did not speak, because he could not speak before he passed out of his earthly life. This statement corroborated with the fact that before he died Balaram Basu had suffered from double pneumonia and could not speak for over a week.

In another seance I heard Jogen's voice in Bengali when he spoke to me through a tin trumpet. He said to me: 'Do you like this country (America)?' To which I replied: 'Yes.' Then he said: 'I do not like this place; I am going to India to see our Holy Mother'.

We have also heard from the Swami that he saw the Holy Mother Sarada Devi, Swami Vivekananda, Swami Adbhutananda (Latu Maharaj), the Poet Girish Chandra Ghose and Sister Nivedita in materialized bodies just after the moments of their passing away. In every case, immediately after those psychic visions were over, the Swami received cablegrams from India bearing the sad news of their passing away. - Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

Here I must mention that while on earth Jogen served our Holy Mother, the consort of Bhagavan Sri Ramakrishna, with his whole heart and soul. I had also seen in America portrait-painting, painted by the invisible hand of a discarnate spirit done in my presence.

CHAPTER XV

WHAT IS THERE BEYOND THE GRAVE

It has been discussed already what is there beyond the grave is the question that often rises in our minds and we like to know what will happen to us after we pass out of the body at the time of death. When we read different scriptures of the world, we find that the same question was discussed and various answers were received, either through their intellect, through their conception of the world or through revelations. Among the answers which have been handed down to us from time immemorial, we find that in the Old Testament, when this question arose in the mind of Job, he answered in a negative form. He longed for death, thinking that it would end his mental agony. In Psalms we read:

'Wilt thou shew wonders to the dead? Shall the dead arise and praise thee? ¹

Again we read:

In death there is no remembrance of thee: in the grave who shall give thee thanks?²

'His breath goeth forth, he returneth to this earth; in that very day his thoughts perish.³

'The dead praise not the Lord, neither any that go down into silence.⁴

Solomon spoke boldly as:

'All things come alike to all: there is one event to the righteous, and to the wicked; to the good and to the clean, and to the unclean: ...as is the good, so is the sinner ⁵. Go thy way, eat thy bread with joy and drink thy wine with a merry heart; ...Live joyfully with the wife for there is no work, nor device, nor knowledge, nor wisdom in the grave, whither thou goest ⁶. The dead know not anything, neither have they any more reward; for the memory of them is forgotten ⁷.'

Furthermore we read:

'For that which befalleth the sons of men befalleth beasts; even one thing befalleth them: as the one dieth, so dieth the other; yea, they have all one breath; so that a man hath no preeminence above a beast.' 'All go unto place; all are of the dust, and all turn to dust again.'

^{1.} King James Bible: Psalm 88, Verse 10.

^{2.} King James Bible: Psalm 6, Verse 5.

^{3.} King James Bible: Psalm 146, Verse 4.

^{4.} King James Bible: Psalm 115, Verse 17.

^{5.} King James Bible: Ecclesiastes, Ch. 9, Verse 2.

^{6.} King James Bible: Ecclesiastes, Ch. 9, Verse 7, 9, 10.

^{7.} King James Bible: Ecclesiastes, Ch. 9, Verse 5.

⁶Who knoweth the spirit of man that goeth upward and the spirit of the beast that goeth downward to the earth.¹

There are many such passages that create a great deal of confusion in our minds. Which of these answers is true: whether after entering into the grave we continue to live, or is it true that we perish in the grave?

It has already been discussed that many Christians believe that Jesus the Christ brought eternal life into light. Of course, he did bring eternal life into light among the Jewish tribes who did not believe in the life after death, or, in the truth, that life continues even after we enter into the grave. The Jews from the ancient times down to the time of the Babylonian Captivity did not believe in the existence of a soul which could live separately from the material body. They had an idea that the breath of life came from Jehovah, and at the time of death the same breath of life went back to Jehovah. What happens to the beasts, happens also to the saints and sinners alike. Those passages which I have quoted referred to that state of belief, that state of mind which existed at that time.

But during the Babylonian Captivity, which lasted from 586 to 536 B.C., the Jews came in touch with a highly civilized nation, the Zoroastrians or the Parsees from Persia who believed in the resurrection after death. They believed in a heaven and a hell, in the angels and the arch-angels, and in the last Day of Judgment. All these ideas were unknown to the Jews of ancient times. But some of the Jews accepted that belief, and others denied it. Those among the Jews who accepted that belief in resurrection, in angels, in arch-angels, were known as Pharisees. The very word 'Pharisee' is a Hebraic form of the word 'Parsee.' The Pharisees who lived in Persia were the followers of Zoroastrianism. But the others were orthodox Jews, who did not accept these new ideas. They considered those ideas as heretical, and they were known as Sadducees. So the Sadducees were the orthodox Jews who did not believe in resurrection.

Even in the New Testament, we find mention of a Sadducee who came and questioned whether there was such a thing as resurrection. But the idea of resurrection that we find among the ancient Zoroastrians is different from the conception of the resurrection of the body that has been accepted by the Christians. The resurrection of the physical body was not meant by the resurrection when the ancient Zoroastrians believed in that conception.

They believed in the resurrection of the spiritual body which continues to live after the gross physical body is destroyed. After the third day, according to them, the body is laid in the grave and on the morning of the fourth day, all souls rise and this is the spiritual rise of the

1. King James Bible: Ecclesiastes, Ch. 3, Verses 19-21.

souls. And those who are righteous go into the Paradise, the Paradise of the good thought, the good word and the good deed. Those who are not righteous also rise, and they go to hell of the evil thought, the evil word and the evil deed. There they remain in darkness, until the time of the last Day of Judgment when Ahura Mazda, the Creator of good, would conquer Ahriman, the Creator of evil.

Ahriman was at first friendly to Ahura Mazda, but afterwards he rebelled against Ahura Mazda and came down to this earth to take revenge, because he was expelled from the heavens. And this Ahriman by the way became Satan in Christianity. The conception of Satan is what we find in the Zoroastrian scriptures, known as the Zend Avesta. So this Ahriman is the Lord of this world, just as Satan is described as the prince of this world in the fourth Gospel. So he is trying to destroy the good work of the Creator, Ahura Mazda and he has brought sin and death into this world. He is constantly fighting against the works of Ahura Mazda, the Creator of good, and his power will eventually be overcome and conquered by the Creator of good, and then the Lord will create a new world free from the influence or the power of Ahriman. That is the time when the last Day of Judgment will come.

They also believed in a Messiah. That Messiah will appear in the heavens, in the clouds. His name is Saoshyant and he will help those righteous souls to enter into Paradise, and enjoy eternal celestial pleasures. But those who are in the darkness of ignorance will also be forgiven for their sins and will be allowed to enter into the celestial regions. That was the original belief among the Zoroastrians.

Now comparing the Christian belief with that of the Zoroastrians, we find how similar the Christian belief is to this old Zoroastrian belief of resurrection, the last Day of Judgment and going into heaven. All these conception existed in Persia long before the time of Christ and it was noticed and accepted by the Pharisees during that period of Captivity, which lasted from 586 to 536 B.C. So their conception of resurrection was not absolutely dependent upon the resurrection of the body of Christ. These are all historical facts.

Then how can we admit that Christ brought the conception of eternal life into light in its literal sense, when we know that conception of eternal life existed not only among the Zoroastrians, but also among the Egyptians, Chaldeans, Babylonians, Chinese, Hindus, and all other ancient nations like the Romans, Greeks and the Scandinavians. They all had a belief in an eternal life. As early as 12000 B.C. we find the records among the Egyptians. The Egyptian writers during the period from 12000 to 8000 B.C. recorded that there was a belief in the resurrection of the gross physical body among the ancient Egyptians and they also believed that the soul of the righteous would go into the celestial regions and enjoy all

the pleasures that are to be found in those regions. They would have physical forms almost like the physical form we have on earth and that crude idea of resurrection of the gross physical body was afterwards given up when they came to understand the subtle powers and the subtle forces of nature and when they realized that each human body has its double which is made up of finer elements of matter. When their belief became strong in that double which had exactly the same form as the gross physical body had, they gave up the idea of the resurrection of the gross physical body. The writers among old Egyptians who lived in the 5th dynasty, that is, about 3400 years before Christ, emphatically declared 'the heaven hath thy soul and the earth hath thy body'. The soul belongs to the heaven and the body belongs to the earth.

Since that day there arose the idea of preserving the body, because they had another belief that this double which is similar in shape and form with the gross physical body, continues to remain intact so long as the gross physical body is preserved intact, and that idea gave rise to the thought of mummifying the physical body. That was at the foundation of that practice and the belief that if any arm or any limb of the physical body was mutilated, then that particular part or limb of the double would also be mutilated. For that reason they tried to keep the whole body intact by that peculiar process of mummifying.

They had also this belief that the souls of the righteous would go into heaven, and would live with the gods and eat and drink with the gods. They would have their physical body, although consisting of finer particles of matter like the etherial body, still those bodies were physical and they needed food and drink. For that reason, some of the friends and relatives of the departed ones used to keep food and drink in the grave. That practice was continued for some time. Some of them went so far as to put amulets and charms in the graves, because they had the belief that the departed friends and relatives needed those charms to counteract the evil influences. It was also written that these souls of the righteous ones would go into heavens and walk in the fields of peace, wearing the celestial apparel of white linen and white sandals. There are canals where they bathe in pleasure. The deepest of pleasures that we have on this earth also exist in the Egyptian heaven.

Then when we read the writings of the Babylonians and the Chaldeans, we find that the Chaldeans also had a belief in resurrection of the corpse and for that reason, they embalmed the body and buried it in the grave underground in order to preserve them. That custom has been handed down to the Christians who bury the dead following the same custom of the ancient Chaldeans and the Babylonians. That shows that among the Chaldeans and the Babylonians there was a belief in eternal life. And the ideas that we have

today, we did not get from the time of Christ, but they existed centuries before the advent of the illustrious Son of Man.

If we read the Greek and the Roman histories, there we find that the Greeks had a belief in the Elysian Fields that the souls of the righteous would go into the Elysian Fields and there take up the occupations of their life on earth. They would meet their friends, the husband would meet the wife, the parents would meet their children, and they would continue to live there and enjoy all the blessings of life.

The Scandinavians had a belief in Valhalla. They were warriors and fighters, and they carried on their fight in the heavens in the presence of Odin. There the brave soldiers who had fallen in the battlefield would go and fight with their enemies and they would get hurt and wounded; but by the miraculous powers of Odin their wounds would be healed, and they would take their arms again and fight. After fighting in the fields, they would hunt a wild boar and kill it and bring it and roast it and have a great banquet and feast. And this process will continue every day throughout eternity. Now remember that eternity does not mean a thousand years, ten thousand years, a million years, or trillions of years, but it means time without end.

But there are other believers like the American Indians. They have the happy hunting grounds in the heavens. Then we find among the Mohammedans that there is another conception of heaven. They say that the souls of the righteous who follow the commandments of Allah, would go to their Mohammedan heaven where there is plenty of shade, the rivers of pure water running, the rivers of milk, wine, and honey, all running in heavens. And there are maidens (*houris*) who pour wine into the goblets of the pious ones, and the pious ones drink and enjoy the company of those maidens. They have trees, under which they rest and enjoy the taste of the delicious fruits which those trees bear. You know that the Arabs lived in a desert, where there was a great need of water and shade. The Arab people wanted water, and that was their idea of heaven with plenty of shade, delicious fruits, and all the enjoyments that they could imagine on this earth they projected and made a heaven that contained all such delightful things. It is a kind of heaven which is damp and wet and full of water. But I come from a country where the annual rainfall is five hundred forty inches. I would not care to go to a wet heaven.

So, from these descriptions we learn that each nation and each tribe project their highest ideals of heaven and create one like a dreamland and the conception of heaven is the place where we can enjoy all the pleasures without having any break or sorrow or separation. That

is, the souls of each nation and each tribe continue to enjoy these pleasures throughout eternity. Such is their belief.

Some people believe that their occupation in heaven will be singing and playing upon the harp. They will sing the eternal music and will be listening to music. There is a verse in a hymn which was sung at one time in the orthodox churches describing the pleasures in heaven: "Where congregations ne'er break up, and Sabbaths never end". Of course, such a heaven will exist for those who believe in such an ideal. There would be a place or a realm where those souls who believe and have the same faith in the Lord, will congregate and will sing the praise of their Saviour, and the Saviour might be Jesus the Christ, or Buddha, or a Prophet, or some other Saviour as among the Hindus. They will go and gather around their ideal, just as satellites whirl around a planet. So these faithful believers will be held together by their faith to the centre of their ideal which is the Saviour, and he may be Christ or Buddha or any other incarnation of Divinity. So that would be the heaven, the ideal place where the great righteous saints will go.

But these beliefs that have been handed down to us do not convince us and do not make us feel sure that after the grave we are going into heaven or to eternal perdition. We want to know more about it, and we want more proofs. Now the spiritual seance will tell you that the souls, after passing through the grave, enter into various conditions and become the angels. It is believed that the angels know everything and they can help humanity, their friends and relatives. But that is a question, whether they can help us in any way. Many people believe that they can, and others deny it. But they do not deny the existence of the souls after death. They believe in the existence of the discarnate souls, but whether they can help us in any way through communications is another point, and that point should be understood.

But who are the departed ones who communicate with us and who can help us? The popular belief is that no matter how a man lived his life on this earth, but as soon as he passes through the gates of the grave, he will enter into a realm of activity and will become conscious of everything, will know all the laws, and become perfect; and they have the power to help mankind, by giving messages in various other ways. But those who believe in this kind of ideal do not understand that our life in future, or after death, will be the continuation of this life. Death is not an enemy of this life, as it has been popularly understood in the orthodox Christianity. Because the orthodox Christianity has made death a terrible enemy of life, and they believe that as soon as one has entered into the realm of death, his life is stereotyped and he is doomed either to enjoy all the pleasures, or to go to eternal perdition and suffer for ever. Therefore death is not such an enemy of life, but is only a state.

Now we can easily understand that it is a stage or passage through which we can go somewhere else if we study the condition of a dying man. Now what happens to a man who is dying? We find that his body and senses are becoming weak. The sensations are getting dim. The physical body does not move. But his psychical powers are becoming keener and stronger. Some of them would develop perhaps the power of clairvoyance and clairaudience. They would see things at a distance. They would hear sounds from a distance. Their keen psychic senses would be developed, and all the powers that are latent now in our subconscious plane, will rise in the conscious plane. Memory will become then stronger. There have been cases where the dying persons went to a distance in the form of an apparition and gave a message, asking the relative to take care of their orphan children or continue to do certain things which they have left unfulfilled and unfinished. Such cases have been recorded. In Europe, only a few years ago these statistics were kept, giving all the particulars of the time, the hour with proper verifications. You will also find in the records and the annals of the Psychical Research Society that have kept such records.

Now what do these records prove? The records prove that there is a power in us which is latent at present perhaps, but at the time of death that power becomes stronger and acute. It has already been discussed before that the dying persons can communicate with their friends and relatives who have passed out long before their death and who are living in the other world. They can not only communicate with them, but also can communicate with those who are on this earth ¹.

Then after their death they pass through a state; that is, the souls contract their powers that are scattered in the waking state, just as we do when we go to sleep. Our central life, the source of intelligence, centralized in one point, withdraws all the powers that are scattered all over the body, the sense powers, and all these powers are concentrated in that centre, which is like a nucleus. This nucleus holds those powers at the time of sleep, and at the time of death the same thing happens². It is only a deeper sleep than our ordinary sleep. At the time of death the soul contracts and becomes concentrated into that central nucleus where the sense powers, the thought powers, the reasoning faculties, the memory and all other powers are held together by that life-force which is an inherent property of the individual soul. By that individual soul I mean here the thinker, that which thinks, that which feels, that which perceives, and that which knows. Then that individual soul withdraws his powers just as you have noticed perhaps in the case of a turtle. Now when a turtle is frightened, what does it do? It withdraws its limbs within the shell.

^{1.} The departed souls can communicate with both the souls who have already passed and who are living in this phenomenal world.

^{2.} This nucleus is called the *prana* or the *mukhya-prana* (the life-force). "As the *prana* leaves the body it takes with it all the sense-powers, which are dependent upon it. The dying man carries with him the powers of seeing, hearing, smelling, tasting, touching, seizing, moving, speaking, excreting, generating and the power of thinking as well as self-consciousness. All the vital forces and subconscious activities of the organs are also withdrawn when prana leaves the body." - Swami Abhedananda in his book Self-knowledge. Also Kaushitaki Upanishad Chapter 3, Verse 4. (Footnote 1 & 2 by – Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.)

That very illustration had been given in the Bhagavad Gita (2-58):

'The soul withdraws its limbs inside its shell, just as a turtle when frightened would withdraw its limbs within its shell'.

You can imagine that the process takes place just before the time of death and then that entity or that thinker has a subtle form, which is called in Sanskrit the *sukshma-sharira*. It may be called the spiritual body or the astral body, and that spiritual or astral body goes out of the physical body at the time of death like a mist. It is an imperceptible mist. There are some psychists who have the power to see that mist, and by sensitive photographic plates they have taken the photographs of that mist although it is imperceptible to human eyes. The scientific experiments have also proved that the dead, if placed upon a very sensitive scale and weighed just before death and immediately after death, a decisive difference in the weight will be found. The body will lose about one-half or three quarters of an ounce. That three-quarters of an ounce is the weight of that mist that goes out of the body, and it has been photographed. There have been cases which have been recorded. I have mentioned before the case of a young girl who was standing beside her dying brother and she said: 'Mother, mother, look at the mist around the body.' But the mother could not see the mist around the body.

This mist is only the inner garment of the soul. It is not the soul. The soul is the centre or nucleus, and mist is the finer garment. It is the subtle body and that subtle body remains after death. Where does it go after death? Then it hovers around the body which is left behind for a long time. If the body is preserved in the grave, the attraction of the physical body which it loved so dearly and which he took care of for so many years with so much love, attracts the soul, or rather the soul clings to that body.

For that reason the Hindu belief is that it is better to destroy the body. The destruction of the gross body releases the soul from its attachment to the material body. But, if it is put into the grave, the soul has the desire to come and look at the body and even after it has passed out for a long time, it has that desire and curiosity to see what is happening in the grave. That is a very undesirable state, and it makes the soul unhappy. It is agony for the departed soul to see his beautiful body decaying and disintegrating. It is very undesirable that the souls should suffer even in the other world. For that reason, cremation has been considered as the best way of disposing of the body. The Hindus say that sooner it is destroyed, the quicker the soul forgets its existence which is better for the soul to forget the existence of the dead body which is left behind.

Then what happens to the soul? The soul, remaining clothed with the finer garment of the subtle body, enters the borderland where this earth ends and the new spirit-world begins. That is called the borderland. But really it is not a land and there is no line of demarcation in the external space like the horizon. It is the different state of vibration. It is another dimension. Now we are living in the third dimension where we have the knowledge of the length, breadth and height. But we do not know all these things after death. That is the fourth dimension. In that fourth dimension these things like the time and space-divisions do not exist, and yet it occupies the same space. You imagine that the earth is a hollow form, just as an outline, and it has no solid substance in it. There the souls exist, and they come out from that plane of that fourth dimension to our third dimension, and we can see and feel them.

Our soul's coming on the earth is like going down to the bottom of the ocean. But when you go there, what will you have to do? You will have to put on a diver's suit, which weighs tons. If you do not put it on, you cannot go down. If you have a finer body, you cannot come and remain on this plane. You will go into a different plane where the vibration will harmonize with your physical form. For that reason we say that the borderland is not like a place or a corridor leading from this room to other room behind the wall. It has been said that it is a different kind of vibration.

The same vibration may be continued, but we have not the power to perceive that vibration. If we have the finer senses, we shall be able to see them and perceive their existence. For instance, there may be music, a concert, and there are different notes which represent different vibrations of sound or vibration of air in a different scale with different keys. Now all might be combined into a beautiful harmony, but if you want to hear distinctly each sound or note which is on a different key, you must be conscious of it. Imagine that in this space there are wireless messages that are going on, but one does not interfere with the other, because each one has a different vibration. So each individual soul which passes out of the body, takes his own vibrations with him which are no other than the thoughts and the ideas of the soul. The thoughts and ideas of the soul are nothing but vibrations, and he is the centre, radiating all these vibrations constantly. He takes them with him, and, therefore, he does not interfere with any other centre of vibration. He carries them in his own realm, and there he remains for some time until he may go into a state of slumber which is a sleep state, because the exhaustion, after doing all his physical labour while living on this earth, is so great that the soul likes to rest and remains in that restful sleep. Nothing can disturb the soul when it enters into that sleep. Even God cannot disturb the sleeping soul. But those who have passed away in anxiety, sorrow and suffering, will have a disturbed sleep. They cannot go into a perfect rest. But, on account of attachment, they dream that their earthly friends and relatives weep and wail and grieve. They walk, as it were, in sleep like a somnambulist, a half sleeping and drowsy state. That is why you find many of their manifestations in seances are dreamy, half sleeping and idiotic. They are dragged down by the invocations of their friends, and they come and try in their dream state to help them, but they do not know what they are doing.

There are certain souls who do not know that they are dead. They are in a state of confusion. It requires some time for them to realize that they are dead. They remain some time earth bound i.e. if they have strong attachment for their friends and relatives whom they loved so much on earth, they hover around them. But it causes them great sorrow and suffering when their friends and relatives do not recognize their presence and do not treat them properly. So each soul will make his own environment and condition according to his thoughts and deeds.

So we understand that there is not a general law for everybody. Just as two individuals are not equally alike, so two souls will not be in the same state of vibration after death. After entering into that borderland, the souls will go into that slumber and remain there indefinitely. Some souls will remain longer in that sleep and stay of others will be shorter. Those that are strongly attached to immoral and animal desires, will not have a long sleep, because they will wake up by their desires which will sprout in that state. Some will remain earth-bound, and they will remain in that state, and gratify their earthly desires, and will perhaps pick out some mediums through whom they can gratify their desires of drinking and immorality, and this is why you find a great many mediums have turned out to be drunken and immoral.

It is not the fault of the mediums, but it is the fault of the spirit who is trying to gratify his immoral tendencies and desires through the sense organs of the medium. And, for that reason, it is very dangerous to allow these spirits to come and take possession of our physical forms and organs. There is one law about it and that law should be understood very clearly. We have taken this body as the result of our thoughts and deeds which we had in the past; we have manufactured this body to rise higher to gain more experience for ourselves, not for anybody else.

Suppose we allow other spirits to come and manifest through us, but what do we gain by it? Really we gain nothing by it. We have sacrificed our opportunity, and that is our loss. We may say that we are helping humanity, but we are not doing so. We have been put into a hypnotic sleep and we are unconscious. Our organs have been used by somebody else, or by some other force, and this other force is gaining experience through us and we are

depriving us of our own opportunity for the good of that spirit who is manifesting through us. That consideration has been overlooked by great many of those who are interested in the spirit-manifestations and in communications with the departed ones.

The Hindus are the people who from time immemorial have studied the spiritual side and have recorded the result and have left their knowledge which has been handed down to us through generations. There is no other nation in the world which has so perfect a knowledge in these lines, as we have in India. For that reason, you will notice that we do not allow our friends to go into that trance or mediumistic condition, because there is a great danger in it. If you once open your psychic door, you cannot close it very easily. There are some spirits who are fraudulent and can impersonate as somebody else and fool the people. Such cases have been recorded. Someone will appear as a great soul, but, in reality, he is not great. How are you going to distinguish them? Of course, not by their apparent wise counsels which they can borrow from the subconscious mind of anybody. That discrimination should be made and we must realize the difference between the higher and the lower spirits, and also that whenever we allow them to come to us for any message, we are dragging them to the earth plane. It is not helpful to them. For that reason, the Hindus believe that it is better in every way to leave these spirits alone, and if they have gone into slumber, let them rest there, and send them the good thoughts, because only good thoughts will be useful and beneficial to them.

The funeral ceremonies among the Hindus are different from those of the Christians. The difference lies in these that the services for the departed ones are performed, the good acts and the charitable works are done in their name, with the thought that the result of these works will go to them. That will release them from their earth-bound condition. We can help the spirits more than they can help us, because they are nearer to our thought realm ¹. If we send them a good thought, we are helping them, because thought is the product of the mind, and the departed souls remain in the mental world, and so thought can easily reach them. So, if we do any good act in their name and if we concentrate our mind with the thought that the result of this good work will go to them to help them in their onward progress, we are doing good to them.

They can give us sometimes certain messages. Some of them who are advanced and have understood the law of cause and effect and are conscious of the causes, can trace the results. For instance, you have a certain thought in your mind and that is the seed of a future result which is bound to come to you. If anyone can read that thought that you have in a seed form just now, he can tell what will happen in the future. The psychometrists can do that, rolling in that idea and producing an effect like the blossoming of a flower. It is all there

1. See Note 1 in Appendix.

in the mind. It is a vibratory state of the mind. That vibratory state can be realized by those who are advanced in the psychic planes and develop the psychic powers. So we cannot make one rule for everybody.

Some will sleep in that slumber for a long time, and those souls who are spiritually advanced and highly developed will throw off these subtle forms which are like the sheaths (*kosha*) of the soul. These are the limitations. These are also the animal desires and tendencies, jealousy and love for material things. All those are the limitations of the soul. The soul, after sleeping for some time realizing that it is under limitations, discards them. These discarded shells are sometimes called the astral shells, and these astral shells float around. There is no soul in them. They are like thought forms, and these thought-forms might be reanimated by the thought of the medium or of any individual. So you may see some ghosts or elementals. They are all like them.

There are other elementals of lower animal spirits i.e. they have not yet become human beings. They are rising in the process of evolution. These might come and might be perceived after waking from the soul-slumber, and then these souls enter into the astral plane. They might have a very peaceful rest, and then they go into those planes where they can realize the fulfilment of their desires. Those are the planes which we call the heavens where we have fulfilment of our desires, thoughts and deeds. If we have performed good deeds, those impressions are left there and those impressions will gradually sprout and produce the result by the law of cause and sequence. Those results are reaped by the individuals in those different realms which are called the heavens (*svargas*), and those are the ideals of different nations.

So you see that those who have a desire to enjoy pleasures like the pleasures in a particular heaven where there is plenty to eat and drink, and shade and a cool place, will dream of such a state. Their ideals will be materialized, as it were. The realm of thought-form is like the realm where their thought is realized as truth, just as in a dream. When you dream a dream, you do not know that it is a dream, but you know that it is real and it is a thought-form that you are perceiving. You may look at it, you may touch it, you may hear the sound, but they are all in the realm of thoughts. So there are no real scenes or trees or different roads and canals except in the thought-forms. They are like a dreamland, and there the soul remains and enjoys those pleasures, because it wanted them. It is the plane for fulfilment of thoughts and desires. After a while when those desires are fulfilled, the souls get tired of that condition. Then the soul wants change and it gets out of those conditions. It wants something different. There are many souls in the other realm who are tired or exhausted. They want a more tangible and sensible or perceptible realization of their ideals and

thoughts. So they like to go to different planes or realms. Some of them would like to come down on this earth to enjoy more pleasures and develop more powers, and so they are born and reincarnated. Some of them have the power to choose their parents. Some will go to sleep again.

The sleep after death is like the sleep before birth. Then they have a second sleep. Before they come to this plane, they go into that sleep and gravitate towards the proper environment. If I have a strong desire to be the best artist and if I do not succeed or pass away before I fulfil my desire, that desire will remain in me even in that soul-slumber. It will sprout again. Perhaps I will be drawn into the heaven of the artists where I would have communication and communion with the other artists who are living there and exchange our thoughts perhaps. Then I will try to manifest that desire again once more on this plane, and I will gravitate under the proper conditions and environments where I will have the physical body which will be the instrument through which I would realize my ideal. That is the process that takes place.

So there is no eternal heaven or eternal place of any punishment. If there be any punishment at all, it is like the punishment as we have on the earth plane. That punishment you will get. When you desire a thing and cannot get it, that is hell. That state you may go through on account of strong attachment. A miser who has formed the habit of handling dollars and cents enjoys it and loves it. Now, if he goes, into that plane or astral plane, he will carry that desire with him. But he will have no dollars and cents to handle and he will be hankering after that and that will be his punishment. So it is very difficult for us to know exactly what would be the hell or that state of punishment for any individual who has committed something wrong. It is all that we draw towards ourselves by our thoughts and deeds. These dreams might be real for the time being, as all dreams are true, so long as we are dreaming. But, in reality, when compared with the eternal time, or when compared with the highest standard, they last only for a short period. So no heaven is eternal, and no hell is eternal. For that reason, it is said in the Bhagavad Gita (8.16):

'O Arjuna, none of these heavens from the highest heaven of the Creator downward is permanent. The inhabitants thereof are sure to return from them sooner or later'.

They are ephemeral. They do not last throughout eternity in one state. So this is a progress that the soul makes after entering into the grave. Either he will go to heaven, or suffer according to the law of justice. The law of justice is very strict. There is no such thing as forgiveness, but it is the justice that balances compensation. The well-balanced state of the law of cause and effect is inexorable. 'Whatsoever thou sowest thou shalt reap.' That is as

strong and as real as you are sitting here now. You may deny it, but you cannot get out of it. You may deny through ignorance the force of gravity, but at every step you cannot move, and cannot even exist on the surface of the earth, if it were not for the force of gravity. A child does not know whether there is such a thing as gravity, and his ignorance does not affect the law in any way. Our childish denial does not make a thing non-existent, and it simply shows that we do not know better. So this law of cause and sequence, called the law of karma, does not wait for widow's tears, or orphan's cries. What we have sown, we must reap either on this plane, or in some other realm. So after death we may enjoy the pleasures of our thoughts and deeds in the heavenly regions too.

The occupations may be according to the belief that we will continue to do certain things. It is not true however that all the types of our earthly occupations will be reproduced there. That is not possible. If it were so, then life would not be worth-living. Suppose a street-cleaner has to clean the streets of heaven throughout eternity, a cook or a seamstress will have to continue to do the same work throughout eternity; so what kind of heaven would that be? It would be the opposite place, according to our conception. But there are works and activities of the physical body on the unconscious plane which help the souls who are suffering in the darkness, and give a certain light or knowledge, but even that cannot be done without violating a law, because no one can give us anything unless we deserve it.

Those souls which deserve any help will receive the help. For that reason the widely known common maxim, 'heaven helps those that help themselves', is absolutely true. Because those who help themselves, have made themselves ready for receiving the help from the universe and if we have not made ourselves ready to receive the help from the universe, the universe does not help us. It depends entirely upon our own worth and attitude. And, for that reason, the great teachers have always told us to be prepared to receive help and to live on this earth a life that will bring to us peace and happiness and that will never make us repent even for a second, because we must feel the responsibility that we have upon our shoulders.

By coming on this earth and living this earthy life, we have taken the whole burden of the responsibility of our future as well as of whatever we are going to do on this earth, because our character and future are made or created by ourselves. There is no other soul that will mould our future for us, but we are little creators, and as the creators on a diminutive scale we are making our future, creating our destiny, and building up our character by our thoughts and deeds. And, therefore, we must do it consciously and knowingly, and by understanding the laws that govern our lives, not only on the physical plane, but also on the mental, moral, intellectual, and spiritual planes.

If we understand those laws, then we are opening up vistas of our future progress. We have nothing to be sorry for, when we have nothing to repent. Our earthly life would be a series or a continuous chain of pleasure and happiness, if we know the real conditions and truths that underlie our beings. But these truths are hidden from us, because we have not become ready to know them. We are just playing on the surface, but the time is bound to come for each individual soul when there will be an awakening of a desire to know the real truth. No soul will be lost. Each soul will attain eventually to the highest knowledge or realization, and enter into that state where there is no birth, no death, and no change of any kind but the eternal being, the eternal bliss and the eternal knowledge. So we must not be afraid of death.

Death is nothing but a change. We may throw off this old body, because we may put on another new body, if we have such a desire. We also find in the Bhagavad Gita (2.13):

'As in our physical body, we survive the death of the baby body, and of the young body, so we live after throwing off the form of the physical body, as we throw off the old garments and put on new ones.'

So at the time of death we throw off the old physical body which has served its purpose, and put on a new and finer one. Therefore the wise ones will never be afraid of death, but always will remember that there is an eternal life for everybody, and no soul will be lost. Those who have attained to the highest spiritual realization will eventually come face to face with the Infinite, and attain to that peace and happiness which have been attained by Sri Krishna, Buddha, Christ, Ramakrishna and by all the other Saviours of the world. Really the attainment of the supreme knowledge is the goal of spiritualism, and it is the be-all and end-all of all human beings.

CHAPTER XVI

DISCUSSIONS THAT WE WERE PRIVILEGED TO HAVE WITH THE SWAMI

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS – SET 1

Q. In the realm after death, will the soul continue to evolve into a state of perfection, or is it necessary to gravitate back to the earth and reincarnate?

Ans. It depends upon the desire of the soul.

Q. If the soul can evolve without coming back, would it not be better not to come back?

Ans. They cannot get the same experience in the other realm, as they would get here in the physical form.

Q. Are there enough bodies for all souls that wish to gravitate back and become reincarnated?

Ans. Well, you have got hold of an idea that the bodies are waiting for the souls. That is not correct. The souls manufacture the bodies. The idea that you have expressed is the old belief in transmigration and that the bodies are made ready to receive the migrating souls, but that does not mean reincarnation. I have explained that in my lecture on *Transmigration*. The soul manufactures the body by obeying the physical laws of evolution.

Q. When the angel was cast out of heaven, did he incarnate?

Ans. Well, that is a mythological belief. By the angel from heaven, you mean him who became Satan. That is a mythological belief that the angel disobeyed the personal Creator. Then He expelled him, and so he fell on this earth. That is a crude kind of explanation, which was given by the primitive minds. There was no actual truth about it. They tried to explain good and evil in nature by that mythology. It was not an actual fact.

Q. You say the dead do not know that they are dead.

Ans. They do not know. It takes a long time for them to realize that they had passed out.

Q. What assurance have we that we are alive?

Ans. There is no proof. We may call ourselves dead.

Q. How are you going to stop the spirits that are drunk from making the mediums drunk?

Ans. The spirit who has been a drunkard on this earth has carried that desire with him, and he wants to drink. But he cannot find drinks there and he wants to hover around the brothels. So he takes possession of a medium or some friend or relative, and drives him to drink, so that he enjoys the flavour of it.

Q. How is the obsessed man going to stop it?

Ans. Well, you would have to dehypnotize him. The medium should be exorcised, that is, the obsession could be cured by a higher spirit of higher development. If you know somebody who has a familiar spirit of higher nature, that higher spirit will drive him out by command or by will-power, but the patient might not have that will-power; he requires freedom from another soul to be cured.

Q. Can a soul remain in one particular physical body indefinitely?

Ans. Yes, it can, if it has understood the laws and lived the right life.

Q. Why did the ancients take out heart and place there a scarab?

Ans. That was their belief. The scarab was the symbol of creation.

Q. You stated that if the body lay in the grave, the soul would suffer when it returns and sees that body. Would not the soul suffer more if the body were burnt?

Ans. It might do for a while, if they are conscious that their body is destroyed. It might shock them for a little, but after it is destroyed they would forget. It would be the easiest way to make them forget, because they cannot come and look at it. But if the body is preserved, then that attraction of the body will attract the soul down, and it may occur many times. So there is an advantage in cremation.

Q. What is the shortest time in years that a spirit soul would remain in dream or in an unconscious state?

Ans. Our time does not affect them. Our five thousand years might be five seconds to them.

Q. But how long would it be? Ten years?

Ans. Well, that I have already told you.

Q. The Hindus have a way that when somebody dies they put a jar of water and a towel, and they believe that the soul comes for them eight times. Where did that originate?

Ans. I never saw anything like that. There might be some superstitious belief, but we never saw anything like that, that the souls need food, that the souls of the departed ones require nourishment. Some people offer food once a year and our one year may be one day to them; so once a year they offer food in their name, but the poor people get the benefit.

Q. Do we know our friends there?

Ans. Yes, we do.

Q. What is the difference between reincarnation and transmigration?

Ans. Our religion teaches reincarnation, which is a little different from transmigration. Reincarnation is more scientific. It does not teach that we come back from the human plane to the animal bodies indiscriminately simply to gratify our whims.

Q. Do I understand that the soul divides itself into two parts?

Ans. No, it is what we call the subtle body. It is the body which the soul has manufactured already. It is there now in you and in me. It is not divided, only it takes shelter in the finer spiritual form, and it remains with it while it goes into that slumber and in that astral shell.

Q. What is this mist you were talking about?

Ans. That mist is only the finer elements like electrons going out of the body.

Q. Has it anything to do with the soul after death?

Ans. The soul is the centre which contains life, mind, and intelligence, and the mist is not that. Mist is only the particles of matter amassed together like a cloud or vapour.

Q. Is that the ego?

Ans. The ego is in the centre. It is not manifested but it in a causal state like a nucleus, like an atom.

Q. What becomes of the ego?

Ans. It is there; only it is then potential, unmanifested.

Q. Is the soul given a power over the physical body?

Ans. Yes, the healing power is in the soul.

CHAPTER XVII

WE HAVE GIVEN HERE FROM OUR MEMORY, SOME OF THE DISCUSSIONS THAT WE WERE PRIVILEGED TO HAVE WITH THE SWAMI

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS – SET 2

Q. Swamiji, what becomes of the souls immediately before and after death?

Ans. The soul immediately before death contracts and withdraws all sense-powers gradually. The physical senses grow dimmer and dimmer as a flickering candle-flame gradually approaches ultimate extinction; but the senses and powers grow keen and strong. The soul just before leaving the body lives in an unconscious state like slumber and in that state the astral or spiritual body passes out like a mist.

Q. Then is the condition of the souls beyond their grave awful indeed?

Ans. Yes. The earthbound spirits suffer much. They do not know that they are dead. In that slumber state the souls carry concentrated records of their entire lives. When the souls wake from sleep they enter into an astral plane. This astral plane is nothing but the projection of the souls' own ideas. Their dimensions are in vibrations. The disembodied souls find their ideas realized in that astral plane. They sleep, but their periods of sleeps vary.

Q. Do they not enter then into a lonely and foreign realm?

Ans. Yes. Just to make it clear, let us take an example. Suppose you are an inhabitant of a large and thickly populated city like Calcutta. There happens a terrible earthquake in a dead dark night resulting a total devastation of the whole city. The houses fall to pieces and the whole city appears like a vast desert enveloped with deep darkness. Then if you are allowed to move and walk freely with your eyes blind-fold, what will be your condition? Just imagine. Such is the wretched condition of the earthbound spirits after death.

Q. Is it the same condition with all the spirits?

Ans. No. Ordinary earthbound souls only suffer from it. The case of the virtuous souls is entirely different. They move easily and freely, and can see their ways with the light of their own knowledge and purity.

Q. Swamiji, may we ask you again where the souls really go after death?

Ans. They go where they already are. Where do you stay when you fall asleep? You then stay in the mind. After death the souls need not go to any other place. They continue to stay in the same mental plane just as we do in our state of sleep or dream (*svapna*). The souls then live in the mental plane or *manomaya jagat*. They move and do everything mentally in that state. Nothing of the material plane remains for them. The bodies in which they dwell at that time are subtle and are made of seventeen subtle elements. They are: five *pranas*, five *karmendriyas*, five *jnanendriyas*, the *manas* and the *buddhi*. The composite subtle body of seventeen elements is called by the Sankhya and other Hindu philosophies, *sukshma-sarira*.

Q. How do the prayers and good thoughts of the living become helpful to the souls departed?

Ans. I have already said that just after death souls cannot realize themselves as detached from their previous material bodies. They remain in a swoon and are unconscious immediately after death. In that, condition prayers of any kind by the well-wishers help the spirits a good deal. Good thoughts from the relatives and the nearest and dearest ones bring alleviating reaction in their mental planes. Thus they create a certain vibration in their stupefied condition of mind, restore their veiled consciousness, and thereby the souls come to know that really they are not in their material bodies. The weeping and wailing of their relatives afflict them with pain and thereby some are dragged down from their astral planes. Bot good prayers bring back their consciousness and then they try to cross the borderland. This borderland in vibration is like a narrow river of ether which can be compared to a neutral zone. It has been called by the Hindus the Baitarani, by the Parsis (Zoroastrians) Chinnat-bridge and Sirat by the Mohammedans.

Ordinary or earthbound spirits cannot cross the borderland easily. They generally go to a region where prevails permanent darkness. This dark astral plane has been described in the Upanishad as:

"Asurya nama te loka andhena tamasavritah; tamaste pretyabhigacchanti ye ke chatmahano janhha." - Isha Upanishad 1.3:

'There are the regions of permanent darkness; the light of the sun or other luminaries is never seen there. Those who have not realized their true Self or do not strive for Self-realization must go to that dark region after death.'

The sun, the moon and the stars cannot shine in the spirit-world as they belong to this material world of ours. There is no room for any earthly or material thing in that subtle world beyond death.

Q. Is then the condition of the earthbound spirits worse after death?

Ans. Yes. In the case of the earthbound souls desires are not fulfilled and so their sufferings become worse and worse. They dig their own graves. All desires for material enjoyment then reach the most acute form. The souls then suffer from the burning flames of those unfulfilled passions.

In fact, what you will sow you will reap. The desires remain in the form of impressions or *samskaras*. The death of the body cannot destroy the *samskaras*. After death they remain as seed-forms in the mind.

Q. Swamiji, what is meant by the double or astral body?

Ans. Double or astral body is nothing but an exact counterpart of the physical body. The astral body leaves or goes out of the physical body at the time of death, and when it leaves the latter, there 'remains still a slender thread or cord of astral or vapour-like substance. Finally it also melts away. The soul remains then in a state of coma resembling the condition of an unborn child in the mother's womb.

Q. Is it possible to communicate with the dead?

Ans. Certainly. Generally the half-awakened souls manifest themselves in spiritualistic circles through the channel of the medium. Some are dragged down from their peaceful sleep to answer our selfish calls and some themselves are eager enough to communicate. They appear in a dreamy state. Sometimes it has been found that, seeing the mediumistic channel open, they lose their self-control.

Q. Can the disembodied spirits take any material form?

Ans. Yes, they can. Astral shells or astral corpses of the departed spirits may be materialized temporarily by means of the vitality of the mediums in their unconscious state. They appear in shadowy forms, move and even speak sometimes. Men who have psychic

powers can see these shadowy forms of the spirits. Experiments have been made by the spiritualists many a time, proving that the psychical corpses can be aroused into apparent life by a strong mediumistic current.

Q. Do the departed souls incarnate again on earth?

Ans. Yes. Until and unless they are able to break the bonds of desire and transcend the cycles of birth and death, they are born again and again on earth. Sooner or later the departed souls feel a strong desire to manifest themselves again in new life. The seeds of their unsatisfied desires compel them to be born again on earth. So they select their fit parents, circumstances and surroundings before being born. They fall again into a state of soul-slumber and die on the astral plane as they did before on earth. By the same cyclic process of evolution and involution they are born in a state of partial slumber. They awake gradually from the dream-like states to the consciousness of the earth-plane.

Q. Is it not good to culture spiritualism for the knowledge of the world beyond death?

Ans. It is not good, I think, for those who really aspire to realize the supreme knowledge of the *Atman*. It is our aim of life not to acquire knowledge of things fleeting and unreal, but to reach the goal which is the absolute Truth and Blessedness.

Spirit-worlds may be true from the empirical point of view, but really they are nothing but the imageries of the human minds. Spirits are unborn and uncreated and are immortal in their nature. Birth and death, coming and passing are merely the appearance. Only through the veil of ignorance a man thinks himself to be dead or born. When his darkness of ignorance is dispelled by the self-effulgent radiance of the *Atman*, he realizes himself as the immortal Bliss. Spiritualism does not help us to transcend the cycles of death and birth; the knowledge of the Absolute alone can make us free from it.

APPENDIX

SWAMI ABHEDANANDA'S EXPERIENCES WITH SPIRITS

Note 1: By Swami Prajnanananda, Ramakrishna Vedanta Math, Calcutta.

This statement of Swami Abhedananda reminds us of two of the instances which we were privileged to hear from him. He said that when he was in America, he saw one evening a face of a discarnate spirit floating in the air before him. The face of the spirit looked pale marked with pain and agony.

The Swami asked the spirit: 'What ails you?'

The voice came. 'Help me. Help me. I am suffering. I have committed suicide.'

The Swami blessed him by saying: 'If you think my prayers and blessings will help you, you have my good wishes, I am praying for you. Peace be unto you.'

The Swami saw that the pale and gloomy face of the spirit lighted up, who then melted away smiling. The other instance was of a spirit of a sailor who was drowned in the sea. He too appeared before him like one groping in darkness. The Swami asked him: 'What's wrong with you?' The spirit replied that he did not know, he was drowned. He requested the Swami to help him. The Swami then prayed for him, and he melted away with his look bright and peaceful.

It will not be out of place to mention here again that Swami Abhedananda heard also the voice of his brother disciple Swami Adbhutananda (Latu Maharaj) immediately after his passing away in India. The Swami heard one day a heavy voice in the air: 'Kali Kali'. (Kali was Swami Abhedananda's pet name). He immediately looked around, but found no body. He asked who he was, and the voice came: 'I am Latu. I have come to see you.' The Swami apprehended the passing away of his beloved brother and it came to be true as he received the cablegram next day bearing the sad news of Swami Adbhutananda's demise.

The Swami also saw the materialized spirit of the Poet Girish Chandra Ghosh, who was spitting on all sides as he appeared. The explanation of that act of Girish Chandra was given by the Swami as: As we spit on a useless ephemeral thing, so the Poet being free from the bondage of his earthly body spat on the ephemeral worldly things, which bears no actual value or reality in comparison with the absolute existence.

Note 2: Extract from Swami Abhedananda's speech at the Anniversary meeting of the Calcutta Psychical Research Society, in the year 1925. (For the details of the full speech, please refer to Appendix A in the 'Life Beyond Death' Section of the <u>Complete</u> Works of Swami Abhedananda, Volume 4.)

The Swami in his speech first gave a brief account of the origin, growth and development of the spiritualistic movement in America and its gradual spread in other countries of the world. He said that during his long stay in America he came in contact with this movement and some of its leaders well-known in that Continent. Then he very charmingly described his novel experiences as an eye-witness of some famous spiritualistic seances. There he had the opportunity to receive messages from the spirits of many distinguished persons, such as Prof. William James of Harvard, Prof. Myers and others.

The Swami said many things about the various conditions of men after death. After death men have to go through various stages in spirit-life. The man who led here a vicious life must undergo pains and sufferings in a place where absolute darkness reigns in perpetuity. But the case of a man, pious and virtuous, is entirely different.

The Swami continued to describe his various experiences of spirit-communications. At one time he was present in a spiritualistic seance and a very striking event took place there.

A music-box, coated with phosphorus at its bottom, was placed on a table within a dark room. The room was kept for holding a spiritualistic seance. Its doors and windows were all tightly shut up. Hardly had the seance begun when the music-box was suddenly and visibly lifted up and gradually touched the ceiling. Then like a flying bird, it began to move along the four walls of that room with the full play of some particular musical tune. Once there was heard a high sound and the box went outside penetrating through the wall. From outside of the room it began to move in the same way and the flow of the music went on. Then after some fifteen minutes another high sound was heard and the music-box was found in the room. The same tune was still being played. The whole event took only about a quarter of an hour.

There happened an incident in another seance which was no less striking. As the Swami was listening there to the message of some spirit, he suddenly felt the touch of a number of hands all over his body. But he found that there were no such persons around him. He was a

little surprised when he heard the voices of some spirits addressing him: 'Do you think the medium is doing all these things?'

Then in that very seance there took place another event which was still more surprising. As the Swami was coming back from the dark screen to resume his seat, he was surprised to find that his chair was occupied by a lady. It was not at all a human being but the materialized body of some spirit. As soon as he came near her, the spirit got up and shook hands with him. He felt that her touch was as tangible and warm as that of a living human body. But in a moment the hand of the spirit, held by him, melted away.

The Swami said that it was possible for some spirits to appear in materialized form without the help of the mediums and they could directly communicate with all. He also said that he had heard how an independent voice in a seance, held in the house of Sir Alfred Turner, addressed him and others present there, with these words: 'Good evening, brother'.

But this power of materializing the body is not possessed by all spirits. Only the spirits advanced in psychic powers are able to do this. One thing should be made clear, that though the spirits may assume the materialized bodies, they are not conscious of their material state of existence. So they cannot retain such bodies of theirs for long.